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OR
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ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 0-50761

AngioDynamics, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 11-314646C
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

14 Plaza Drive Latham, New York 12110

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codé518) 795-1400

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgle Act). Yes[O] No
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Part |
Item 1. Business
(a) General Development of Business
Overview

We are a provider of innovative medical devicesduseminimally invasive, image-guided proceduresréat peripheral vascular
disease, or PVD, and local oncology therapy optfon#reating cancer, including radiofrequency #bla or RFA, systems, embolization
products for treating benign and malignant tumas surgical resection systems, including NanoKAiation Systems. We design, devel
manufacture and market a broad line of therapeutticdiagnostic devices that enable interventiohgsigians (interventional radiologists,
vascular surgeons, surgical oncologists and others@¢at PVD, tumors, and other non-coronary diessaUnlike several of our competitors
that focus on the treatment of coronary diseasedyelieve that we are the only company whose pyirffaanus is to offer a comprehensive
product line for the interventional treatment of Mtumors and other non-coronary diseases.

We have been in business since 1988. Our corpbeagquarters is located at 14 Plaza Drive, LatiNew; York 12110. Our phone
number is (518) 795-1400.

Available Information

Our website isvww.angiodynamics.com/Ve make available free-of-charge through our welmir annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reporté&orm 8-K and amendments to those reports filedioighed pursuant to Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendesh@s as reasonably practicable after we electadipifile or furnish such materials to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Intiadgiour website includes, among other thingsyteta of various committees of the
Board of Directors and our code of business condndtethics applicable to all employees, officerd directors. Copies of these documents
may be obtained free of charge from our websitey gtockholder also may obtain copies of these decus) free of charge, by sending a
request in writing to our investor relations firBWC Group, 60 East 42nd Street, Suite 936, New YN 10165. Information on our webs
or connected to our website is not incorporatedeigrence into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

History

AngioDynamics was founded in 1988 and we completadnitial public offering in 2004, raising netqmeeds of approximately $21.7
million at an offering price of $11.00 per share2D06 we completed a follow-on offering, raisireg proceeds of approximately $61.9
million at a public offering price of $24.07 perash.

Recent Developments
CEO Transitions

On June 13, 2011, we entered into a Separationeftgeat with our then President and Chief Executiffec€r that provided, among
other things, for a lump sum payment in the amafi$930,811 (subject to applicable withholdings deductions) and continuation of he:
benefits for a period of up to 24 months. Experssseciated with this Separation Agreement will terged in our fiscal 2012 first quarter
results.

On January 20, 2009, we entered into an Employmgrédement and Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreemsétit our then chief
executive officer that provided, among other thjrfgs a transition to a new chief executive officéhe transition was completed in the third
quarter of fiscal 2009. We recorded a provisiofisnal 2009 of approximately $2.9 million in genlemad administrative expenses for costs
associated with the aforementioned Employment Agere and Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement arsiscassociated with the
recruitment of a new chief executive officer. ThmwnCEO commenced employment with us in March 2009.
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Impairment of Asse

Our fiscal 2011 results include $6.4 million in imipnent charges related to our decision to notinaatdevelopment of the Medron
Lightport technology and the write down of Centpospaid royalties due to lower than anticipateésal

FDA Warning Lette

On January 24, 2011 we received a warning letten fthe U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FD@connection with our
marketing of the NanoKnife System. In the warnietgdr the FDA states that certain statements weemiaduding those on our company
website, promote the use of the NanoKnife Systeyoie its currently cleared indications.

The warning letter does not restrict or prohibé #ale or marketing of our products nor does itiirequs to recall any products. We take
these matters seriously and are committed to cantplyith all applicable laws, rules and regulatiomgonnection with the marketing and
sale of our products. While we believe we have Baiyresponsive to the matters raised by the FB#£he warning letter, there can be no
assurance that the FDA will be satisfied with asponse. Therefore, we may be subject to additiegailatory action by the FDA, and any
such actions could significantly disrupt our busgand operations and have a material adverse fropawr financial position and results of
operations. It is also possible that other fedastake or foreign enforcement authorities mighetaktion if they consider promotional or
training materials to constitute promotion of ampproved use, which could result in significanefiror penalties under other statutory
authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claforseimbursement. The warning letter is postednenFDA’s website at www.fda.g@and is
available for viewing.

Establishment of AngioDynamics Netherlands

In February 2011, we entered into an agreementauithdistributor in the Netherlands to terminate ioternational distribution
agreement, to purchase relevant business assets aadure their assistance in transferring custoatationships to AngioDynamics. As a
result, we have established a direct sales operatid a business office in the Netherlands in alzoare with our international growth
strategy.

Company Reorganization

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofm@pions as three reportable segments: Periphasdar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20t combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldplment and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology/Surgery segicontinues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigriedPiior periods have been recast to
reflect this new reporting structure.

Expiration of our Distribution Agreement AmendmientLC Beac

We sell the embolization product, LC Bead, purstar Supply and Distribution Agreement with Biogqmatibles UK Limited, now
BTG PLC, which grants us exclusive distributiorhtigto the product in the United States. The ages¢nvas entered into in 2006 and has
been amended four times, most recently in Marct®20kxtend distribution rights until December 3@11. We do not expect the agreement
to be amended again and, accordingly, we will istridute LC Beads after December 31, 2011.

Acquisition of FlowMedica, Inc

On January 12, 2009, we completed the acquisitiaeidain assets of FlowMedica, Inc. for approxiehat1.75 million in cash and a
contingent payment based on fiscal 2011 salesmfedica products. The
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contingent payment of $768,000 was included inw&tiiabilities and intangible assets on the baateet at May 31, 2011 and was paid in
July 2011. With this acquisition, we purchasedBle@ephit product line, a therapeutic approach tiveledrugs directly to the kidneys to
prevent and treat acute kidney injury, in the enmgrdield of Targeted Renal Therapy.

(b) Narrative Description of Business
General

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofm@pions as three reportable segments: Periphasdar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20f& combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accesstaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtediargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldpiment and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology /Surgerynseg continues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigried to

Our principal competitive advantages are our deditanarket focus, established brands and innovptiegucts. We believe our
dedicated focus enhances patient care and engdogelty among our customers. As a provider ofivgational devices for over two
decades, we believe we have established AngioDysammiands as premium performance products. Waltothte frequently with leading
interventional physicians in developing our proguantd rely on these relationships to further supmar brands.

In January 2007, we completed the acquisition di/ARMedical Systems, Inc., or RITA, which establidhaur position, we believe, as
the only company focused on minimally-invasive tme@nts for cancer patients with an emphasis omgtbeing segment of interventional
oncology. The acquisition created a diversified ima@dechnology company with a broad line of accdsagnostic and therapeutic products
that enable interventional physicians and surgémiieat vascular disease and cancerous tumoesyvémttional oncology is a large and
growing area. In addition, in May 2008 we acquitieel Nanoknife ablation system which is complemegntaour diverse offering of local
oncology therapies, including market-leading RFAtsins, Habib Sealér resection devices and LC Be&atstumor embolization. In June
2008, we completed the acquisition of certain @&l U.K. assets of Diomed, Inc. With this acquisifiwe substantially strengthened our
position in the market for the treatment of vareegins. The combination of endovenous laser ptsduith our existing venous product line
provides us with a comprehensive venous produetioff. In January 2009, we completed the acquisitfocertain assets of FlowMedica,
Inc. providing us with the Benephit product lingharapeutic approach to deliver drugs directlthekidneys in order to prevent and treat
acute kidney injury, in the emerging field of Tategt Renal Therapy.

We sell our broad line of quality devices in theitdd States through a direct sales force and iatemally through a combination of
direct sales and distributor relationships. We suppur customers and sales organization with &etiang staff that includes product
managers, customer service representatives andratirketing specialists. Our dedicated sales fayomying portfolio of products and
acquisitions have contributed to our strong satesvt.

Products

Our product offerings fall within two product grdangs, which are paralleled by our organizationalcure of two Divisions (e.g.
reportable segments)—Vascular and Oncology/Surgery.

All products discussed below have been cleareddtw in the United States by the FDA.

We have registered a number of marks with the Bafent and Trademark Office, including Pulse*SpM@RPHEUS CT;
EVENMORE; ABSCESSION; TOTAL ABSCESSION; SPEEDLYSER{GIOFLOW;
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HYDROTIP; MEMORY TIP; SOS OMNI; StarBurst LifeJefjrcle C; Vortex; LifeGuard; NeoStar; LifeValve; @eos; DuraMax; SmartPo
Profiler; VenaCure EVLT; NanoKnife; Benephit; an@BT-VU. This annual report on Form 10-K also comsdrademarks of companies
other than AngioDynamics.

VASCULAR

The Vascular Division manages our Venous, AngiogigPTA, Drainage, Thrombolytic, Targeted Rena¢iEpy, Micro Access Kits,
Dialysis, PICC and Port product lines.

Venous Products

An important part of our focus on the peripheradoidar disease market is the treatment of varigeses. With an estimated one-half of
all Americans older than age 50 suffering from e@se veins, the market for this treatment is langg: growing.

Our venous products consist of our VenaCure EVLTsell@ystem and Sotrade€ol

Our VenaCure EVLT laser system products are useddovascular laser procedures to treat superfiebus disease (varicose veins).
Superficial venous disease is a malfunction of anmore valves in the leg veins whereby blood sefhior does not return to the heart. These
procedures are a less invasive alternative to steippping for the treatment of this condition. Veainipping is a lengthy, painful and traumatic
surgical procedure that involves significant patietovery time. In contrast, venous laser treatrigean outpatient procedure that generally
allows the patient to quickly return to normal aittes with minimal post-operative pain.

With our VenaCure EVLT laser system, laser enesgysied to stop the reflux by ablating, or collagsind destroying, the affected v«
The body subsequently reutes the blood to other healthy veins. Our préglace sold as a system that includes diode lasdwtare with ou
family of disposable laser fiber components, tragnénd marketing materials. The disposable comgeriernhe system include a laser fiber
system featuring our NeverTouéh gold-tip technolagyaccess sheath, access wires and needlestoteelpre kits come in a variety of
lengths and configurations to accommodate vari¢igmzanatomies. In fiscal 2011, we expanded owralure EVLT portfolio by launching
a new laser with a 1470 nanometer wavelength. Whislength allows customers to more efficientlythba vein wall using lower power
settings thereby reducing the risk of collaterahdge.

SotradecoP (sodium tetradecyl sulfate injectiorg sclerosing drug that is approved by the FDA.iktt®duced it in November 2005
and it has been shown to be an effective treatwfestnall, uncomplicated varicose veins of the loaremities that show simple dilation
with competent valves. The benefit-to-risk ratiosldl be considered in selected patients who ars greggical risks.

Angiographic Products and Accessories

Angiographic products and accessories are usedglunitually every peripheral vascular interventibprocedure. These products
permit interventional physicians to reach targétedtions within the vascular system to delivertcast media for visualization purposes and
therapeutic agents and devices, such as PTA balldomgiographic products consist primarily of arggaphic catheters, but also include e
needles and guidewires specifically designed foipperal interventions and fluid management prosluct

We manufacture angiographic catheters and guidevlia are available in more than 500 tip confijars and lengths.

* Soft-Vu® Our proprietary Soft-Vu angiographic catheter textbgy incorporates a soft, atraumatic tip thatasiky visualized
under fluoroscopy
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* AngiOptic™. The AngiOptic catheter line is distinguished frother catheters because the entire instrument idyhigsible under
fluoroscopy.

e Accl-Vu® .The Accu-Vu angiographic catheter is a highly isjlaccurate sizing catheter used to determinéetigth and
diameter of a vessel for endovascular proceduresuA/u provides a soft, highly radiopaque tip watkhoice of platinum
radiopaque marker patterns along the shaft formegthvisibility and accurac

* Mariner ™. The Mariner catheter is a hydrophilic-coated aggaphic catheter. It uses our patented Soft-Viatat technology to
deliver contrast media to anatomy that is diffidolteach. The advanced hydrophilic coating teabgykignificantly reduces
catheter surface friction, providing smoother natiign through challenging vasculature with optimahdling and contro

 AQUA Liner®. The AQUA Liner guidewire is a technologically adead guidewire. It is used to provide access taaift-to-
reach locations in interventional procedures réqgia highly lubricious wire. The AQUA Liner guidée incorporates proprieta
advanced coating technology that allows smoothidriéess navigatior

PTA Products

PTA (percutaneous transluminal angioplasty) prooeslare used to open blocked blood vessels arybsidialccess sites using a catheter
that has a balloon at its tip. When the ballooinfiated, the pressure flattens the blockage ag#nesvessel wall to improve blood flow. PTA
is now the most common method for opening a blockesdel in the heart, legs, kidneys, or arms.

Our PTA dilation balloon catheters include:

*  WorkHorse® The WorkHorse product is a high-pressure, low-pepfioneompliant balloon catheter offered in 54 configimas.
While the WorkHorse can perform other peripherahpfocedures, we believe the device is used prignfoi treating obstructed
dialysis access site

» WorkHorse® Il. The WorkHorse 1l balloon is a high-pressure, lprafile, non-compliant PTA balloon catheter. Thisghuct is an
extension to our WorkHorse PTA catheter, with emieanWorkHorse features to improve product performaaturing declotting
procedures for dialysis access si

» Profiler ®. The Profiler balloon catheter is a high-pressime;profile, non-compliant, high-visibility balloocatheter that features
a soft, radiopaque, tapered tip and a flexible -kioking catheter shaft with exceptional pushapilithe low profile of the Profiler
opens access to small vessels and tortuous anatodig available with multiple balloon sizes antheter lengths

Drainage Products

Drainage products percutaneously drain abscessesther fluid pockets. An abscess is a tendernmid mass that typically must be
drained by a physician.

Our line of drainage products, The Total AbscessiBamily of Drainage Catheters, consists of our TAtscession General, Biliary,
and Nephrostomy drainage catheters. These profiatteae our proprietary soft shaft with Blue SHkini$h for a more comfortable patient
fit. The kink-resistant shaft recovers rapidly, evieseverely bent, knotted, or twisted. This istigallarly beneficial when patients roll over
and risk a potential kinking of the catheter durihgep. The thermal molded tip allows for less fingkand kinking upon insertion. Also
important is that the shaft diameter equals therinliameter of the catheter hub to maximize flowr Qotal Abscession drainage catheters
feature a tamper-resistant locking mechanism célfied/ault® which securely fixes the pigtail andymets tampering or accidental
removal. This locking mechanism helps to preveetdiain from becoming unlocked during routine dlsas reducing a physician’s time by
avoiding a
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possible “redo’tase, and increasing patient satisfaction by nainlyao repeat the procedure. The Total Abscesséheter permits aspirati
in the locked or unlocked position thus allowingrmaccurate placement and greater versatility fainthg complex situations.

Thrombolytic Products

Thrombolytic catheters are used to deliver thromytimbagents, which are drugs that dissolve bloatsdh hemodialysis access grafts,
arteries, veins and surgical bypass grafts. Oantbolytic catheters include:

* Pulse*Spray® Infusion Catheters and Uni*Fuse thrombolytic cagrstOur Pulse*Spray and Uni*Fuse catheters improve the
delivery of thrombolytic agents by providing a caried, forceful and uniform dispersion. Patentki$ ©n the infusion catheter
operate like tiny valves for an even distributidritbombolytic agents. These slits reduce the arhotithrombolytic agents and
the time necessary for these procedures, resuitiogst savings and improved patient saf

e SpeedLyse?. Our SpeedLyser thrombolytic catheter is usedeliver thrombolytic agents into obstructed dialygiafts. This
catheter featurePulse*Sprayslit technology that simplifies catheter insertammd drug delivery

Targeted Renal Therapy

With the acquisition of certain assets of FlowMedim January 12, 2009, AngioDynamics purchase@émephit® product line—a
therapeutic approach to deliver drugs directlyht kidneys in order to prevent and treat acuteegidnjury. Benephit is representative of the
emerging field of Targeted Renal Therapy, whicthesdelivery of therapeutic agents directly to kitneys via the renal arteries as an
alternative to the standard delivery method ofeysét intravenous (1V) infusion to address kidnegfdpction related to a number of
conditions, including cardiovascular, endovascidargical procedures and diseases.

Micro Access

Our micro access sets provide interventional pligisgca smaller introducer system for minimally-isive procedures. AngioDynamics’
Micro Access product line provides physicians with means to build a custom set from the wide #eleof configurations available,
including four wires in two different lengths, seveeedle options and three sheath dilator options.

Dialysis Products

We market a complete line of dialysis products firavide short and lonterm vascular access for dialysis patients. Dialyai cleanin
of the blood, is necessary in conditions such ageaenal failure, chronic renal failure and eralgstrenal disease (ESRD).

We currently offer a wide variety of dialysis catirs, including:

» DuraMax®. The DuraMax catheter is a stepped-tip cathetsigded to improve ease of use, dialysis efficiesuegt overall patient
outcomes

» Schon™. The Schon chronic dialysis catheter is desigoduktself-retaining, deliver high flow rates andypde patient comfort.
The Schon catheter is for Ic-term use

 Evenmore®. The Evenmore chronic dialysis catheter is a lowfif@oend-hole catheter designed to provide vefigieht dialysis.
It was designed for long-term use with our propuigtDurathane shaft, which offers high resistance to chemicatus clean th
insertion site

» Dura-Flow ™ . The Dura-Flow chronic dialysis catheter is desigtele durable, maximize flow rates and providecfasier care
and site maintenance. The D-Flow chronic dialysis catheter is for Ic-term use
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« SCHON XL® The SCHON XL acute dialysis catheter is designdakt&ink resistant, deliver high flow rates, oféersatile
positioning and provide patient comfort. SCHON XLfor shor-term use

» LifeJet®. The LifeJet 16-French chronic dialysis cathe¢attdires a unique Circle® lumen design and thesaigternal
diameter available. This is designed to facilitaigh flow rates while keeping arterial and venotespures low

e Centros® . Centros with Curved Tip catheter techgwis the next generation, self-centering, spfitetialysis catheter. The
highly innovative Centros catheter design featpresormed curved tips, which automatically center ¢atheter ports within the
middle of the vessel to maintain optimal blood fland recirculation rates, increasing catheterdifd enhancing overall catheter
performance by enabling the potential to reducefolonation and sheathin

Image-Guided Vascular Access

Imageguided vascular access, or IGVA, involves the dssdganced imaging equipment to guide the placemecatheters that delivi
primarily shortterm drug therapies, such as chemotherapeutic sgadtantibiotics, into the central venous systeeativery to the circulator
system allows drugs to mix with a large volume lobl as compared to intravenous drug delivery ansmperficial vessel. IGVA procedures
include the placement of peripherally inserted @ matheter, or PICC lines, implantable ports egidtral venous catheters, or CVCs.

PICC Products
Our PICC products include:

*  Morpheus® CT PICC and Morpheus CT PICC Insertion Kit.May 2006, we introduced our insertion kit, whalfows our
Morpheus CT PICC to be inserted at a patient’s idedastead of in the hospital radiology suite. Kitavas specifically designed
for interventional radiologists, nurse practitiongshysician assistants and radiology techniciams perform placement of PICC
lines. These PICC lines provide short or long-tpearipheral access to the central venous systeimtfavenous therapy and blood
sampling. These products are intended for use @ftlinjectors, allowing physicians to use the ergtPICC for both medications
and CT imaging, thus avoiding the need for an @altil access sitt

* Morpheus® Smart PICCThe Morpheus Triple Lumen Smart PICC, the nextemh of the AngioDynamicsMorpheus CT PIC(
line, gives practitioners the increased flexibilityboth administer medications and perform powgscitions of contrast media for
CT imaging using one PICC line. The Morpheus SR&C features Smart Tap&r technology to improvedlitow and reduce
the risk of thrombosis while reducing leakage acbthe insertion site

Port Products

Ports are implantable devices utilized for the @@ntenous administration of a variety of medit¢edrapies and for blood sampling and
diagnostic purposes. Central venous access faeditamore systemic delivery of treatment ageritdevmitigating certain harsh side effects
of certain treatment protocols and eliminatingrieed for repeated access to peripheral veins. Diameapon needle gauge size and the port
size, a port can be utilized for up to approximaD00 accesses once implanted in the body. Ot pee used primarily in systemic or
regional short and long-term cancer treatment praothat require frequent infusions of highly cenizated or toxic medications (such as
chemotherapy agents, antibiotics or analgesics¥ragdient blood samplings.

Our port products and accessories include:

» Vortex® .Our Vortex port technology line of ports is a clélakv port technology that, we believe, revolutiogizport design. Wit
its rounded chamber, the Vortex port is designduaiee nc
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sludge-harboring corners or dead spaces. This ptdide consists of the following titanium, plastind dual-lumen offerings
within its family of products: (i) Vortex VX; (iivortex TR; (iii) Vortex LP; and (iv) Vortex MF

e SmartPort® The Smart Port powenjectable port with Vortex technology offers thaldy for a clinician to access a vein for b
the delivery of medications or fluids and for adisiering power-injected contrast to perform a Coteguromography (CT) scan.
The ability to access a port for power-injectedtcast studies eliminates the need for additionabiesticks in the patient’s arm
and wrist veins. Once implanted, repeated acceetbloodstream can be accomplished with greatss and less discomfort. (
Smart Port is now available in mini and -profiles to accommodate more patient anaton

» LifeGuard™. The LifeGuard Safety Infusion Set and The LifeGudision are used to infuse our ports and compleroanport
and vascular access catheters. The ne' low profile design is intended to allow cliniciattseasily dress the sit

Our central venous catheter products include:

* Neostar®. Our Neostar Tunneled Central Venous Catheteraramng the most well known and trusted names imetats. The
central venous catheters are intended for long-taseular access, suitable for chemotherapy, iofusf intravenous fluids or
drugs, parental nutrition, transfusion or samphfgpd products. Configurations include single, dewmnd triple lumen, one-piece
Y -hubs for mirror smooth transition points and cortgleay availability

ONCOLOGY/SURGERY
Our Oncology/Surgery Division includes our Radigitency Ablation (RFA), Embolization and NanoKnf#feroguct lines.

Radiofrequency Ablation Products

Radiofrequency Ablation (RFA) products use radigfrency energy to provide a minimally invasive ajjgioto ablating solid
cancerous or benign tumors. Our system deliveiisfreguency energy to raise the temperature o @ibve 4%0°C, causing cellular dea

The physician inserts the disposable needle eldetdevice into the target body tissue, typicallgemultrasound, computed tomogra|
or magnetic resonance imaging guidance. Once tiealss inserted, pushing on the handle of thea@kegauses a group of curved wires to be
deployed from the tip of the electrode. When thergrois turned on, these wires deliver radiofreqyesteergy throughout the tumor. In
addition, temperature sensors on the tips of tliesameasure tissue temperature throughout the guioee

During the procedure, our system automatically stdjthe amount of energy delivered in order to ta&irthe temperature necessary to
ablate the targeted tissue. For a typical 5cm mlplatsing our StarBurst  Xli-enhanced disposabléaig\the ablation process takes
approximately ten minutes. When the ablation is glete, pulling back on the handle of the deviceseauhe curved wire array to be retra
into the device so it can be removed from the body.

The RFA system consists of a radiofrequency geoeeatd a family of disposable devices. We also etathe Habil® 4X® resection
device under a distribution agreement with EMcidigmited. In addition to the intra-operative (opgurgery) device Habib 4X,
AngioDynamics markets a minimally-invasive versafrthe Habib 4X device, a Laparoscopic 4X unit, evhis used in minimally invasive
laparoscopic surgery (MILS) procedures in surgspacialties such as: Hepato-Biliary, Gl, Surgicat@ogy, Transplant Surgery and
Urology (Partial Nephrectomy Resections). It imidally indicated to assist in coagulation of tisgluring intraoperative and laparoscopic
procedures.
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Disposable Electrodes

Product Name

Description

StarBursi®
StarBurst XL
StarBurst Sen-Flex
StarBurst SDE

Creates a scalabl-3cm ablation

Creates a scalabl-5cm ablation

Creates a scalabl-5cm ablation and has a partially flexible sh
Creates a 2cm ablation, via a «-deployed arra:

StarBurst MRI
StarBurst Xli-enhanced

Creates a-5 cm ablation and is compatible with MF

Creates a scalable 4-7cm ablation. Requires arssmgeinfusion pump for
irrigation of saline. Attached tubing stande

Creates a scalable 4-7cm ablation. A portion ofsthedt is flexible and can
bend up to 90 degrees in all directions. Requireacaessory infusion pump
for irrigation of saline. Attached tubing stande

Creates a scalable 1-4cm ablation. Requires arssageinfusion pump for

StarBurst Xli-enhanced
Semi-Flex

StarBurst Talon:

Straight irrigation of saline
StarBurst Talon: Creates a scalable 1-4cm ablation. Requires arssmgeinfusion pump for
Semi-Flex irrigation of saline. A portion of the shaft isxible and can bend up to 90
degrees in all direction
Resection Device Habib®4X Surgical resection devic

Generators: Model 1500X RF Generatt 250 Watt Capable Generator with F-Software Upgradeability

Embolization Products

LC Beads" embolization products are compressibsghlyi-tinted N-fil Hydrogel microspheres supplieddonvenient pre-prepared
single vials. Embolic material is injected intoesgted vessels to block the blood flow feeding thedr or malformation, causing it to shrink
over time. We purchase LC Beads from Biocompatjil#§ now BTG PLC, pursuant to a Supply and Disttibn Agreement that was
entered into in 2006 and terminates on Decembe2(BL1.

NanoKnife ® Ablation System Products

The NanoKnife® Ablation System is for the surgidallagion of soft tissue. The NanoKnife Ablation Systutilizes low energy direct
current electrical pulses to permanently open poréarget cell membranes. These permanent ponearm-scale defects in the cell
membranes result in cell death. The treated tisstieen removed by the body’s natural processesnratter of weeks—mimicking natural
cell death. Unlike other ablation technologies, diémife Ablation System does not achieve tissuetaisiausing thermal energy.

The Nanoknife Ablation System consists of two ma@mponents: a Low Energy Direct Current, or LED€h€rator and needle-like
electrode probes. Up to six (6) electrode probesbesplaced into or around the targeted soft tisSmee the probes are in place, the user
enters the appropriate parameters for voltage, eumipulses, interval between pulses, and theegdalggth into the generator user
interface. The generator then delivers a seriehoft electric pulses between each electrode piidieenergy delivery is hyperechoic and
be monitored under real-time ultrasound.

Research & Development

Our growth depends in large part on the continuotieduction of new and innovative products, togetiwith ongoing enhancements to
our existing products, through internal productelepment, technology licensing and strategic atiéemn We recognize the importance of, and
intend to continue to make investments in, reseanchdevelopment. For fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2008research and development (“R&D")
expenditures were

11



Table of Contents

$21.4 million, $19.3 million and $17.9 million, yeectively, and constituted 9.9%, 8.9% and 9.2%peaetvely, of net sales. R&D activities
include research, product development, intelleqiuaperty and regulatory, clinical and medical mffaWe expect that our R&D expenditures
will be approximately 10.6% of net sales in fis2@ll2 and remain in the range of 9 to 11% of netsstilereafter. However, downturns in our
business could cause us to reduce our R&D spending.

Our research and product development teams wosklglavith our sales force to incorporate custoreedback into our development
and design process. We believe that we have aamutamong interventional physicians as a goothpafor product development because
of our tradition of close physician collaboratigiedicated market focus, responsiveness and exaaamabilities for product development
and commercialization.

Competition

We encounter significant competition across oudpob lines and in each market in which our prodacgéssold. These markets are
characterized by rapid change resulting from teldgical advances and scientific discoveries. We fe@mpetitors ranging from large
manufacturers with multiple business lines to smehufacturers that offer a limited selection afcarcts.

In addition, we compete with providers of other matitherapies, such as pharmaceutical compatiasntay offer non-surgical
therapies for conditions that currently, or in fhire, may be treated using our products. Our @rynalevice competitors include: Boston
Scientific Corporation; Cook Medical; Navilyst Medi; Cordis Corporation, a subsidiary of Johnsodoknson, Inc.; C.R. Bard; Medical
Components, Inc., or Medcomp; Arrow Internatiomasubsidiary of TeleFlex Medical; Smith’s Medicakubsidiary of Smiths Group plc;
Vascular Solutions; Covidien subsidiaries (KenddMUS, EV3) and Merit Medical (Biosphere Medical).

Medcomp supplies us with most of our dialysis ctgteeand competes with us by selling other catheter

Many of our competitors have substantially grefitemcial, technological, research and developnregflatory, marketing, sales and
personnel resources than we do. Competitors mayhalge greater experience in developing produbtsiming regulatory approvals, and
manufacturing and marketing such products. Addailgn competitors may obtain patent protectionegulatory approval or clearance, or
achieve product commercialization before us, anyldth could materially adversely affect us.

We believe that our products compete primarilytonltasis of their quality, clinical outcomes, eafsese, reliability, physician
familiarity and cost-effectiveness. Generally, puvducts are sold at higher prices than those o€ompetitors. In the current environment of
managed care, which is characterized by economiraitivated buyers, consolidation among health paogiders, increased competition
declining reimbursement rates, we have been incrgiggequired to compete on the basis of price.Wkeve that our continued competitive
success will depend upon our ability to developaiuire scientifically advanced technology, apply ®chnology cost-effectively across
product lines and markets, develop or acquire petgy products, attract and retain skilled develept personnel, obtain patent or other
protection for our products, obtain required retprigand reimbursement approvals, manufacture aadessfully market our products either
directly or through outside parties and maintaifiicgient inventory to meet customer demand.

Sales and Marketing

We focus our sales and marketing efforts on inteleeal radiologists, vascular surgeons, and imetional and surgical oncologists.
There are more than 5,000 interventional radiotsg®,000 vascular surgeons, and 2,000 interveaitiomd surgical oncologists in the United
States.
Backlog

Historically, we ship 95% of products within 48 mewf receipt of the orders, and accordingly owkbay is not significant.
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Manufacturing

We own a manufacturing, administrative, engineeand warehouse facility of approximately 104,000a8¢ feet in Queensbury, New
York. We also lease a manufacturing facility of egqimately 60,000 square feet in Manchester, Geoiyie lease a manufacturing facility
approximately 10,000 square feet in the United idiomg that we acquired in June 2008 in connectioh witr acquisition of certain assets of
Diomed, Ltd. We believe these facilities have suéfint capacity to meet our anticipated manufactuneeds for the next five years.

We manufacture certain proprietary components aodyets and assemble, inspect, test and packadaisived products. By
designing and manufacturing many of our produamfraw materials, and assembling and testing dusissemblies and products, we beli
that we are able to maintain better quality congakure compliance with applicable regulatory gdads and our internal specifications, and
limit outside access to our proprietary technoldye have custom-designed proprietary manufactantyprocessing equipment and have
developed proprietary enhancements for existingymrtion machinery.

Our management information system includes ordy gimvoicing, inventory management, lot traceiilpurchasing, shop floor
control and shipping and distribution analysiswa#l as various accounting-oriented functions. Tyistem enables us to track our products
from the inception of an order through all partshef manufacturing process until the product isvéetd to the customer.

We purchase components from third parties. Mostunfcomponents are available from several supplycas. We also purchase
finished products from third parties. One suppliggcompatibles, UK, now BTG PLC, supplies our LEd8Is™ embolization products that
accounted for approximately 13% of our net saledisoal 2011. The agreement to distribute thisddpici ends on December 31, 2011.
Another supplier, Medcomp, currently supplies madstur dialysis catheters. Medcomp products acamlifdr approximately 7% of our net
sales for fiscal 2011. To date, we have been abbbtain adequate supplies of all product and corapts in a timely manner from existing
sources.

In fiscal 2011, 68% of our product sales were datifrom products we manufactured or assembled lvessavith the balance being
derived from products manufactured for us by tipiadties. Our Queensbury, Manchester and Cambralgities are registered with the FDA
and have been certified to ISO 13485 standardsedsis the CMD/CAS Canadian Medical Device Redaoret. ISO 13485 is a quality
system standard that satisfies European Union aggylrequirements, thus allowing us to market seltlour products in European Union
countries. If we were to lose this certificatiore would no longer be able to sell our producthiese countries until we made the necessary
corrections to our operations or satisfactorily pteted an alternate European Union approval rdwtedid not rely on compliance with
quality system standards. Our manufacturing faedliare subject to periodic inspections by reguadnithorities to ensure compliance with
domestic and non-U.S. regulatory requirements."Segernment Regulation”.

Intellectual Property

As of June 30, 2011, we owned 179 U.S. utility ptgel16 pending U.S. utility applications, and i672ign issued and pending utility
patents. We also own 51 U.S. registered tradensar@&38 common law trademarks. There are curredthedistered international tradema
and 7 pending international trademarks.

We believe that our success is dependent, to a &ttent, on patent protection and the propriatatyre of our technology. We intend
to continue to file and prosecute patent applicetifor our technology in jurisdictions where weided that patent protection is effective and
advisable, generally in the United States and atperopriate jurisdictions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, patent positionsnefdical device companies, including our compang usicertain and involve compl
and evolving legal and factual questions. The cayeisought in a patent
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application can be denied or significantly reduegder before or after the patent is issued. Camsetly, there can be no assurance that a
our pending patent applications will result in asued patent. There is also no assurance thaixatiyng or future patent will provide
significant protection or commercial advantagewbether any existing or future patent will be cirarented by a more basic patent, thus
requiring us to obtain a license to produce ankkiselproduct. Generally, patent applications camaintained in secrecy for at least 18
months after their earliest priority date. In atdit publication of discoveries in the scientificgatent literature often lags behind actual
discoveries. Therefore, we cannot be certain tieaivere the first to invent the subject matter ceddsy each of our pending U.S. patent
applications or that we were the first to file Ndr. patent applications for such subject matter.

If a third party files a patent application rel@tito an invention claimed in our patent applicatiee may be required to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the U.S. PatsthiTrademark Office to determine who owns themaSuch proceeding could involve
substantial uncertainties and cost, even if thaes outcome is favorable to us. There can bessarance that our patents, if issued, would
be upheld as valid in court.

Third parties may claim that our products infrirgetheir patents and other intellectual propergts. Some companies in the medical
device industry have used intellectual propertyimgement litigation to gain a competitive advamtal a competitor were to challenge our
patents, licenses or other intellectual propegits, or assert that our products infringe its piage other intellectual property rights, we could
incur substantial litigation costs, be forced tokmaxpensive changes to our product designs, kceghkts in order to continue manufacturing
and selling our products, or pay substantial damageird-party infringement claims, regardlesshafit outcome, would not only consume
our financial resources but also divert our managgis time and effort. Such claims could also causecustomers or potential customers to
defer or limit their purchase or use of the affdgbeoducts until resolution of the claim.

See Item 3 of this report for additional detailslitigation regarding proprietary technology.

We rely on trade secret protection for certain tepied aspects of our proprietary technology. Tlarebe no assurance that others
not independently develop or otherwise acquire tsuibglly equivalent proprietary information or keiques, that others will not gain access
to our proprietary technology or disclose such medbgy, or that we can meaningfully protect oud&aecrets. We have a policy of requiring
key employees and consultants to execute confaléptagreements upon the commencement of an emm@oyor consulting relationship
with us. Our confidentiality agreements also regj@ur employees to assign to us all rights to amgntions made or conceived during their
employment with us. We also generally require amsultants to assign to us any inventions madenguhie course of their engagement by
us. There can be no assurance, however, thatdlgesements will provide meaningful protection oce@uaiate remedies for us in the event of
unauthorized use, transfer or disclosure of contidéinformation or inventions.

The laws of foreign countries generally do not ecbour proprietary rights to the same extent athddaws of the United States. In
addition, we may experience more difficulty enfagciour proprietary rights in certain foreign juiitttbns.

Government Regulation

The products we manufacture and market are sutgjgegulation by the FDA under the Federal Foodidpand Cosmetic Act, or
FDCA, and, in some instances, state authoritied@mign governments.

United States FDA Regulation

Before a new medical device can be introducedtimtanarket, a manufacturer generally must obtairketieng clearance or approval
from the FDA through either a 510(k) submissiopi@market notification) or a premarket approvallaggion, or PMA.
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The 510(k) procedure is less rigorous than the Rivi¥cedure, but is available only in particular girestances. The 510(k) clearance
procedure is available only if a manufacturer cstaldish that its device is “substantially equivelen intended use and in safety and
effectiveness to a “predicate device,” which iggallly marketed device with 510(k) clearance is€leor Il or grandfather status based upon
commercial distribution on or before May 28, 192&&er a device receives 510(k) clearance, any nicatibn that could significantly affect
its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitu major change in its intended use, requiremsna510(k) clearance or could require a PMA
approval. The 510(k) clearance procedure genetaltlys from four to 12 months from the time of sutsitn, but may take longer. In some
cases, supporting clinical data may be required. AIDA may determine that a new or modified devicedt substantially equivalent to a
predicate device or may require that additionadiimfation, including clinical data, be submitteddrefa determination is made, either of
which could significantly delay the introduction méw or modified device products. If a product doessatisfy the criteria of substantial
equivalence, it is placed in class Ill and premadgproval is required prior to the introductiontiodt product into the market.

The PMA application procedure is more comprehersiaa the 510(k) procedure and typically takes sweears to complete. The
PMA application must be supported by scientificdevice providing pre-clinical and clinical data tilg to the safety and efficacy of the
device and must include other information aboutdéeice and its components, design, manufactutinigi@eling. The FDA will approve a
PMA application only if a reasonable assurancettihatlevice is safe and effective for its intended can be provided. As part of the PMA
application review, the FDA will inspect the manttfarer’s facilities for compliance with its Quali§ystem Regulation, or QSR. As part of
the PMA approval the FDA may place restrictiongtomdevice, such as requiring additional patietiofoup for an indefinite period of time.
If the FDA's evaluation of the PMA application dret manufacturing facility is not favorable, the FD¥ay deny approval of the PMA
application or issue a “not approvable” letter. Fi2A may also require additional clinical trialshiwh can delay the PMA approval process
by several years. After the PMA is approved, ih#figant changes are made to a device, its manufiagt or labeling, a PMA supplement
containing additional information must be filed fmior FDA approval.

Historically, our products have been introduced itke market using the 510(k) procedure and we haver had to use the more
rigorous PMA procedure.

The FDA clearance and approval processes for acalediévice are expensive, uncertain and lengthgr& han be no assurance that we
will be able to obtain necessary regulatory cleegaror approvals for any product on a timely basist all. Delays in receipt of or failure to
receive such clearances or approvals, the loseeofqusly received clearances or approvals, ofdtere to comply with existing or future
regulatory requirements could have a material a#veffect on our business, financial condition essilts of operations.

After a product is placed on the market, the prodnd its manufacturer are subject to pervasivecamtinuing regulation by the FDA.
The FDA enforces these requirements by inspectioihnaarket surveillance. Our suppliers also mayutigest to FDA inspection. We must
therefore continue to spend time, money and effontaintain compliance. Among other things, we nuashply with the Medical Device
Reporting regulation, which requires that manufemtreport to the FDA if their device may haveselior contributed to a death or serious
injury or malfunctioned in a way that would liketpuse or contribute to a death or serious injuityifere to recur. We must also comply w
the FDA's corrections and removal reporting regatatwhich requires that manufacturers report ®REDA field corrections and product
recalls or removals if undertaken to reduce ataodhealth posed by a device or to remedy a vialatiothe FDCA that may present a risk to
health. The labeling and promotion activities fewites are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and eirtain instances, by the Federal Trade
Commission. The FDA actively enforces regulatiorshjbiting the marketing of devices for unapprovev uses.

The devices manufactured by us also are subjebet@QSR, which imposes elaborate testing, cordamdumentation and other quality
assurance procedures. Every phase of producticludimg raw materials,
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components and subassemblies, manufacturing, desirality control, labeling, tracing of consignedter distribution and follow-up and
reporting of complaint information is governed bg -DA’s QSR. Device manufacturers are requiregdgister their facilities and list their
products with the FDA and certain state agencibas. HDA periodically inspects manufacturing faadgtiand, if there are alleged violations,
the operator of a facility must correct them oisfattorily demonstrate the absence of the viotetior face regulatory action.

We are subject to inspection and marketing suavaii by the FDA to determine our compliance withieggulatory requirements.
Recently, the FDA has placed an increased empbassforcement of the QSR and other postmarketatmy requirements. Non-
compliance with applicable FDA requirements canlltéa, among other things, fines, injunctions,ikcpenalties, recall or seizure of produr
total or partial suspension of production, failofeghe FDA to grant marketing approvals, withdrawbimarketing approvals, a
recommendation by the FDA to disallow us to emiéw government contracts, and criminal prosecutidhe FDA also has the authority to
request repair, replacement or refund of the cbahyp device manufactured or distributed by us.

Other

We and our products are also subject to a variesyate and local laws in those jurisdictions wheme products are or will be marketed,
and federal, state and local laws relating to magach as safe working conditions, manufacturitagfices, environmental protection, fire
hazard control and disposal of hazardous or patigntiazardous substances. For example, we arsteegil with the Office of the Professic
of the New York State Department of Education. Weadso subject to various federal and state laweigning our relationships with the
physicians and others who purchase or make reddioabur products. For instance, federal law frithipayments of any form that are
intended to induce a referral for any item payainder Medicare, Medicaid or any other federal lnealte program. Many states have similar
laws. There can be no assurance that we will noétpeired to incur significant costs to comply wétlch laws and regulations now or in the
future or that such laws or regulations will novéa material adverse effect upon our ability tddsiness.

International Regulatiol

Internationally, all of our current products aresimlered medical devices under applicable regylatgimes, and we anticipate that 1
will be true for all of our future products. Sak#fsmedical devices are subject to regulatory reguénts in many countries. The regulatory
review process may vary greatly from country tordoy For example, the European Union has adoptetenous directives and standards
relating to medical devices regulating their desiganufacture, clinical trials, labeling and adeeesent reporting. Devices that comply with
those requirements are entitled to bear a ConférEutropéenne, or CE Mark, indicating that the deemnforms to the essential requirem:
of the applicable directives and can be commejycdifitributed in countries that are members offheopean Union.

In some cases, we rely on our International distdls to obtain regulatory approvals, complete pobdegistrations, comply with
clinical trial requirements and complete those stijat are customarily taken in the applicablesflidtions.

International sales of medical devices manufacturalde United States that are not approved oretehy the FDA for use in the Unit
States, or are banned or deviate from lawful peréorce standards, are subject to FDA export reqeintsnBefore exporting such products to
a foreign country, we must first comply with the &B regulatory procedures for exporting unapprodesices.

There can be no assurance that new laws or regsategarding the release or sale of medical dewigienot delay or prevent sale of
our current or future products.
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Third-Party Reimbursement
United States
Our products are used in medical procedures gdynelered by government or private health plans.

In general, a third-party payor only covers a maldicoduct or procedure when the plan administristeatisfied that the product or
procedure improves health outcomes, including guafilife or functional ability, in a safe and t¢esffective manner. Even if a device has
received clearance or approval for marketing byRD@, there is no assurance that third-party payaitscover the cost of the device and
related procedures.

In many instances, third-party payors use priceduates that do not vary to reflect the cost ofgreucts and equipment used in
performing those procedures. In other instanceanpat or reimbursement is separately availablé¢ierproducts and equipment used, in
addition to payment or reimbursement for the pracedkself. Even if coverage is available, thirdtpgayors may place restrictions on the
circumstances where they provide coverage or mi@y tfimbursement that is not sufficient to cover €ost of our products.

Third-party payors who cover the cost of medical prodacesquipment, in addition to allowing a generadrgfe for the procedure, oft
maintain lists of exclusive suppliers or approvistslof products deemed to be cost-effective. Atirlation from those third-party payors is
required prior to using products that are not @sé¢hlists as a condition of reimbursement. If aodpcts are not on the approved lists,
healthcare providers must determine if the additi@ost and effort required in order to obtain peathorization, and the uncertainty of
actually obtaining coverage, is justified by anygeéved clinical benefits from using our products.

Finally, the advent of contracted fixed rates pecpdure has made it difficult to receive reimboreat for disposable products, even if
the use of these products improves clinical out@nreaddition, many third-party payors are movingnanaged care systems in which
providers contract to provide comprehensive heafthéor a fixed cost per person. Managed care geosioften attempt to control the cost of
healthcare by authorizing fewer elective surgicatpdures. Under current prospective payment sygstench as the diagnosis related group
system and the hospital out-patient prospectivenasy system, both of which are used by Medicareimnagany managed care systems used
by private third-party payors, the cost of our protd will be incorporated into the overall costgirocedure and not be separately
reimbursed. As a result, we cannot be certainttbapital administrators and physicians will purehesr products, despite the clinical
benefits and opportunity for cost savings that wkelve can be derived from their use. If hospitald physicians cannot obtain adequate
reimbursement for our products or the proceduraghiich they are used, our business, financial d@miresults of operations, and cash
flows could suffer a material adverse impact.

International

Our success in International markets will depemgdly upon the availability of reimbursement frome third-party payors through
which healthcare providers are paid in those marleimbursement and healthcare payment systemsigaificantly by country. The main
types of healthcare payment systems are governspensored healthcare and private insurance. Regaimant approval must be obtained
individually in each country in which our produetise marketed. Outside the United States, we géyeedy on our distributors to obtain
reimbursement approval in the countries in whiaytill sell our products. There can be no asswdhat reimbursement approvals will be
received.

Insurance

Our product liability insurance coverage is limiteda maximum of $10,000,000 per product liabititgim and an aggregate policy lir
of $10,000,000, subject to deductibles of $250,8800ccurrence and $1,250,000 in the aggregatepdliey covers, subject to policy
conditions and exclusions, claims of bodily injanyd property damage from any product sold or marnufed by us.
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There is no assurance that this level of coveragel€quate. We may not be able to sustain or niraitia level of coverage and cannot
assure you that adequate insurance coverage valaitable on commercially reasonable terms ofla@asuccessful product liability claim
or other claim with respect to uninsured or undariad liabilities could have a material adverseafbn our business.

Environmental

We are subject to federal, state and local lawssruegulations and policies governing the useeggion, manufacture, storage, air
emission, effluent discharge, handling and dispobakrtain hazardous and potentially hazardoustanbes used in connection with our
operations. Although we believe that we have coedpliith these laws and regulations in all mategapects and, to date, have not been
required to take any action to correct any nonc@anpek, there can be no assurance that we will@oéguired to incur significant costs to
comply with environmental regulations in the future

Employees

As of May 31, 2011, we had 722 full time employdd¥sne of our employees are represented by a lationwand we have never
experienced a work stoppage.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our financial and operating results are subjeet mumber of factors, many of which are not withim control. These factors include the
following:

If we fail to develop or market new products and ehance existing products, we could lose market shate our competitors and our
results of operations could suffer.

The market for interventional devices is charaztatiby rapid technological change, new producbdhctions, technological
improvements, changes in physician requirementseantling industry standards. To be successfulinust continue to develop and
commercialize new products and to enhance versibaar existing products. Our products are techgicklly complex and require
significant research, planning, design, developraedttesting before they may be marketed. Thisga®generally takes at least 12 to 18
months from initial concept and may take up to sawgears. In addition, product life cycles aretilely short because medical device
manufacturers continually develop smaller, moredatie and less expensive versions of existingadsvin response to physician demand.

Our success in developing and commercializing negvemhanced versions of our products is affectedupyability to:

* recruit engineers

» timely and accurately identify new market trer

* accurately assess customer ne

* minimize the time and costs required to obtain l&tguy clearance or approvi

e adopt competitive pricing

» timely manufacture and deliver produc

» accurately predict and control costs associateld tii# development, manufacturing and support ofooducts; ant
* anticipate and compete effectively with our compet’ efforts.

Market acceptance of our products depends in paouo ability to demonstrate that our productscarst-effective and easier to use, as
well as offer technological advantages. Additionalle may experience design, manufacturing, margedr other difficulties that could del

or prevent our development, introduction or margf new products or new versions of our exispingducts. As a result of such difficulti
and delays, our development expenses may increasas a consequence, our results of operatiorid saffer.

We face intense competition in the medical devicadustry. We may be unable to compete effectively i respect to technological
innovation and price which may have an adverse eff¢ on our revenues, financial condition or result®f operations.

The markets for our products are highly competjtared we expect competition to continue to intgndife may not be able to compete
effectively, and we may lose market share to oanpetitors. Our primary device competitors incluBeston Scientific Corporation; Cook
Medical; Navilyst Medical; Cordis Corporation, bsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, Inc.; C.R. Bard; MaldComponents, Inc., or Medcomp;
Arrow International, a subsidiary of TeleFlex MealicSmith’s Medical, a subsidiary of Smiths Groug; Wascular Solutions; Covidien
subsidiaries (Kendall, VNUS, EV3) and Merit Medi¢Biosphere Medical). Many of our competitors haubstantially greater:

» financial and other resources to devote to prodoquisitions, research and development, marketidghi@anufacturing
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» variety of products

» technical capabilities

» history of developing and introducing new produ

» patent portfolios that may present an obstaclautaconduct of busines
e name recognition; an

» distribution networks and -house sales force

Our competitors may succeed in developing technetognd products earlier, in obtaining patent ptide or regulatory clearance
earlier, or in commercializing new products or tealogies more rapidly than us. Our competitors lap develop products and technologies
that are superior to those we are developing dratheerwise could render our products obsoleteooicampetitive. In addition, we may face
competition from providers of other medical theegpisuch as pharmaceutical companies, that mayraffesurgical therapies for conditions
that are currently or in the future may be treatsitig our products. Our products are generally abldgher prices than those of our
competitors. However, in the current environmentaiaged care, which is characterized by econolyicadtivated buyers, consolidation
among healthcare providers, increased competitiodndaclining reimbursement rates, we are increshmgng required to compete on the
basis of price. If we are not able to compete ¢iffety, our market share and revenues may decline.

Development and sales of our NanoKnife Ablation prducts are dependent on a number of factors beyondio control, and our
inability to successfully complete our research andevelopment, design and marketing strategy with igpect to NanoKnife Ablation
may adversely affect our business, financial cond@n and results of operations.

A significant aspect of our growth strategy is tioatinued development of our NanoKnife Ablationdwots. There can be no guarantee
that we will be able to develop and manufacturdtamithl next generation or updated NanoKnife Aldatproducts on commercially favora
terms, or at all. NanoKnife Ablation is a develapiechnology and the inability of NanoKnife Ablatito achieve clinical acceptance could
severely limit the sales of NanoKnife Ablation puatbs.

We currently have FDA 510(k) clearance to marketn®¥nife Ablation products for soft tissue ablatitiwe are not able to secure
FDA marketing approval for additional or more sfiedndications, through 510(k) clearance, pre-nearpproval or otherwise, our ability to
market our NanoKnife Ablation products will be méstied which may have an adverse effect on ountass, financial condition and results
operations.

We may be exposed to risks associated with acquisits, including integration risks and risks associged with methods of financing anc
the impact of accounting treatment. Accordingly, conpleted acquisitions may not enhance our financigdosition or results of
operations.

Part of our growth strategy is to acquire businessel technologies that are complementary to dinese is no assurance that
acquisition opportunities will be available on guible terms, or at all, or that we will be ablehiain necessary financing or regulatory
approvals. Any acquisitions that we do undertakeald/de accompanied by the risks commonly encoudtieracquisitions, including the:

» potential disruption of our business while we eafduopportunities, complete acquisitions and dgvalad implement new
business strategies to take advantage of thesetapjiies;

» inability of our management to maximize our fina@nd strategic position by incorporating an agfitechnology or business
into our existing offerings

» difficulty of maintaining uniform standards, corigpprocedures and policie
+ difficulty of assimilating the operations and pemel of acquired businesst
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» potential loss of key employees of acquired busiegsand the impairment of relationships with elygds and customers as a
result of changes in management; .

e uncertainty as to the lo-term success of any acquisitions we may m

There is no assurance that any completed acquisitibbe accretive to our margins or profits irethort term or in the long term. If
proceed with one or more significant acquisitiamsvhich the consideration consists of cash, a aakist portion of our available cash could
be used to consummate the acquisitions. If we gonste one or more acquisitions in which the comatien consists of capital stock, our
stockholders could suffer significant dilution bfr interest in us. In addition, we could incurassume significant amounts of indebtedness
in connection with acquisitions. Further, acquisit could also result in significant goodwill armdamnortization charges for acquired
businesses or technologies.

If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights, we may not be able to generate reveies from new or existing products
and our business may suffer.

Our success depends in part on obtaining, maimigiand enforcing our patents, trademarks and qttogrietary rights, and our ability
to avoid infringing the proprietary rights of otkeWe take precautionary steps to protect our wolgical advantages and intellectual
property. We rely upon patent, trade secret, cgbyriknowhow and trademark laws, as well as license agreesnagil contractual provisiol
to establish our intellectual property rights amotect our products. However, no assurances camaoe that any pending or future patent
applications will result in the issuance of patetitat any current or future patents issued tdicensed by, us will not be challenged or
circumvented by our competitors, or that our patavitl not be found invalid.

Additionally, we may not be able to effectively ot our rights in unpatented technology, tradeete@nd confidential information.
Although we require our new employees, consultantscorporate partners to execute confidentiafitg@ments, these agreements may not
provide effective protection of our information ar,the event of unauthorized use or disclosure;, ntd provide adequate remedies.

On July 29, 2009, we filed a complaint in the Udif&tates District Court for the District of Delawagainst Vascular Solutions, Inc.
(NASDAQ: VASC). The complaint alleges that Vasculmiutions’ Vari-Lase Bright-Tip fiber product linefringes on claims of two
AngioDynamics’ patents, US 7,273,478 and US 7,58%,3hese patents relate to methods of treatingase veins using endovenous laser
treatments. Vascular Solutions has filed with th8.UWPatent & Trademark Offices, or PTO, requesténter partes reexamination of the ‘478
and ‘329 patents. The PTO has initiated reexantnadf these patents. No final ruling on the mérds been made at this time. Vascular
Solutions has denied the allegations of infringenagrl has counterclaimed for a declaratory judgrttettit does not infringe, that the pate
are invalid and that the patents are unenforceshberesult of alleged inequitable conduct. If WescSolutions is ultimately successful in
convincing the PTO or a court that our patentsraralid, we could lose the ability to assert thpagents against other third parties.

If we are not able to adequately protect our int#lial property, our market share, financial caodiaind results of operations may
suffer.

If third parties claim that our products infringe t heir intellectual property rights, we may be forcedto expend significant financial
resources and management time defending against $uactions and our financial condition and our resuis of operations could suffer.

Third parties may claim that our products infrinbeir patents and other intellectual property sghdentifying third-party patent rights
can be particularly difficult because, in genepaltent applications can be maintained in secrecgtfeast 18 months after their earliest
priority date. Some companies in the medical dewidestry have used intellectual property infringemlitigation to gain a competitive
advantage. If a
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competitor were to challenge our patents, licesegher intellectual property rights, or assedt thur products infringe its patent or other
intellectual property rights, we could incur sulpsial litigation costs, be forced to make expensiianges to our product design, pay roya
or other fees to license rights in order to corgimanufacturing and selling our products, or pdystantial damages. Thighrty infringemen
claims, regardless of their outcome, would not ardgsume our financial resources but also diverneanagement’s time and effort. Such
claims could also cause our customers or potetuistomers to purchase competitors’ products orraeftmit their purchase or use of our
affected products until resolution of the claim.

We are dependent on single and limited source supets which subjects our business and results of ogaions to risks of supplier
business interruptions.

We currently purchase significant amounts of seduera products and product components from singtklamited source suppliers and
anticipate that we will do so for future producssveell. For fiscal 2011, approximately 32% of owoguct sales were derived from sales of
products manufactured for us by third parties. Suggplier, Biocompatibles UK Limited, now BTG PLQipplies our LC Bead$
embolization products that accounted for approxaiyat3% of our net sales for fiscal 2011. Anothgodier, Medcomp, currently supplies
most of our dialysis catheters. Medcomp product®asted for approximately 7% of our net sales igedl 2011. Medcomp also competes
with us by selling catheters that we do not puretfeem them.

Any delays in delivery of or shortages in thosetbrer products and components could interrupt aalydnanufacturing of our produ
and result in the cancellation of orders for owrdurcts. Any or all of these suppliers could disourg the manufacture or supply of these
products and components at any time. Due to FDAatiner business considerations, we may not betalideentify and integrate alternative
sources of supply in a timely fashion or at allyAransition to alternate suppliers may resultrioduction delays and increased costs and may
limit our ability to deliver products to our custers. Furthermore, if we are unable to identifyraliéive sources of supply, we would have to
modify our products to use substitute componenitsghivmay cause delays in shipments, increasedmasig manufacturing costs and
increased prices for our products.

Expiration of Our Supply and Distribution Agreement with Biocompatibles UK Limited May have a Material Impact on Our Results
of Operations.

We currently sell the embolization product, LC Bgadrsuant to a Supply and Distribution Agreemeiti \Biocompatibles UK
Limited, now BTG PLC, which grants us the exclusiligtribution rights to the product in the Unitethtes until December 31, 2011. We will
not distribute LC Beads in the U.S. beyond Dece8ie2011. The LC Bead product line representedeqpately 13% of our net sales for
fiscal 2011. There can be no guarantee that webeilible to find a suitable replacement for thenee generated by LC Beads on acceptable
terms or at all. Not having the rights to distriolilC Beads beyond December 31, 2011 could haveeriadampact on our financial position
and results of operations.

We performed an interim goodwill impairment testtba Oncology/Surgery segment as of April 30, 284 & result of the decision to
terminate the LC Beads distribution contract in &aber 2011. Our assessment of goodwill impairmatitated that the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeded its carrying value andefme goodwill was not impaired.

Current economic instability could adversely affecur operations.

Financial markets and the economies in the UnitateS and internationally have been experiencipgrind of upheaval characterized
by the bankruptcy, failure, collapse or sale ofaas financial institutions, severely diminisheguidity and credit availability, declines in
consumer confidence, declines in economic growitreiases in unemployment rates and uncertaintyt @somomic stability. This has
resulted in severely diminished liquidity and ctemliailability in the market, which could impairmability to access capital if required or
adversely affect our operations. Similarly, ourtousers and suppliers may experience financial
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difficulties or be unable to borrow money to fuheir operations which may adversely impact theilitglor decision to purchase our
products, particularly capital equipment, or to jayour products they do purchase on a timelysasat all.

The economic downturn may also, among other thiogste downward pressure on the pricing of oudipets, increase the sales cycle
of certain products and slow the adoption of nesitelogy, any of which could have an adverse eff@cbur business, financial position and
results of operations.

Our industry is experiencing greater scrutiny and legulation by governmental authorities, which has k& to certain costs and business
distractions as we respond to inquiries and complwith new regulations, and may lead to greater gov@mental regulation in the
future.

Our medical devices and our business activitiesabgect to rigorous regulation by the FDA and ntous other federal, state and
foreign governmental authorities. These author#ied members of Congress have been increasingstiveiiny of our industry. In addition,
certain states, including Massachusetts, have tlgqeassed or are considering legislation restrigthur interactions with health care
providers and requiring disclosure of many paymemtiaem. The federal government has recently duced similar legislation, which may
or may not preempt state laws. Recent Supreme Casetlaw has clarified that the FDA'’s authoritgiomedical devices preempts state tort
laws, but legislation has been introduced at tdera level to allow state intervention, which abldad to increased and inconsistent
regulation at the state level. We anticipate thatgovernment will continue to scrutinize our inmyglosely, and that additional regulation
governmental authorities may increase complianséscexposure to litigation and other adverse tffeecour operations.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could havean adverse effect on our revenues and results gberations.

Many healthcare industry companies, including meddievice companies, are consolidating to creategmmpanies with greater
market power. As the healthcare industry consatslatompetition to provide goods and servicesdastry participants will become more
intense. These industry participants may try tothe@ market power to negotiate price concesswneductions for medical devices that
incorporate components produced by us. If we ai@etbto reduce our prices because of consolidatitime healthcare industry, our revenues
would decrease and our consolidated earnings,diaboondition, or cash flow would suffer.

Healthcare policy changes, including recent laws teform the U.S. healthcare system, may have a matal adverse effect on us.

Healthcare costs have risen significantly overpast decade. There have been, and continue tadpmgals by legislators, regulators,
and third-party payors to keep these costs dowrtaiDeproposals, if passed, would impose limitagion the prices we will be able to charge
for our products, or the amounts of reimbursemeati@ble for our products from governmental agesiciethird-party payors. These
limitations could have a material adverse effecbonfinancial position and results of operations.

On March 23, 2010, the Patient Protection and Affibie Care Act was signed into law and on Marcl28a0, the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 was signed ilatw. Together, the two measures make the mostgng and fundamental changes to
the U.S. health care system since the creationexfidhre and Medicaid. The Health Care Reform laskide a large number of health-
related provisions to take effect over the next fgears, including expanding Medicaid eligibilitgquiring most individuals to have health
insurance, establishing new regulations on heddthsp establishing health insurance exchangesiriegjunanufacturers to report payment:
other transfers of value made to physicians anchteg hospitals, and modifying certain paymenteyst to encourage more cost-effective
care and a reduction of inefficiencies and wastapding through new tools to address fraud andabkffective in 2013, there will be a 2.
excise tax on the sale of certain medical devices.
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In addition, various healthcare reform proposalgelaso emerged at the state level. We cannotqirédti exact effect newly enacted
laws or any future legislation or regulation wiife on us. However, the implementation of new latja and regulation may lower
reimbursements for our products, reduce medicalgutore volumes and adversely affect our businessiiply materially. In addition, the
enacted excise tax may materially and adversebcaéfur operating expenses and results of opegation

If we do not maintain our reputation with interventional physicians, our growth will be limited and ou business could be harmed.

Physicians typically influence the medical deviceghasing decisions of the hospitals and othettheade institutions in which they
practice. Consequently, our reputation with intatienal physicians is critical to our continuedgtb. We believe that we have built a
positive reputation based on the quality of ourdpieis, our physician-driven product developmeraré$f our marketing and training efforts
and our presence at medical society meetings. Atabor perceived diminution in the quality of quoducts, or our failure or inability to
maintain these other efforts, could damage ourtegjon with interventional physicians and causegromwth to be limited and our business to
be harmed.

Our business could be harmed if we lose the servieef our key personnel.

Our business depends upon our ability to attradtratain highly qualified personnel, including mgesal, sales and technical
personnel. We compete for key personnel with otbenpanies, healthcare institutions, academic utgiits, government entities and other
organizations. We do not have written employmemne@gents with our executive officers. Our abilynaintain and expand our business
may be impaired if we are unable to retain ourentrkey personnel or hire or retain other qualifiedsonnel in the future.

Undetected defects may increase our costs and imp#ie market acceptance of our products.

Our products have occasionally contained, and malya future contain, undetected defects. Wheretpesblems occur, we must divert
the attention of our engineering personnel to asiddteem. There is no assurance that we will nafrim@rranty or repair costs, be subject to
liability claims for damages related to productede$, or experience manufacturing, shipping orradleéays or interruptions as a result of
these defects in the future. Our insurance policiag not provide sufficient protection should amlde asserted. In addition, the occurrence
of defects may result in significant customer fiefag problems and injury to our reputation, and mnayair market acceptance of our
products.

If a product liability claim is brought against us or our product liability insurance coverage is inagquate, our business could be
harmed.

The design, manufacture and marketing of the tgbesedical devices we sell entail an inherent aégroduct liability. Our products
are used by physicians to treat seriously ill paieWe are periodically subject to product lidhitilaims, and patients or customers may ir
future bring claims in a number of circumstances fam a number of reasons, including if our produgere misused, if a component of our
product fails, if their manufacture or design wiasved, if they produced unsatisfactory results ¢iné instructions for use and operating
manuals and disclosure of product related risk@fmrproducts were found to be inadequate. In enigitndividuals or groups seeking to
represent a class may file suit against us. Theoou of litigation, particularly class action lavtsuis difficult to assess or quantify. Plainti
in these types of lawsuits often seek recoveryen§ Varge or indeterminate amounts, including ndy @ctual damages, but also punitive
damages. The magnitude of the potential lossesnglo these lawsuits may remain unknown for safgl periods of time.

We carry a product liability policy with a limit ¢§10,000,000 per product liability claim and an@ggte policy limit of $10,000,000,
subject to deductibles of $250,000 per occurremce$d, 250,000 in the aggregate.
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We believe, based on claims made against us ipakg our existing product liability insurance cage is reasonably adequate to protect us
from any liabilities we might incur. However, thaseno assurance that this coverage will be sefficto satisfy any claim made against us. In
addition, we may not be able to maintain adequaterage at a reasonable cost and on reasonablg i€anall. Any product liability claim
brought against us, with or without merit, couldrisase our product liability insurance rates oven¢ us from securing any coverage in the
future. Additionally, if one or more product liaityl claims is brought against us for uninsuredilitibs or is in excess of our insurance
coverage, our financial condition and results afrations could be negatively impacted. Furtherhslaims may require us to recall some of
our products, which could result in significant s0® us and could divert management’s attentiomfour business.

Changes in reimbursement levels by governmental ather third-party payors for procedures using our products may cause our
revenues to decline.

Our products are purchased principally by hospitalghysicians which typically bill various thircagly payors, such as governmental
programs (e.g. Medicare, Medicaid and comparalbikida programs), private insurance plans and mahegee plans, for the healthcare
services provided to their patients. The abilitypaf customers to obtain appropriate reimburserfogmqiroducts and services from third-party
payors is critical to the success of medical deemmpanies because it affects which products cuet®purchase and the prices they are
willing to pay. Reimbursement varies by country aad significantly impact the acceptance of nevatetogy. Implementation of healthcare
reforms in the United States and in other countriag limit, reduce or eliminate reimbursement for products and adversely affect both our
pricing flexibility and the demand for our produdissen when we develop a promising new productmag find limited demand for the
product unless reimbursement approval is obtairead private and governmental third party payors.

Third-party payors have adopted, and are contintgraglopt, a number of healthcare policies interidemlirb rising healthcare costs.
These policies include:

« controls on government-funded reimbursement fottheare services and price controls on medical petsland services
providers;

» challenges to the pricing of medical procedureléniits or prohibitions on reimbursement for spexcifievices and therapies
through other means; al

» the introduction of managed care systems in whezdthcare providers contract to provide compreherisealthcare for a fixed
cost per persor

We are unable to predict whether federal, stateaal healthcare reform legislation or regulatidfeeting our business may be propo
or enacted in the future, or what effect any segfslation or regulation would have on our busin€gnges in healthcare systems in the
United States or elsewhere in a manner that saamifly reduces reimbursement for procedures usingnedical devices or denies coverage
for these procedures, or adverse decisions rel&ingr products by administrators of these syst@enesverage or reimbursement issues,
would have an adverse impact on the acceptancergfroducts and the prices which our customersviliag to pay for them.

If we cannot obtain and maintain marketing clearane or approval from governmental agencies, we willat be able to sell our
products.

Our products are medical devices that are subjeektensive regulation in the United States arttiénforeign countries in which they
are sold. Unless an exemption applies, each mediate that we wish to market in the United Stateist receive either 510(k) clearance or
premarket approval (PMA) from the U.S. Food anddAdministration, or the FDA, before the produch de sold. Either process can be
lengthy and expensive. The FDA's 510(k) clearanoegdure, also known as “premarket notification,thie process we have used for our
current products. This process usually takes froan fo 12 months from the date the premarket matiifdon is submitted to the FDA, but may
take significantly longer. Although we have obtaine
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510(k) clearances for our current products, ousreleces may be revoked by the FDA if safety orcéiffeness problems develop with the
devices. The PMA process is much more costly, lgnghd uncertain. It generally takes from one tedhyears from the date the application
is submitted to, and filed with, the FDA, and make even longer. Regulatory regimes in other caasgimilarly require approval or
clearance prior to our marketing or selling proguntthose countries. We rely on our distributorsivtain regulatory clearances or approvals
of our products outside of the United States. Ifare unable to obtain additional clearances ora@is needed to market existing or new
products in the United States or elsewhere or plitegse clearances or approvals in a timely fashicat all, or if our existing clearances are
revoked, our revenues and profitability may decline

Modifications to our current products may require new marketing clearances or approvals or require ugo cease marketing or recall
the modified products until such clearances or apmvals are obtained.

Any modification to an FDA-cleared medical devibattcould significantly affect its safety or eff@eness, or that would constitute a
major change or modification in its intended usguires a new FDA 510(k) clearance or, possibpremarket approval. The FDA requires
every manufacturer to make its own determinatiotoaghether a modification requires a new 510(kEpchnce or premarket approval, but the
FDA may review and disagree with any decision reddby the manufacturer. We have modified aspectswie of our devices since
receiving regulatory clearance. We believed thatesof these modifications did not require new 5} @{garance or premarket approval and,
therefore, we did not seek new 510(k) clearancgsemarket approvals. In the future, we may malditimthal modifications to our products
after they have received FDA clearance or appramd| in appropriate circumstances, determine thatalearance or approval is
unnecessary. Regulations in other countries in kvivie market or sell, or propose to market or seit,products may also require that we
make judgments about changes to our products aethethor not those changes are such that regulapmproval or clearance should be
obtained. In the United States and elsewhere, aégyl authorities may disagree with our past aureidecisions not to seek new clearance or
approval and may require us to obtain clearan@pproval for modifications to our products. If tiwatre to occur for a previously cleared or
approved product, we may be required to cease tiagker recall the modified device until we obt#ire necessary clearance or approval.
Under these circumstances, we may also be subjsagnificant regulatory fines or other penaltiésiny of the foregoing were to occur, our
financial condition and results of operations cduédnegatively impacted.

If we or some of our suppliers fail to comply withthe FDA'’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and dter applicable postmarket
requirements, our manufacturing operations could belisrupted, our product sales and profitability codd suffer, and we may be
subject to a wide variety of FDA enforcement actios.

After a device is placed on the market, numerogslegory requirements apply. We are subject toénipn and marketing surveillance
by the FDA to determine our compliance with allutegory requirements. Our failure to comply wittpépable regulatory requirements col
result in the FDA or a court instituting a wide iedy of enforcement actions against us, includimmiblic warning letter; an order to shut-
down some or all manufacturing operations; a resfgiroducts; fines or civil penalties; seizuredetention of our products; refusing our
requests for 510(k) clearance or a premarket apyrov PMA, of new or modified products; withdragiB10(k) clearance or PMA approvals
already granted to us; and criminal prosecution.

Our manufacturing processes and those of somerafuppliers must comply with the FD&\Quality System Regulation, or QSR, wt
governs the methods used in, and the facilitiescamdrols used for, the design, testing, manufacttontrol, quality assurance, installation,
servicing, labeling, packaging, storage and shippihmedical devices. The FDA enforces the QSRutinounannounced inspections. If we,
or one of our suppliers, fail a QSR inspectionif arcorrective action plan adopted by us or onewfsuppliers is not sufficient, the FDA ir
bring an enforcement action, and our operationgddoe disrupted and our manufacturing delayed. Yéeabso subject to the FDA'’s general
prohibition against promoting our products for upiagved or “off-label” uses, the FDA’s adverse evexgorting requirements and the FDA’s
reporting requirements for field correction or puotlremovals. The FDA has recently placed increasephasis on its scrutiny of compliance
with the QSR and these other postmarket requiresnent
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If we, or one of our suppliers, violate the FDA&uirements or fail to take adequate correctivimadh response to any significant
compliance issue raised by the FDA, the FDA cae tatious enforcement actions which could causgmduct sales and profitability to
suffer.

In addition, most other countries require us andsogpliers to comply with manufacturing and quadissurance standards for medical
devices that are similar to those in force in thtél States before marketing and selling our petlin those countries. If we, or our
suppliers, should fail to do so, we would lose abitity to market and sell our products in thosardoies.

Even after receiving regulatory clearance or approal, our products may be subject to product recallsywhich may harm our reputation
and divert managerial and financial resources.

The FDA and similar governmental authorities inestbountries have the authority to order mandatecgll of our products or order
their removal from the market if there are matedigficiencies or defects in design, manufacturgtaitation, servicing or labeling of the
device, or if the governmental entity finds that products would cause serious adverse health gaesees. A government mandated,
voluntary recall or field action by us could ocasra result of component failures, manufacturimgreror design defects, including labeling
defects. Any recall of our products may harm oputation with customers and divert managerial amahfcial resources.

We may be subject to fines, penalties or injunctiosnif we are determined to be promoting the use ofuo products for unapproved or
“off-label” uses.

If we are incorrect in our belief that our promaiéd materials and training methods regarding plgsgare conducted in compliance
with regulations of the FDA and other applicablguiations, and the FDA determines that our pronmationaterials or training constitutes
promotion of an unapproved use, the FDA could regthet we modify our training or promotional médés or subject us to regulatory
enforcement actions, including the issuance of mnimg letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine andrainal penalties.

On January 24, 2011 we received a warning letten fthe FDA in connection with our marketing of thenoKnife System. In the
warning letter, the FDA states that certain statgseie made, including those on our company wehsitanote the use of the NanoKnife
System beyond its currently cleared indications.

We responded to the FDA and intend to work closétit them to resolve any outstanding issues. Whidebelieve we have been fully
responsive to the matters raised by the FDA intaming letter, there can be no assurance thd&R#ewill be satisfied with our response.
Therefore, we may be subject to additional regujadation by the FDA, and any such actions coulghificantly disrupt our business and
operations and have a material adverse impact pfirancial position and results of operationsslalso possible that other federal, state or
foreign enforcement authorities might take actfathéy consider promotional or training materialonstitute promotion of an unapproved
use, which could result in significant fines or pkies under other statutory authorities, suctaas Iprohibiting false claims for
reimbursement.

We are subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regutimns that could result in significant liability, r equire us to change our business
practices and restrict our operations in the future

We are subject to various federal, state and laged targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcatesimy, including anti-kickback and
false claims laws. Violations of these laws areighable by criminal or civil sanctions, includingbstantial fines, imprisonment and
exclusion from participation in healthcare prograsush as Medicare and Medicaid and health progmrtside the United States. These laws
and regulations are wide ranging and subject toging interpretation and application, which cowdgtrict our sales or marketing practices.
Furthermore, since many of our customers rely anlsarsement from Medicare, Medicaid and other gor@mtal programs to cover a
substantial portion of their expenditures, our egimn from such programs as a result of a violatibinese laws could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of op@stiinancial condition and cash flow.
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If our employees or agents violate the U.S. Foreig@orrupt Practices Act or anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions, we may incur
fines or penalties, or experience other adverse ceequences.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Prasthet, or FCPA, and similar anti-bribery laws indmational jurisdictions which
generally prohibit companies and their intermedmfrom making improper payments to non-U.S. ddficfor the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business. Because of the predominangev@rnment-sponsored healthcare systems arounvdottie, many of our customer
relationships outside of the United States are githernmental entities and are therefore subjestioh anti-bribery laws. Our sales to
customers and distributors outside of the UnitedeSSthave been increasing and we expect them tmaertio increase in the future. If our
employees or agents violate the provisions of i€ A or other anti-bribery laws, we may incur firegenalties, we may be unable to
market our products in other countries or we magyeeience other adverse consequences which couldhmaterial adverse effect on our
operating results or financial condition.

Failure to attract additional capital which we mayrequire to expand our business could curtail our gowth.

We may require additional capital to expand ouiiress. If cash generated internally is insufficientund capital requirements, we w
require additional debt or equity financing. In aitah, we may require financing to fund any sigodit acquisitions we may seek to make.
Needed financing may not be available or, if ald@amay not be available on terms satisfactonystand may result in significa
stockholder dilution. Covenants in our industriaht financing may also restrict our ability to dhtadditional debt financing. If we fail to
obtain sufficient additional capital in the futuree could be forced to curtail our growth stratbégyreducing or delaying capital expenditures
and acquisitions, selling assets, restructuringoparations or refinancing our indebtedness.

Any disaster at our manufacturing facilities coulddisrupt our ability to manufacture our products for a substantial amount of time,
which could cause our revenues to decrease.

We conduct our manufacturing and assembly at fesslin Queensbury, New York, Manchester, Geomyia, Cambridge, England. It
would be difficult, expensive and time-consumindramsfer resources from one facility to the otheplace, or repair these facilities and our
manufacturing equipment if they were significardffected by a disaster. Additionally, we might beckd to rely on third-party
manufacturers or to delay production of our produletsurance for damage to our properties andifireption of our business from disasters
may not be sufficient to cover all of our potent@dses and may not continue to be available tnuscceptable terms, or at all. In addition, if
one of our principal suppliers were to experiensarlar disaster, uninsured loss or under-inslwsd, we might not be able to obtain
adequate alternative sources of supplies or preduratould face significant delays and incur sulisgahexpense in doing so. Any significant
uninsured loss, prolonged or repeated disruptiomability to operate experienced by us or anguf principal suppliers could cause
significant harm to our business, financial comgiitand results of operations.

Our inability to manage our growth or successfullyimplement our internal reorganization may have an dverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Over the past several years we have experiencadisémt growth. Our inability to manage our grovahour internal reorganization
into strategic divisions could impact our abilibymeet our customers’ demands, which could causesfsales to suffer.

Our stock price may be volatile, which may cause #hvalue of our stock to decline or subject us tosecurities class action litigation.

The trading price of our common stock is likelyo® highly volatile and could be subject to widectliations in price in response to
various factors, many of which are beyond our ainincluding:

» general economic, industry and market conditit
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» actions by institutional or other large stockhot

» the depth and liquidity of the market for our commsdock;

» volume and timing of orders for our produc

» developments generally affecting medical device pamnies;

« the announcement of new products or product enlnagcts by us or our competito

» changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossduyities analyst:

* investor perceptions of us and our business, iegudhanges in market valuations of medical deemapanies
» our results of operations and financial performa

In addition, the stock market in general, and tReSRAQ Stock Market and the market for medical desiin particular, have
experienced substantial price and volume volatitigt is often seemingly unrelated to the operapieidormance of particular companies.
These broad market fluctuations may cause thenggalice of our common stock to decline. In thet psescurities class action litigation has
often been brought against a company after a pefiodlatility in the market price of its commorosk. We may become involved in this t
of litigation in the future. Any securities litigah claims brought against us could result in safiil expense and the diversion of
management’s attention from our business.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational docunents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent@hange of control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholderswhich could cause our stock price to decline angrevent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current managment.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamadind our amended and restated bylaws containsfog that may enable our
management to resist a change in control. Theseswos may discourage, delay or prevent a chamdieei ownership of our company or a
change in our management. In addition, these gomsscould limit the price that investors wouldvidling to pay in the future for shares of
our common stock. Such provisions include:

e our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to create and issue “bldrdck” preferred stock, with
rights senior to those of common sto

» our board of directors is classified so that nbtredmbers of our board of directors are electezhattime, which may make it mc
difficult for a person who acquires control of ajardy of our outstanding voting stock to replaag directors;

* advance notice requirements for stockholders toimat® individuals to serve on our board of direstor for stockholders to
submit proposals that can be acted upon at stog&hateetings

» stockholder action by written consent is prohib;t
» stockholders are not permitted to accumulate thates for the election of directol

We are also subject to the provisions of Sectidh @&he Delaware General Corporation Law, whicly mpahibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock.

In addition, our board of directors has adoptetbakholder rights plan, which could delay or prevamhange in control of us even if
the change in control is generally beneficial to stockholders. These and other provisions in awgraded and restated certificate of
incorporation, amended and restated bylaws andi2eélaw could make it more difficult for stockheld or potential acquirers to obtain
control of our board of directors or initiate actsothat are opposed by our then-current boardre€tdirs, including delaying or impeding a
merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving oampany. Any delay or prevention of a change oftic transaction or changes in our
board of directors could cause the market priceuofcommon stock to decline.

29



Table of Contents

Our goodwill and intangible assets are subject togiential impairment.

A significant portion of our assets consists ofdwitl and intangible assets, the carrying valugvbfch may be reduced if we determine
that those assets are impaired. At May 31, 201ddwdl and intangible assets represented approxiy&210 million, or approximately 48%
of our total assets. During the fiscal year endey 181, 2011, we made the decision to not contirmyeldpment of the Medron Lightport
technology resulting in an impairment charge oR$4illion to our Vascular division.

All of our intangible assets have determinable uidafes and are amortized over their useful liveseither a straight-line basis or over
the expected period of benefit or as revenuesareed from the sales of the related products. Tuerying assumptions regarding the
estimated useful lives of these intangible assetseviewed annually and more often if an evertdimumstance occurs making it likely that
the carrying value of the assets may not be reatWerand are adjusted through accelerated amaotizidinecessary.

We review our two reporting segments for poterg@bdwill impairment in the third fiscal quarter edich year as part of our annual
goodwill impairment testing, and more often if areet or circumstance occurs making it likely thmpairment exists. We conduct
impairment testing based on our current busineagesfy in light of present industry and economiaditions, as well as future expectations.
The annual goodwill impairment review performediecember 2010 indicated no goodwill impairments. Mgormed an interim goodwill
impairment test on the Oncology/Surgery segmenf @gpril 30, 2011 as a result of the decision tortimate the LC Beads distribution
contract in December 2011. Our assessment of gdlddwpiairment indicated that the fair value of ttegporting unit exceeded its carrying
value and therefore goodwill was not impaired.

If actual results differ from the assumptions astineates used in the goodwill and intangible asaktulations, we could incur future
(unanticipated) impairment or amortization chargasich could negatively impact our results of opierss.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen
None

Item 2. Properties

We own a manufacturing, administrative, engineeand warehouse facility of approximately 104,000a8¢ feet situated on 18 acre
Queensbury, New York. In fiscal 2003, we financaceapansion of this facility with the proceedsmdustrial revenue bonds, and the land
and buildings are subject to a first mortgage uofaf a bank. In 2006, we issued taxable adjustedie notes to finance an expansion of
36,000 square feet to our warehouse and manufagtfacility. See Item 7 of this annual report, “N@ement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Ldfifiyi and Capital Resources,” for a discussion ekthfinancings. In July 2009, we
entered into an agreement to lease, for a tenparard plus 2 five year renewal options, a 52,5Q0ase foot office building in Latham, New
York to house our corporate headquarters and odrtesiness operations. The lease commencemeniveat®arch 1, 2010 and we
commenced occupancy in March 2010. See Item 7i®atimual report, “Management’s Discussion and ¥sialof Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resesrtfor a discussion of this lease.

We also lease three additional properties. We laasanufacturing facility of approximately 60,0@fuare feet located in Manchester,
Georgia. This facility also includes office spathe lease expires in April 2013. We lease 14,50@sz|feet of office and research and
development space in Fremont, California. The lexpéres in May 2012. Finally, we lease an offiod ananufacturing facility of
approximately 10,000 square feet in the United Kiomg. The lease expires in October 2013.
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding:
AngioDynamics v. biolite

On January 2, 2008, we commenced an action in tited)States District Court for the Northern Distiof New York entitled
AngioDynamics, Inc. v. biolitec, Incln this action, we are seeking judgment agaiidditéc for defense and indemnification in two laits
which we previously settled. Our claims arise dut &upply and Distribution Agreement (“SDA”) ergdrinto with biolitec on April 1,

2002. Biolitec has filed counter-claims againstruthis action, seeking reimbursement of approxatya$1.6 million in alleged past defense
costs paid by biolitec in one of the settled cabeSctober 2009, we commenced an action in théddribtates District Court for the District
of Massachusetts entitled AngioDynamics, Inc. vlitic AG and Wolfgang Neubergefhe Complaint in this action was amended in March
2010. This action seeks to recover against biglitex’s parent entities and CEO for tortiouslyeiriering with biolitec, Inc.’s contractual
obligation to defend and indemnify us, and als&ksée pierce the corporate veil of biolitec, Inndao invalidate certain alleged fraudulent
transfers in order to hold biolitec, Inc.’s parentities jointly and severally liable for the alkgbbreach of the SDA.

We will continue to vigorously enforce our rightsder the supply agreement with biolitec. Howevethie event it is ultimately
determined that the claims asserted in the Dionsédraand the VNUS action are not within biolite@islemnification obligations under the
biolitec supply agreement, we may be required itolvarse biolitec for the costs and expenses ofrdifigy the Diomed action.

We are party to other legal actions that arisééndrdinary course of business. We believe thatiahility resulting from any currently
pending litigation will not, individually or in thaggregate, have a material adverse effect onwminéss or financial condition, results of
operations or cash flow.

Item 4. Removed and Reserve

Executive Officers of the Compar
The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to our executive officers.

Name Age Position

Scott J. Solano 54 Interim Chief Executive Office

D. Joseph GersL 61 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officadalreasure
Scaott Etlingel 50 Senior Vice President, Global Operations and Qualgisurance
Stephen J. McGil 50 Senior Vice President, General Man—Internationa

Lynda Wallace 48 Senior Vice President, Business Developn

Scott J. Solano, became our Interim CEO, effeclivee 13, 2011. Prior to his appointment as Int&BO, Mr. Solano served as our
Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Offigiace September 7, 2010. Prior to joining AngioDyiies, Mr. Solano was an executive
at Medtronic, Inc., serving as Senior Vice Presidéachnology from 2000 to 2002 and Senior Exeeutiice President and President of
Medtronic—AVE Division from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Solametired from Medtronic in 2002. Prior to joiniedtronic, Mr. Solano served as
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard of Arterial Vascular Engineering, a 6,Q@0son company focused on
cardiovascular stents, acquired by Medtronic in9Lf® $3.7 billion.

D. Joseph Gersukecame our Senior Vice President, Chief Financfit€ and Treasurer in April 2007 and was nameddtiive Vice
President in July 2007. Since 2005, he has beansiek of Ellis Hospital, a 450 bed community htadpn Schenectady, New York, and
served as its Chairman of the Board of Trusteas ffone 2006- June 2009. From 2003 to 2005, he \E&sdhd director of Request
Multimedia in Ballston Spa,
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New York. From 1994 to April 2003, he was Executitiee President, Chief Financial Officer and Traaswf Mapinfo Corporation,
publicly traded software, data and services companiyoy, New York. Mr. Gersuk, a former officer ihe United States Navy, holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from the United StatsaNAcademy and his Master of Business Adminigtnain Finance from American
University.

Scott Etlingejjoined AngioDynamics in August 2010 as Senior igesident of Global Operations. He assumed thdiaddi
responsibility of Quality Assurance in March 20Xdaow holds the title of Senior Vice PresidenGidbal Operations and Quality
Assurance. Prior to joining AngioDynamics, Mr. Bjer served as Chief Operating Officer of Dental/i8es Group, a leading dental servi
and manufacturing company. Prior to that, he wasnior Vice President of Global Operations anmteenber of the senior leadership team
at American Medical Systems. Mr. Etlinger also wesviously with Zimmer (formerly Centerpulse Ortleolics), a leader in orthopedic
implants, for a decade, starting as Global Findr@dmtroller before rising to Vice President, GlbBaipply Chain. Mr. Etlinger holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from University of Redi Redlands, CA and a Masters of Business Adtratisn from St. Edwards Univers
in Austin, TX.

Stephen J. McGilhas served as Senior Vice President and Generaddéamnf International since November 2009. Mr. MtRas over
27 years of global medical device experience iriolgidhcreasing roles in sales, marketing, operatieadership business development and
general management. Mr. McGill was previously wAthnerican Medical Systems, where he spent 8 yeast reoently as Senior Vice
President of Global Sales. Prior to American Meld&yastems Mr. McGill has held positions with Bost®caientific, Bolton Medical, Stryker
and Allergan.

Lynda Wallacbecame our Senior Vice President, Business Devedapm May 2010. Prior to joining AngioDynamics, M¥allace
spent 20 years with Johnson & Johnson, most rgcaatVice President of the Topical Health Caredhése from 2003 to 2010. She was Vv
President of Business Development for the Johnsdnt&son Medical Devices and Diagnostics secton 2601 to 2003, Vice President of
US and Worldwide Marketing for Cordis Endovasctitam 1999 to 2001, and Vice President of Businesgdlbpment for Cordis
Corporation from 1997 to 1999. Prior to these pos#t, Ms. Wallace held a variety of positions inrkeding, business development, and
operations management at Ortho-Clinical Diagnodtm® 1991 to 1997. She holds a Master of Busidgsrinistration from the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania, and atigdar of Arts in Political Philosophy from the Uweissity of Delaware.
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Part Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, aisduer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Our common stock is traded on The Global Seleckistarer of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (formerligeé Nasdaq National
Market), under the symbol “ANGO.”

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the high and low sale prices for our comstock as reported by The Nasdaq
National Market

Sale Price
High Low
Year ended May 31, 2011
Fourth Quarte $17.1¢ $14.7¢
Third Quartel $17.72 $13.7¢
Second Quarte $15.71 $13.61
First Quarte! $16.5¢ $13.81
Sale Price
High Low
Year ended May 31, 201(
Fourth Quarte $17.1¢ $14.2(
Third Quartel $17.8¢ $15.2¢
Second Quarte $16.2¢ $12.7:
First Quarte! $14.1(C $11.12

As of July 29, 2011, there were 279 record holdéisur common stock.

Dividends
We did not declare any cash dividends on our comstock during our last two fiscal years. We do amaticipate paying any cash

dividends on our common stock for the foreseealtleré.

Stock Based Compensation

Information related to our stock based compensasidound in our discussion of “Critical Accountifplicies and Use of Estimates” in
Item 7 of this report.
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Performance Grapl

The following graph compares the cumulative togalim to shareholders on AngioDynamics, Inc.’s camrstock relative to the
cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Compositdar, the NASDAQ Medical Equipment index and the RB@allCap Medical Devices
index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestmentbifdividends) is assumed to have been made ic@mmon stock and in each of the
indexes on 6/06/2006 and its relative performandeaicked through 5/31/2011.
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SmallCap
NASDAQ

NASDAQ Medical Medical
ANGO Composite Equipment Devices
6/6/0¢€ 100.0( 100.0¢ 100.0( 100.0¢
9/2/0€ 65.9: 100.9¢ 97.0¢ 94.2:
12/2/0¢ 77.1¢ 113.2¢ 104.7¢ 100.2(
3/3/07 84.91 113.0( 109.8( 95.9¢
6/2/07 59.3: 121.5¢ 113.3¢ 95.4¢
8/31/0i 70.92 121.7: 124 .4: 97.4(
11/30/0} 70.7¢ 125.0¢ 138.3: 98.9¢
2/29/0¢ 60.4: 106.6¢ 120.8( 86.9¢
5/31/0¢ 56.4¢ 118.7¢ 120.4( 87.7¢
8/31/0¢ 59.8¢ 109.9¢ 121.0¢ 90.5¢
11/30/0¢ 43.4¢ 72.1C 72.1¢ 61.9(
2/28/0¢ 43.2¢ 65.37 60.1; 48.9i
5/31/0¢ 44.72 83.4i 76.5¢ 58.0¢
8/31/0¢ 47.1¢ 95.21 91.81 68.9¢
11/30/0¢ 56.61 102.0¢ 97.2% 70.8¢
2/28/1( 59.2¢ 106.2¢ 109.9] 77.81
5/31/1( 53.8: 106.8¢ 108.9¢ 76.77
8/31/1( 55.47 100.8¢ 95.31 71.42
11/30/1( 50.91 119.0¢ 103.1: 77.2%
2/28/11 61.3(C 132.9¢ 122.2¢ 91.5¢
5/31/11 57.2 135.4¢ 133.8: 98.72
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

You should read the following selected financialda conjunction with our consolidated financieltements and the related notes and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” included elsese in this annual report on Form
10-K. The consolidated statements of operations fimtthe fiscal years ended May 31, 2011, May281,0 and May 31, 2009, and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of May 31, @6d May 31, 2010, are derived from the audited alisteted financial statements that are
included elsewhere in this annual report on ForaiK1The consolidated statements of operations ftthe fiscal years ended May 31, 2008
and June 2, 2007, and the consolidated balance dhieas of May 31, 2009, May 31, 2008 and Jur20@7, are derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements not includedhis &nnual report on Form 10-K. Historical resalts not necessarily indicative of the results
of operations to be expected for future periods. [Sete A of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statats” for a description of the method
that we used to compute our historical basic ahdetl net income per share attributable to comntockbolders.

Year ended
(Amounts in thousands, except per share information
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, June 2,
2011(b)(f) 2010(b) 2009(b)(e) 2008(b)(d) 2007(b)(c)(d)
Consolidated Statements of Operation
Data:
Net sales $ 215,75 $ 216,03 $ 195,05 $ 166,50( $ 112,22
Cost of sale: 90,04" 89,06¢ 74,98¢ 63,911 46,06(
Gross profit 125,70: 126,96¢ 120,06! 102,58 66,16"
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 21,37: 19,27¢ 17,91« 14,42« 20,55¢
Sales and marketir 58,12 60,92! 57,791 46,047 31,60¢
General and administrati\ 17,82¢ 16,431 19,12¢ 15,42¢ 13,17:
Amortization of intangible: 9,23¢ 9,46: 9,12¢ 6,84¢ 2,35(
Other non recurring iterr 7,182 — — 3,60¢ 9,71(
Total operating expens 113,74 106,09¢ 103,96: 86,35’ 77,39:
Operating income (los! 11,96 20,87: 16,10¢ 16,23¢ (11,22%)
Other (expenses) incon
Interest incom 737 713 1,55¢ 3,151 4,04,
Interest expens (499) (672) (737) (1,329 (30¢)
Other (expenses) incon (1,509 (1,299 (1,780 (737) 314
Total other (expenses)
income, ne (1,26%) (1,2572) (952) 1,092 4,05:¢
Income (loss) before incon
tax provision 10,69¢ 19,61¢ 15,15: 17,32¢ (7,172
Income tax provisiol 2,581 7,301 5,22( 6,43¢ 1,95¢
Net income (loss $ 8,117 $ 12,31 $ 9,93 $ 10,88¢ $ (9,127%)
Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic $ 0.3¢ $ 0.5C $ 0.41 $ 0.4% $ (0.49)

Diluted $ 0.3 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.41 $ 0.4% $ (049

Weighted average number of shares
in per share calculatiol
Basic 24,870,00 24,580,48 24,363,23 24,081,71 18,443,57

Diluted 25,132,76 24,786,84 24,512,67 24,348,96 18,443,57
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As of
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, June 2,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securifjt $131,54: $100,07: $ 68,187 $ 78,29C $ 73,29(
Working capital 168,79¢ 145,33: 118,89¢ 100,54t 106,88:
Total asset 437,42: 423,92! 408,70: 408,74 383,28:
Non-current liabilities 6,27% 6,55( 6,81( 11,70( 26,90¢
Retained earnings (Accumulated defir 35,26¢ 27,15: 14,84( 4,90¢ (5,98))
Total stockholder equity 405,63¢ 391,34¢ 372,19: 355,71: 335,95!¢

(@) Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securittide auctiomate investments of $1,850,000 at May 31, 2011, Bthy2010, May 3.
2009 and May 31, 2008, and $4,475,000 as of JuRe®,, respectively and restricted cash of $68,806,$1,786,000, as of May 31,
2008, and June 2, 2007, respectiv

(b) Fiscal years 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007 iedlnd impact of stock based compensation expeosedur adoption of authoritati
guidance for share based payment awards and thectrop operating income was approximately $ 4.6onil $4.9 million, $5.8
million, $4.9 million and $3.5 million, respectiyelThe impact on net income was approximately $2ilBon or $0.12 per basic and
diluted share for fiscal 2011, $3.1 million or $® fder basic and diluted share for fiscal 2010, $3illfon or $0.15 per basic and diluted
share for fiscal 2009, $3.1 million or $0.13 pesibaand diluted share for fiscal 2008, and $2.4ioni) or $0.13 per basic and diluted
share for fiscal 2007. See Notes A and O to thesGlighated Financial Statements for additional infation.

(¢) InJanuary 2007, we acquired RITA Medical Sgselnc. for approximately $244 million. In connieatwith the acquisition, we
incurred an i-process R&D charge of $12.1 million, or approxinha®0.66 per basic and diluted she

(d) Infiscal 2007, we accrued $9.7 million for tBh®mmed patent infringement matter. In fiscal 20@8, accrued $6.8 million for the
settlement of the VNUS patent infringement and rezeé $3.2 million of the Diomed patent infringemantrual as a result of the
settlement of the matte

(e) To conform to the fiscal 2010 presentatiorgdi2009 results include reclassifications madadtude strategic business unit
management in marketing costs. The reclassificatioaulted in an increase in marketing costs ateteease in general and
administrative costs of $1 million in fiscal 20(

() The fiscal 2011 results include, in other newurring items, $6.4 million of impairment chargekted to our decision to not continue
development of the Medron Lightport technology #melwrite down of Centros prepaid royalties dukteer than anticipated sale

Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionsid Results of Operation

The following information should be read togethéthvthe audited consolidated financial statementsthe notes thereto and other
information included elsewhere in this annual répoarForm 10-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K, including the &rtg entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analgg$isinancial Condition and
Results of Operations”, contains forward-lookingtsinents within the meaning of the Private Seasititigation Reform Act of 1995. All
statements regarding AngioDynamics’ expected futimancial position, results of operations, castwl, business strategy, budgets,
projected costs, capital expenditures, productspetditive positions, growth opportunities, plansl abjectives of management for future
operations, as well as statements that includevtitds such as “expects,” “reaffirms” “intends,” taipates,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,”
“estimates,” or variations of such words and siméapressions, are forward-looking statements. @l@svard looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are
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subject to risks and uncertainties. Investors atgioned that actual events or results may difiemfour expectations. Factors that may affect
the actual results include, without limitation, @lnility to develop our existing and new produétsiire actions by the FDA or other
regulatory agencies, results of pending or futliréaal trials, the results of ongoing litigatioayerall economic conditions, general market
conditions, market acceptance, foreign currenchamge rate fluctuations, the effects on pricingnfigroup purchasing organizations and
competition, as well as our ability to integrateghased businesses as well as the risk factoesl listitem 1A of this annual report on Form

10-K.

Although we believe that the assumptions underlyfregforward-looking statements contained hereénraasonable, any of the
assumptions could be inaccurate and, thereforeg @ be no assurance that the forward-lookirtgrstents included in this annual report on
Form 10-K will prove to be accurate. In light otkignificant uncertainties inherent in the forwbodking statements included herein, the
inclusion of such information should not be regdrde a representation by us or any other persomtiabjectives and plans will be
achieved. Any forward-looking statements are madsymant to the Private Securities Litigation Refdékot of 1995 and, as such, speak only
as of the date made. We disclaim any obligatioupate the forward-looking statements. Investoescautioned not to place undue reliance
on these forward-looking statements which speak aslof the date stated, or if no date is statedf she date of this document.

Overview

We are a provider of innovative medical deviceguseminimally invasive, image-guided proceduresréat peripheral vascular
disease, or PVD, and local oncology therapy optfon#reating cancer, including radiofrequency #bla or RFA systems, embolization
products for treating benign and malignant tuma surgical resection systems, including NanoKAiation Systems. We design, devel
manufacture and market a broad line of therapeutitdiagnostic devices that enable interventiohgsbigians (interventional radiologists,
vascular surgeons, interventional and surgical lmgists and others) to treat PVD, tumors, and otlegr-coronary diseases.

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results oérgpions as three reportable segments: Periphasduar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20 combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accesstaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculasialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldgieent and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology /Surgeryngsg continues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigriedPrior periods have been recast for
this new reporting structure.

For the past five fiscal years, over 95% of ourgaes were from single-use, disposable products.

The following table sets forth our aggregate nktsstcom the following product categories for castithree fiscal years:

2011 2010 2009
% of % of % of
Net Sales Net Sale: Net Sales Net Sale: Net Sales Net Sale:
(dollars in thousands)
Peripheral Vasculz $ 86,99. 40% $ 92,16! 43% $ 83,45: 43%
Access 62,53( 2% 66,98¢ 31% 66,81: 34%
Vascular 149,52. 69% 159,15: 74% 150,26 77%
Oncology/Surgen 66,22¢ 31% 56,88¢ 26% 44,78¢ 23%
Total $215,75( 100% $216,03! 100% $195,05¢ 100%
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We sell our broad line of quality devices in theitdd States through a direct sales force and caitsiel U.S. through a combination of
direct sales and distributor relationships. Fardisears 2011, 2010 and 2009, net sales in nonvldiRets were 12%, 11% and 11%,
respectively.

Our growth depends in large part on the continuotisduction of new and innovative products, togetiwith ongoing enhancements to
our existing products, through internal productelegment, technology licensing and strategic atken We recognize the importance of, and
intend to continue to make investments in, reseanthdevelopment. For fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2008research and development (“R&D")
expenditures were $21.4 million, $19.3 million &1¥.9 million, respectively, and constituted 9.88% and 9.2%, respectively, of net
sales. R&D activities include research, producteli@yment, intellectual property and regulatoryicial and medical affairs. R&D
expenditures related to the NanoKnife system ptsjetaled $7.1 million in 2011, $7.3 million in P and $6.9 million in 2009, or 3%, 3%
and 4% of net sales, respectively. We expect thaR&D expenditures will be approximately 10.6%net sales in fiscal 2012 and remain in
the range of 9 to 11% of net sales thereafter. Mewealownturns in our business could cause usdiaceeour R&D spending.

We are also seeking to grow through selective atipns of complementary businesses and technaolyieJanuary 2007, we acquired
RITA Medical Systems, Inc. This acquisition creagediversified medical technology company with adaf line of access, diagnostic and
therapeutic products that enable interventionabpligns and surgeons to treat peripheral vascidaage and cancerous tumors.
Interventional oncology is a large and growing dmaour existing customer base and RITA’s leadigrplosition, premium products and
excellent reputation fit our strategy. RITA hadeaystrong position in vascular access ports, whiehan ideal sales fit with our Morphetus
CT PICC. In addition, in May 2008 we acquired alblatechnology which uses low energy direct cur(8EDC") electrical pulses which is
complementary to RITA’s diverse offering of localamlogy therapies, including its market-leading R&y&Stems, Habib Seal&t resection
devices and LC Bead® for tumor embolization. IneJ2008, we completed the acquisition of certain. dri8l U.K. assets of Diomed, Inc.
With this acquisition, we substantially strengtheéio@r position in the market for the treatment afieose veins. The combination of Diomed
endovenous laser products with our existing verpoaduct line provides us with a comprehensive vemmoaduct offering. In January 2009,
we completed the acquisition of certain assetd@iMedica, Inc. providing us with the Benephit puatlline, a therapeutic approach to
deliver drugs directly to the kidneys in order teyent and treat acute kidney injury, in the emegdield of Targeted Renal Therapy.

Except to the extent we can further use our eqagtyrities as acquisition capital, we will requadsitional equity or debt financing to
fund any future significant acquisitions.

For fiscal 2011, approximately 32% of our prodwaes were derived from products manufactured fdwuthird parties, as compared
with 31% for fiscal 2010 and 35% for fiscal 200%eTincrease in fiscal 2011 was primarily attriblgtaio increased sales of LC Beads, a
product which we will no longer distribute after &enber 31, 2011. We intend to manufacture moreymtsdn-house to lower product costs
and increase profitability. In 2002 and 2006, wpanded our manufacturing facility in QueensburywNéork, to provide us with additional
manufacturing capacity and to accommodate additi@sgarch, development and administrative requérém

In July 2009, we entered into an agreement to lads®500 square foot office building in LathamuNéork to house our corporate
headquarters and certain business operations. Wmeaced occupancy of the facility in March 2010.

Our ability to increase our profitability will depd in large part on improving gross profit margiRactors such as changes in our
product mix, new technologies and unforeseen griessures may cause our margins to grow at a skateethan we have anticipated or to
decline.
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Recent Developments
CEO Transitions

Subsequent to May 31, 2011, on June 13, 2011, weeezhinto a Separation Agreement with our thesiBemt and Chief Executive
Officer that provided, among other things, for mpusum payment in the amount of $930,811 (subgeapplicable withholdings and
deductions) and continuation of health benefitsafperiod of up to 24 months. Expenses associatédivis Separation Agreement will be
accrued in our fiscal 2012 first quarter results.

FDA Warning Lette

On January 24, 2011 we received a warning letten fthe U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FD AT connection with our
marketing of the NanoKnife System. In the warnietgdr the FDA states that certain statements weemaduding those on our company
website, promote the use of the NanoKnife Systeyoie its currently cleared indications.

The warning letter does not restrict or prohibé #ale or marketing of our products nor does itiirequs to recall any products. We take
these matters seriously and are committed to cangplyith all applicable laws, rules and regulatiomgonnection with the marketing and
sale of our products. While we believe we have babyresponsive to the matters raised by the FB#&he warning letter, there can be no
assurance that the FDA will be satisfied with asponse. Therefore, we may be subject to additiegailatory action by the FDA, and any
such actions could significantly disrupt our busgand operations and have a material adverse fropawr financial position and results of
operations. It is also possible that other fedatake or foreign enforcement authorities mighetaktion if they consider promotional or
training materials to constitute promotion of ampproved use, which could result in significanefiror penalties under other statutory
authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claforseimbursement. The warning letter is postednenFDA’s website at www.fda.g@and is
available for viewing.

Establishment of AngioDynamics Netherlands

In February 2011, we entered into an agreementauithdistributor in the Netherlands to terminate ioternational distribution
agreement, to purchase relevant business asseéts) aacure their assistance in transferring custoeiationships to AngioDynamics. As a
result, we have established a direct sales operatid a business office in the Netherlands in atzsare with our international growth
strategy.

Expiration of our Distribution Agreement AmendmientLC Beac

We sell the embolization product, LC Bead, purstar Supply and Distribution Agreement with Bioqmatibles UK Limited, now
BTG PLC, which grants us exclusive distributiorhtigto the product in the United States. The ages¢nvas entered into in 2006 and has
been amended four times, most recently in Marct®20kxtend distribution rights until December 3@11. We do not expect the agreement
to be amended again and, accordingly, we will istridute LC Beads after December 31, 2011.

Acquisition of FlowMedica, Inc

On January 12, 2009, we completed the acquisitiaeitain assets of FlowMedica, Inc. for approxiehat1.75 million in cash and a
contingent payment based on fiscal 2011 salesafMedica products. The contingent payment of $7@8\Was included in accrued
liabilities and intangible assets on the balaneesht May 31, 2011 and was paid in July 2011. \tHih acquisition, we purchased the
Benephit product line, a therapeutic approach tivetedrugs directly to the kidneys in order toyeat and treat acute kidney injury, in the
emerging field of Targeted Renal Therapy. Intargyddsets acquired totaled approximately $2.1 millibich have been identified as product
technologies (10-year weighted average useful lifejentory acquired
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totaled approximately $400,000. The acquisitiontieen accounted for as a purchase and, accordimglizave included the results of
operations in the financial statements effectiveuday 12, 2009. The pro-forma effects of the adtjaiswere not material to our income
statement and balance sheet. Ten employees of Favelsl Inc. became employees upon completion oditlyeisition.

Company Reorganization

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofm@pions as three reportable segments: Periphasdar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20fE combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldpiment and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology /Surgeryngsg continues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigriedPrior periods have been recast for
net sales and gross profit for this new reportingcsure.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summarizeNote A to our consolidated financial statementfuded elsewhere in this annual
report on Form 1@<. While all these significant accounting policiféect the reporting of our financial condition am$ults of operations, v
view certain of these policies as critical. Pokctetermined to be critical are those policies izat the most significant impact on our
financial statements and require us to use a grdatgee of judgment and/or estimates. Actual tesaby differ from those estimates. The
accounting policies identified as critical are alows:

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue in accordance with generatiggted accounting principles as outlined in th€'SRuthoritative guidance on
revenue recognition which requires that four basiteria be met before revenue can be recognizege(suasive evidence that an
arrangement exists; (ii) the price is fixed or deti@able; (iii) collectibility is reasonably assdreand (iv) product delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered. Decisions relatiggteyion (iii) regarding collectibility are basegbon our judgments, as discussed under
“Accounts Receivable” below, and should conditichange in the future and cause us to determinetitésion is not met; our results of
operations may be affected. We recognize revereiefrsales taxes assessed by any governmentalrigytias products are shipped, based
on F.O.B. shipping point terms when title and @$koss passes to customers. We negotiate shigpidgredit terms on a customer-by-
customer basis and products are shipped at ancagpes price. All product returns must be pmproved by us and customers may be su
to a 20% restocking charge. To be accepted, anedysroduct must be unadulterated, undamaged amdabdeast 12 months remaining prior
to its expiration date.

We chose to early adopt, effective with the thiududer of fiscal 2010, updated authoritative guafor revenue recognition relating to
the accounting treatment for revenue arrangemabatsrivolve more than one deliverable or unit afamting. At the same time, we also
adopted the updated guidance relating to certaienuge arrangements that include software elemieither of these had a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements.

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable, principally trade, are gergidilie within 30 to 90 days and are stated at arsodure from customers, net of an
allowance for sales returns and doubtful accoWes perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custsrand adjust credit limits based upon
payment history and the customer’s current credifwoess, as determined by a review of their curceadit information. We continuously
monitor aging
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reports, collections and payments from customerd naaintain a provision for estimated credit lods@sed upon our historical experience
any specific customer collection issues that wetifle While such credit losses have historicalgeh within our expectations and the
provisions established, we cannot guarantee tieatdme credit loss rates will be experienced ifuhee. We write off accounts receivable
when they are determined to be uncollectible. ismaf years 2011, 2010 and 2009, our write offaatfounts receivable have been
insignificant.

Income Taxe

In preparing our financial statements, we calculateme tax expense for each jurisdiction in whighoperate. This involves estimat
actual current taxes due plus assessing tempoiffeyethces arising from differing treatment for tamd accounting purposes that are recordec
as deferred tax assets and liabilities. We peralljievaluate deferred tax assets, capital losyfmawards and tax credit carryforwards to
determine their recoverability based primarily am ability to generate future taxable income angitehgains. Where their recovery is not
likely, we estimate a valuation allowance and rda@corresponding additional tax expense in odestant of operations. If actual results
differ from our estimates due to changes in assiomptthe provision for income taxes could be niallgraffected. As of May 31, 2011, our
valuation allowance and net deferred tax asset eygpeoximately $1.1 million and $8.7 million, respieely. The deferred tax asset includes
$42.4 million of Federal net operating loss carryiards and $25.9 million of state net operating loarryforwards remaining from the RITA
acquisition. These losses could be significanthitiéd under Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Secti82.30ur analysis of RITA’s ownership
changes as defined in IRC Section 382 shows thabapnately $8.7 million of remaining Federal ngeoating losses and $11.8 million of
remaining state net operating losses will expifergo utilization. The gross deferred tax asskttesl to the net operating losses reflects this
limitation.

We need to generate approximately $2.8 millioragible income in each year over the next twelvesygaensure the realizability of
our deferred tax assets. We have determined thatwe sufficient existing levels of pre-tax earming generate sufficient taxable income to
realize the net deferred tax assets recorded ohalance sheets.

In order to support the realizability of our nefeteed tax asset, we projected our parincome utilizing a combination of historicalc
projected results. Utilizing this projected pre-tagome, we have projected taxable income takibg donsideration existing levels of
permanent differences including stock option exsercieductions and non-deductible expenses anéikesal of significant temporary
differences.

Our Federal net operating loss carryforwards ddaf 31, 2011, after considering IRC Section 384thtions, are $33.7 million. The
expiration of the Federal net operating loss camyérds are as follows: $23.9 million between 28hd 2021 and $9.8 million between 2022
and 2023.

Our state net operating loss carryforwards as of Blg 2011 after considering remaining IRC Sec8868 limitations are $14.1 million
which expire in various years from 2012 to 2026.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. Federalgdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictiom the normal course of business
are subject to examination by taxing authoritiesuighout the world. The Internal Revenue Servit®$") completed an examination of our
Federal income tax returns for fiscal years 20062007 in February 2009 which did not result inaenial impact on our results of
operations or financial position. New York Stateuisrently conducting an examination of our New K 8tate Franchise Tax returns for fis
years 2005 to 2009. Fiscal years 2008 through 2&thin open to examination by the various tax aittes. We analyzed filing positions
all of the Federal and state jurisdictions whereangerequired to file income taxes, as well agpdin tax years in these jurisdictions and
believe that our income tax filing positions andldetions will be sustained on audit and we do m¢itgate any adjustments will result in a
material adverse effect on our financial conditi@sults of operations or cash flows.
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We do not anticipate that the amount of unrecoghiag benefits will significantly change in the nhéwxelve months.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (atdaed cost which approximates the first-in, first-method) or market. On a quarterly
basis, we review inventory quantities on hand aralyae the provision for excess and obsolete irorgritased primarily on product
expiration dating and our estimated sales foregdsth is based on sales history, and anticipaiagé demand. Our estimates of future
product demand may not be accurate and we may statkor overstate the provision required for exea®l obsolete inventory. According
any significant unanticipated changes in demandddoave a significant impact on the value of oweintory and results of operations. As of
May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009, oseree for excess and obsolete inventory was $20024$2,201,000 and $3,074,000,
respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipme

We state property, plant and equipment at cost,desumulated depreciation, and depreciate thes¢sassing the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives. We determins Haised on our estimates of the period over whietassets will generate revenue. We
evaluate these assets for impairment annually ohasges in circumstances or the occurrence oftegeiggest the remaining value is not
recoverable. Any change in condition that wouldseaus to change our estimate of the useful livesgybup or class of assets may result in
an impairment and/or significantly affect depreiciatexpense on a prospective basis.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortest their estimated useful lives, which rangenveenn three and nineteen years, on
either a straight-line basis over the expectedopesf benefit or as revenues are earned from tles séthe related products. We periodically
review the estimated useful lives of our intangisets and review such assets for impairment wheeeents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the assets n@ybe recoverable. Our determination of impairnigiiased on estimates of future cash
flows. If an intangible asset is considered torbpdired, the amount of the impairment will equa& é&xcess of the carrying value over the fair
value of the asset.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are not amortized, but rather, aséet for impairment annually or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise. Noneoof intangible assets have an indefinite life. Geitildepresents the excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the net tangible asehtifiable intangible assets acquired in eachrimssi combination. Goodwill and intangible
assets have been recorded at either incurredomaddld cost. Allocated costs were based on regpdeir market values at the date of
acquisition.

For goodwill, the impairment test requires a corigear of the estimated fair value of the reportimd to which the goodwill is assignt
to the sum of the carrying value of the assetsliabdities of that unit. If the sum of the carrgivalue of the assets and liabilities of a
reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the rapgrtnit, the carrying value of the reporting usigioodwill is reduced to its implied fair value
through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, Iteguin an impairment charge. Our determinationngpairment is based on estimates of
future cash flows.

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofrgpions as three reportable segments: Periphasdwar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20t combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldgieent and sales and marketing
personnel
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assigned to it. The Oncology/Surgery segment coasinio be responsible for RF Ablation, embolizatléabib and NanoKnife product lines
and has dedicated research and development arsdasmlenarketing personnel assigned to it.

To determine fair value, we considered two marlastenl approaches and an income approach. Undematttetabased approaches, we
utilized information regarding our own as well asficly available industry information to determiaarnings multiples and sales multiples.
Under the income approach, we determined fair vaased on estimated future cash flows of each tiegaunit, discounted by an estimated
weighted-average cost of capital, which reflecesdlierall level of inherent risk of a reporting tuaind the rate of return an outside investor
would expect to earn. We determined the discoucdsth flow as the best indicator to determine falue.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitisigmental in nature and requires the use of sigmifi estimates and assumptions,
including revenue growth rates, operating margirs;ount rates and future market conditions, anathgrs. Solely for purposes of
establishing inputs for the fair value calculations assumed that the current economic conditianddvcontinue through fiscal year 2012,
followed by a recovery thereafter. In addition, agplied gross margin assumptions consistent witth@torical trends at various revenue
levels and used an EBITDA exit multiple of 6.0 &h@ to calculate the terminal value of the Vascata Oncology/Surgery reporting units,
respectively, which was also consistent with thierpyear. In addition, we used a discount rate8foland 20% to calculate the fair value of
our Vascular and Oncology/Surgery reporting uméspectively. Discount rates of 21%, 15% and 18%ewised in the prior year for the
Peripheral Vascular, Access and Oncology/Surgespectively.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment testédyyorting unit as of December 31, 2010. At Decan®ie 2010, our reporting
units were the same as our reportable segmentsléféemined our reporting units in accordance wAISB accounting guidance. Our
assessment of goodwill impairment indicated thatf#tir value of each of our reporting units excekitie carrying value and therefore
goodwill in each of the reporting units was not airpd. The fair value of Vascular and Oncology/®uygexceeded its carrying value by 4%
and 13%, respectively. The sum of the fair valudeh® reporting units was reconciled to our curmmatket capitalization (based upon our
stock price) plus an estimated control premiumpgfraximately 9% as of December 31, 2010.

In addition, as a result of the decision to terrtérthe LC Beads distribution contract in Decemt#ri?and our revised expectations of
the segment, we performed an interim goodwill impaint test on the Oncology/Surgery segment as af 3@, 2011. Significant
assumptions included an EBITDA exit multiple of To0calculate the terminal value of the Oncologyé@uy reporting unit, which was
consistent with previous valuations. In additior, wsed a discount rate 22.5% to calculate thesédire compared to 20% in the December
valuation. Our assessment of goodwill impairmedtdated that the fair value of the reporting uniceeded its carrying value by 14% and
therefore goodwill was not impaired.

Since early November 2008, our stock market capéttibn has at times been lower than our sharehsildguity or book value.
However, our reporting units have continued to gateesignificant cash flow from their operationsdave expect that they will continue to
so in fiscal 2012 and beyond. Furthermore, givenrdatively small difference between our stock@m@and our book value per share, we
believe that a reasonable potential buyer wouldradfcontrol premium for our business that wouldcaditely cover the difference between
our trading prices and our book value.

We test goodwill for impairment during the thirdagter of every fiscal year, and when an event acoucircumstances change such
that it is reasonably possible that impairmenttexiSven though we determined that there was ndwitlampairment as of December 31,
2010, the future occurrence of a potential indicafdmpairment, such as a significant adverse gkén legal factors or business climate, an
adverse action or assessment by a regulator, eigatéd competition, a material negative changelationships with significant
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customers, strategic decisions made in responseotoomic or competitive conditions, loss of keyspanel or a more-likely-than-not
expectation that a reporting unit or a significpottion of a reporting unit will be sold or dispdsef, would require an interim assessment for
some or all of the reporting units prior to the nequired annual assessment as of December 31, 201

It is not possible at this time to determine if augeh future impairment charge would result ott, dfoes, whether such charge would be
material. Events that could, in the future, reguitmpairment include, but are not limited to, ghlgrdeclining sales for a significant product
in a significant geographic region.

During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011, we ntadalecision to not continue development of the tded.ightport technology
resulting in an impairment charge of $4.2 milliohigh affected our Vascular intangible balance.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize compensation expense for all sharedqasyment awards made to our employees and disantduding employee stock
options and employee stock purchases related t8tmek Purchase Plan based on estimated fair vahiesecognize compensation expense
for our stock awards on a straight-line basis ¢lierequisite service periods of the awards, whiaenerally the vesting period.

For 2011, stock based compensation was $4.6 mprertax ($2.9 million after tax, or $0.12 per ¢id share). For 2010, stock based
compensation was $4.9 million pre-tax ($3.1 millafter tax, or $0.13 per diluted share). For 2G08¢ck based compensation was $5.8
million pre-tax ($3.7 million after tax, or $0.1®pdiluted share).

Under the provisions of the guidance adopted, vpeeixto recognize the following future expenseaiwards granted prior to May 31,
2011

Weighted-

Average
Remaining

Unrecognized

Compensatior Vesting

Period
Cost (in years)
Stock options $5,101,08! 2.11
Non-vested stock awarc 3,545,48 2.6t
$8,646,56 2.2€

Unrecognized compensation cost for stock optiomsasented net of 9.8% assumed annual forfeitures.

The amount of stock-based compensation recognizkdsed on the value of the portion of awardsatatltimately expected to vest.
Guidance requires forfeitures to be estimatedetithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in sylxset periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. The term “forfeitures” ididist from “cancellations” or “expirations” and megsents only the unvested portion of the
surrendered option. We currently expect, basechamalysis of our historical forfeitures, that appmately 90.2% of our options will vest
annually, and we have therefore applied a 9.8% arfoufeiture rate in determining the stock-basethpensation charge recorded. We will
re-evaluate this estimate periodically and adjustforfeiture rate on a prospective basis as napgddltimately, the actual expense
recognized over the vesting period will only be ttoose shares that actually vest.

For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2011, May 31028hd May 31, 2009, we used the Black-Scholeswogiricing model (“Black-
Scholes”) as our method of valuation and a singteoa award approach. This fair value is then aipetton a straight-line basis over the
requisite service periods of the awards, which is

44



Table of Contents

generally the vesting period. The fair value ofrslaased payment awards on the date of the gralgtasmined by the Black-Scholes model
is affected by our stock price as well as otheuaggions. These assumptions include, but are miteld to the expected stock price volatility
over the term of the awards, actual and projectepl@yee stock option exercise behaviors, and afreskinterest rate. The risk-free interest
rate is based on factual data derived from pulblicees. The expected stock-price volatility andaplife assumptions require significant
judgment which makes them critical accounting estes.

Prior to fiscal 2009, due to our limited publictois/, we considered historical volatility and trendithin our industry/peer group when
estimating expected stock price volatility. Begmmiwvith fiscal 2009, we began to utilize our higtal volatility when estimating expected
stock price volatility. We use yield rates on UT&asury securities for a period approximatingekpected term of the award to estimate the
risk-free interest rate. The expected term is basediphistorical forfeiture rates. The dividend yiédbased on the history and expectatic

dividend payments. We have not paid dividends égast nor do we expect to pay dividends in thesieeable future. Our historical data

includes information from May 27, 2004, the dateof initial public offering.

Results of Operations

Our operating results for fiscal 2011, 2010 and®afe expressed as a percentage of total netisales following table.

Years ended

May 31, 201 May 31, 201( May 31, 200¢
Net sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sale: 41.7% 41.2% 38.4%
Gross profit 58.5% 58.8% 61.€%
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 9.% 8.€% 9.2%
Sales and marketir 26.% 28.2% 29.6%
General and administrati 8.2% 7.€% 9.8%
Amortization of intangible: 4.3% 4.4% 4.7%
Other non recurring expen 3.2% 0.C% 0.C%
Total operating expens 52.71% 49.1% 53.5%
Operating incom: 5.5% 9.7% 8.2%
Other (expenses) incon
Interest incom 0.2% 0.2% 0.8%
Interest expens (0.2%) (0.2%) (0.4%)
Other (expense) incon (0.7%) (0.€%) (0.9%)
Total other (expenses) income, (0.€%) (0.€%) (0.£%)
Income before income tax provisi 5.C% 9.1% 7.8%
Income tax provisiol 1.2% 3.4% 2.7%
Net income 3.8% 5.7% 5.1%

For fiscal 2011, we reported net income of $8.1iam| or $0.32 per diluted common share, on netsaf $215.8 million, compared
with net income of $12.3 million, or $0.50 per ddd common share, on net sales of $216.0 millichénprior fiscal year. The fiscal 2011
results include, in other non —recurring items4%8illion of impairment charges related to our dami to not continue development of the
Medron Lightport technology and the write down @frfros prepaid royalties due to lower than antieipaales. Gross profit was 58.3% in

the fiscal 2011 and 58.8% in the prior year.
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To conform to the fiscal 2010 presentation, fis2@09 results above include reclassifications madedude strategic business unit
management in marketing costs. The reclassificatieaulted in an increase in marketing costs ateteease in general and administrative
costs of $1 million, or 0.5%, in fiscal 2009.

In July 2009, we entered into an agreement to Jdas@ ten year period plus 2 five year renewdians, a 52,500 square foot office
building in Latham, New York to house our corporagadquarters and certain business operations oimenced occupancy of the facility
in March 2010. The lease provides for annual ré®857,321 for the first five years and $943,05dtfe next five years, plus the payment of
customary building operating expenses. The leasgm@ncement date was March 1, 2010.

On January 20, 2009, we entered into an Employmgrdement and Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreemagtit our then chief
executive officer that provided, among other thjrfgs a transition to a new chief executive officéhe transition was completed in the third
quarter of fiscal 2009. We recorded a provisiofigoal 2009 of approximately $2.9 million in ourrggal and administrative expenses for
costs associated with the aforementioned Employmgreaement and Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreena@ult costs associated with the
recruitment of our new chief executive officer. Tdaxrued liability for the CEO transition on thel@&e Sheet was $1 million at May 31,
2009 and $0 on May 31, 2010. The 2009 resultsiatdnde approximately $600,000 for the write-offasthitectural, design and planning
costs associated with a project to build an offality in Queensbury, New York. The project wasicelled upon the decision to lease office
space in Latham, New York.

For 2011, 2010 and 2009, we were able to use rertitipg losses (“NOLs”) accumulated by RITA to effthe amount of cash we paid
for Federal and state income taxes. The cash hemefiunted to approximately $3.2 million, $7.6 moilland $6.7 million for the years ended
May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009, retbpelg. Under purchase accounting rules, we arélento use acquired NOLS to offset
our provision for income taxes in the statementspefrations.

Fiscal years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010

Net sales Net sales are derived from the sale of our prodastrelated freight charges, less discounts amiaed sales returns and
allowances. Net sales for fiscal 2011 of $215.8iomlwere essentially flat compared to fiscal 2049€16% growth in Oncology/Surgery se
was offset by 6% decline in Vascular sales andnfaogeographic perspective, 16% growth in inteomati sales was offset by 2% decline in
U.S. sales.

From a reportable segment perspective, Vasculas skdcreased 6% to $149.5 million from $159.2 anilliThis decrease is primarily
attributable to 4% lower average selling price¥ascular products and decreased unit sales ofsiliayoducts, Vortex ports and Benephit
renal infusion products, partially offset by incsed unit sales of Venacure EVLT procedure kitsyonéccess sets and SmartPort products.
Oncology/Surgery sales were $66.2 million, an inseeof 16% over the prior year primarily due ta@ased unit sales of our LC Beads and
Nanoknife products and a 2% increase in averadiege@lrices, partially offset by decreased uniesadf Habib resection devices and
Ablation products. Nanoknife sales totaled $7.3ianilin fiscal 2011 compared with $2.5 million iisd¢al 2010.

From a geographic perspective, U.S. sales decréas@dnillion or 2% in fiscal 2011 to $188.9 millidrom $192.9 million a year ago.
This decrease is primarily attributable to a 3%rdase in average selling prices and decreasedalai of dialysis products, Vortex ports,
Benephit renal infusion products, RF Ablation produand Habib resection devices partially offseiroyeased unit sales of LC Beads and
Nanoknife products. International sales were $26ilBon in fiscal 2011, an increase of 16% from $2#&illion in fiscal 2010. Increased ui
sales of Nanoknife and RF Ablation products congatithe majority of this increase.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of net sales less the cogbofls sold, which includes the costs of materfaisducts purchased fro
third parties and sold by us, manufacturing persgnoyalties, freight,
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business insurance, depreciation of property angetent and other manufacturing overhead. Our goos#t as a percentage of sales was
58.3% in fiscal 2011 compared with 58.8% for thieipyear period. The decrease in gross profit pgege was primarily attributable to 4%
lower average selling prices for Vascular products.

Research and development expenseResearch and development (“R&D”) expenses includ#scto develop new products, enhance
existing products, validate new and enhanced ptsduotanage clinical, regulatory and medical affaird our intellectual property. R&D
expenses increased by $2.1 million, or 11%, to4#iillion in fiscal 2011 compared to the prior ye@ne increase is primarily due to
increased development, clinical and regulatory agpe for our Oncology/Surgery products and inciebpsecess engineering costs for our
Vascular products. As a percentage of net sale§) B€penses were 9.9% for fiscal 2011, compared 8BPo for fiscal 2010.

Sales and marketing expensesSales and marketing (“S&M”) expenses consist prilpaf salaries, commissions, travel and related
business expenses, attendance at medical societyngg product promotions and samples. S&M expedsereased $2.8 million or 5% to
$58.1 million in fiscal 2011 compared to $60.9 ioill in fiscal 2010. This decrease is primarily dodower sales compensation costs and
marketing costs in the U.S. This was partially effsy increased International sales expenses &®lstr our International sales force,
including the establishment of a direct sales effit The Netherlands. As a percentage of net s&&§ expenses were 26.9% for fiscal 2(
compared with 28.2% for the prior year.

General and administrative expensesGeneral and administrative (“G&A”) expenses inclsidlee cost of executive management,
finance, accounting, legal, human resources amdrirdgtion technology and the administrative andgssional costs associated with those
activities. G&A expenses increased $1.4 million8%s, to $17.8 million in fiscal 2011 compared te firior year primarily due to increased
costs associated with the Latham, NY facility, exgian of our business development function ancetsgnnel and other infrastructure costs
to support our growth. G&A expenses increased 38680f net sales compared with 7.6% in the prioryea

Amortization of intangibles . Amortization of intangibles was $9.2 million ind&l 2011 compared to $9.5 million in the prior year

Other non recurring items . Other non-recurring items totaled $7.2 millionigchl 2011 and primarily included $6.4 million in
impairment charges related to our decision to natinue development of the Medron Lightport teclaggl and the write down of Centros
prepaid royalties due to lower than anticipateésal

Operating income .Operating income was $12.0 million for fiscal 2&impared to $20.9 million in the prior year. Aseagentage of
sales, operating income for fiscal 2011 declinefl.596 compared with 9.7% in the prior year.

Other income (expenses)Yther income and expenses for fiscal 2011 was Billidn of net expense, or 0.6% of net sales, cstesit
with the prior year.

Income taxes Our effective tax rate was 24% for fiscal 2011 canegl with 37% for the prior year. The current yede reflects the
benefit of the retroactive renewal of the R&D tamdit that expired in December 2009, state taxitgeohd an increase in the Domestic
Production Activities Deduction.

During the fiscal third quarter of 2011, the TaxiBe Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization, astal Greation Act of 2010 was
enacted and retroactively extended the researdit érem January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2011. Hysslation led to a prior period tax
benefit in fiscal 2011 of $161,000 for the reseanadit generated from January 1, 2010 to May 8102

Net income .For fiscal 2011, we reported net income of $8.1iam| compared with $12.3 million in the prior year
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Investment in Nanoknife Technology The financial results of our Nanoknife program @eeorded in our Oncology/Surgery division.
Taking into account the sales and related cosalebsand operating expenses, the net impact oiinthéstment in fiscal 2011 was $4.7 million
on pretax income and $3.6 million or ($0.14) parshafter tax, compared with a $9.1 million impawtpretax income and $5.8 million or
($0.23) per share after tax impact in fiscal 2010.

Fiscal years ended May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009

Net salesNet sales are derived from the sale of our prodaistsrelated freight charges, less discounts amdnse Net sales for fiscal
2010 increased by 11%, or $20.9 million, to $2X@ilion from $195.1 million in fiscal 2009. The gath in net sales was primarily
attributable to increased unit sales of LC Beads)aCure EVLT procedure kits, Nanoknife generatags@obes, Benephit renal infusion
products and RF electrodes, partially offset bgeréase in unit sales of infusion sets.

From a segment perspective, Vascular sales inadféeto $159.2 million from $150.3 million. Thiscirease was driven primarily by
increased sales of VenaCure EVLT procedure kiteeBhit renal infusion products and increased wéssof dialysis, PICC and port
products partially offset by decreased unit safésfasion sets and a 5% decline in average sefliices of certain Vascular products.
Oncology/Surgery sales were $56.9 million, an inseeof 27% over the prior year results of $44.8ionilprimarily due to increased unit sa
of our LC Beads, Nanoknife generators and probdsRinelectrodes. Nanoknife sales totaled $2.5onilin fiscal 2010.

From a geographical perspective, US sales incregks@d million or 11% in fiscal 2010 to $192.9 naiti from $173.4 million a year
ago. This increase is primarily attributable tor@ased unit sales of LC Beads, Venacure EVLT pnaeekits, Benephit renal infusion
products and Nanoknife generators partially offsed decrease in unit sales of infusion sets. hatéwnal sales were $23.1 million in fiscal
2010, up 7% from $21.7 million in fiscal 2009. leased unit sales of RF electrodes, RF generatdrether RF devices comprised the
majority of this increase.

Gross profit. Gross profit consists of net sales less the cogbofls sold, which includes the costs of matergisducts purchased fro
third parties and sold by us, manufacturing persgnoyalties, freight, business insurance, dept@si of property and equipment and other
manufacturing overhead. Our gross profit as a peage of sales decreased to 58.8% for fiscal 2l 61.6% for fiscal 2009. The decrease
in gross profit percentage was primarily due todowaverage selling prices for Vascular productstagter material costs for certain Vasci
products partially offset by higher average sellimiges for Oncology/Surgery products.

Research and development expenseResearch and development (“R&D”) expenses includtscto develop new products, enhance
existing products, validate new and enhanced ptsdotanage clinical and regulatory affairs andiotellectual property. R&D expenses
increased by $1.4 million, or 8%, to $19.3 milliorfiscal 2010. The increase is primarily due te tost of development of new Access
products and increased spending on clinical aets/itAs a percentage of net sales, R&D expenses 88% for fiscal 2010, compared with
9.2% for the prior year period. $7.3 million wagspon NanoKnife R&D activities in fiscal 2010. May 31, 2010, we employed 83 people
in R&D activities compared with 81 people at thel ef fiscal 2009.

Sales and marketing expensesSales and marketing (“S&M”) expenses consist prilpaf salaries, commissions, travel and related
business expenses, attendance at medical societynge product promotions and samples. S&M expemszeased $3.1 million or 5% to
$60.9 million in fiscal 2010. This increase is pairfy due to increased marketing activities for Yenacure EVLT and Benephit renal
infusion products and NanoKnife marketing actiati#hese increased costs were partially offsebtwet spending on marketing programs
and trade show activities. As a percentage of alessS&M expenses were 28.2% for fiscal 2010, @ragbwith 29.6% for fiscal 2009. $1.9
million was spent on NanoKnife sales and marketiaiyities in fiscal 2010. At May 31, 2010, we ewyed 196 people in sales and
marketing activities compared with 201 people a wem.
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General and administrative expensedseneral and administrative (“G&A”) expenses inclsidee cost of executive management,
finance, accounting, legal, human resources amdnrdtion technology and the administrative andgssibnal costs associated with those
activities. G&A expenses decreased $2.7 milliorl4%o, to $16.4 million in fiscal 2010 due to indlrsin the prior year period of $3.7
million of CEO transition costs and the write offaychitectural, planning and design costs assediaftith a cancelled project to build office
space in Queensbury, New York, partially offsefrmreased personnel and other infrastructure ¢ostepport our growth. Exclusive of the
costs in the prior year, G&A expenses decreas@db¥h of net sales in fiscal 2010 as compared t#rBthe prior year. This improvement
was gained by aggressive cost management. As of3#1a2010, we employed 59 people in general andrasimative activities compared
with 56 people a year ago.

Amortization of intangibles . Amortization of intangibles increased $337,000igcdl 2010 compared with the prior year, primadle
to amortization of Vascular intangibles. Amortizatiof NanoKnife intangibles was $1.7 million inda 2010.

Operating income.Operating income was $20.9 million and $16.1 millfor fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. As a patage of
sales, operating income for 2010 was 9.7% compaitd8.3% in the prior year or 10.2%, exclusivettod CEO transition costs.

Other income (expenses)ther income and expenses for fiscal 2010 incresedpense of $1.3 million compared with experfse o
$1.0 million in the prior year. This increase igarily attributable to reduced interest incomeassult of lower investment rates on cash
marketable securities, partially offset by redutméign exchange losses and reduced losses oneaashrate swap.

Income taxes.Our provision for income taxes increased $2.1 onillin fiscal 2010, to $7.3 million from $5.2 miltidn fiscal 2009. Our
effective tax rate was 37.2% in fiscal 2010 and%4lin fiscal 2009. The reinstatement of the presipexpired R&D tax credit reduced our
fiscal 2009 effective tax rate by 1.4% which waditide to the 1.7% reduction related to fiscal 2608D credits, amounting to a total
effective rate reduction of 3.1% in fiscal 2009isTtredit expired again on December 31, 2009 arslnearenewed until the third quarter of
2011. Accordingly fiscal year 2010 includes thdizdation of this credit only until its expiratiorate which amounted to a reduction in our
2010 effective rate of 1.1%. Additionally duringZ@Dour non-U.S. préax loss negatively impacted our effective tax iatel.1% compared
fiscal year 2009 during which our non-U.S. preiteoome created an effective tax rate benefit o%.8010 federal income tax payments
were reduced by $7.6 million through the utilizatiaf net operating losses acquired as a resufteoRITA acquisition compared with $6.7
million in 2009.

Net income .For fiscal 2010, we reported net income of $12.ani, an increase of $2.4 million from net incowe$9.9 million in
fiscal 2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Summary of cash flows (in thousands):
May 31, 201 May 31, 204( May 31, 200¢

(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used ir

Operating activitite: $ 33,87( $ 39,95¢ $ 19,94
Investing activities (48,620) (22,777 (15,699
Financing activitite: 1,922 2,71¢ (8,266
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casyaénts 49 (46) (109)
Net change in cash and cash equival $ (12,779 $ 30,85¢ $ (413)
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During the past three years, we have financed perations primarily through cash flow from operaioAt May 31, 2011, $131.5
million or 30% of our assets consisted of cashh eapiivalents and marketable securities. Marketséxderities are comprised of U.S.
government issued or guaranteed securities, cagpbomds and auctiomte securities. Our current ratio was 7.6 to thwet working capite
of $168.8 million at May 31, 2011, compared witbuarent ratio of 6.6 to 1, with net working capitdl$145.3 million, at May 31, 2010. At
May 31, 2011, total debt was $6.6 million compriséghort and long-term bank debt issued in tharfaing of our facility expansions in
Queensbury, New York compared with total debt aB$6illion at May 31, 2010 for the same obligations

We generated cash flow from operations of $33.%ianibn net income of $8.1 million for fiscal 2013ignificant non-cash expenses
affecting net income included depreciation and airation of $12.6 million, $6.4 million of impairmé charges for Medron Lightport and
Centros technology and stock-based compensati§d.6fmillion. Significant cash provided by operatiactivities included a decrease in
accounts receivable of $2.8 million and a decr@ageventories of $1.5 million. The decrease in@aats receivable reflects continued
successful management of credit and collectionsgeses combined with consistent revenues. Theake inventories is primarily due to
continued improvement in supply chain managemems& decreases in accounts receivables and inie=ntegre partially offset by
increased accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

For fiscal 2011, our investing activities used ceeth of $48.6 million, primarily as a result of perchases of marketable securities and
available-for-sale short term investments. We aisole equipment purchases and building improventetatng $3.0 million, including
completing the furnishing of the new facility intham, New York and improvements to the existinglitées in Queensbury, New York and
Manchester, Georgia. Additionally, we used cashteracquisition of intangible assets and busireesE&1.1 million in fiscal 2011 while the
prior year included the final purchase price paynoé$5.0 million related to the Oncobionic acgti@i. Financing activities added net cash
of $1.9 million for fiscal 2011. This primarily ceists of the proceeds from the exercise of stotlog and issuances under the employee
stock purchase plan.

In fiscal 2003, we financed an expansion of ourdige@arters and manufacturing facility with indudtrevenue bonds for $3.5 million.
To secure this financing, we entered into agreeswith local municipalities, a bank, a trustee anmémarketing agent. These agreements are
referred to as the IDA agreements. The proceetisedfonds were advanced as construction occurtrezlb®nds reprice every seven days
are resold by a Remarketing Agent. The bonds eardst based on the market rate on the date thdskave repriced and require quarterly
principal payments ranging from $25,000 to $65,p3 accrued interest through May 2022. We enteredan interest rate swap with a b
to convert the initial variable rate payments fixad interest rate of 4.45% per annum. The IDAeggnents contain financial covenants
relating to fixed charge coverage and interest @me The outstanding debt is collateralized sttt of credit ($2.1 million at May 31,
2011) and a first mortgage on the land, buildind aqguipment representing our facility in Queenshiigw York and we are required to pay
an annual fee ranging from 1.0% to 1.9% of thetantiing balance depending on our financial restilig. current fee is 1.75% and is in
effect until August 24, 2011.

In fiscal 2007, we financed the expansion of ouralkause and manufacturing facility in QueensbugywN ork. The expansion was
financed principally with taxable adjustable ratgéas (the “Notes”) issued by us aggregating $5@D, The Notes were issued under a trust
agreement by and between us and a bank, as t(tlste8 rustee”). In connection with the issuancehaf Notes, we entered into a letter of
credit and reimbursement agreement (the “Reimbuzaémgreement”) with the Bank that requires thentexiance of a letter of credit to
support principal and certain interest paymentsherNotes and requires payment of an annual féaeeoutstanding balance. The current fee
is 1.75% and is in effect until December 2011. We &ntered into a remarketing agreement, purgoamhich the remarketing agent is
required to use its best efforts to arrange faessaf the Notes in the secondary market. In comeatith this financing, we entered into an
interest rate swap agreement (the “2006 Swap Agea€nwith the Bank, effective December 2006, vathinitial notional amount of
$5,000,000, to limit the effect of variability dt@interest rates on the rollover of the Notes. Z8@6 Swap Agreement is a contract to
exchange floating interest rate payments for fixeerest payments periodically
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over the life of the agreement without the exchamigge underlying notional amounts. The 2006 S¥gpeement requires us to pay a fixed
rate of 5.06% and receive payments based on 3Q&YR repriced every seven days through Decemb#620he Reimbursement
Agreement contains certain financial covenantgirgjao fixed charge coverage and interest coverageefined. Amounts borrowed under
the Reimbursement Agreement are collateralizedhbyaforementioned letter of credit and all of cgseds. The debt covenants and the
collateralization of substantially all of our asst secure these financings may restrict ourtghidi obtain debt financing in the future.

In connection with the acquisition of RITA on Janua9, 2007, we assumed subordinated Senior CabkeeNotes (the “Convertible
Note¢”) with an aggregate principal amount of $9.7 roifli These notes matured and were paid in full duigcal 2009.

On May 9, 2008, we completed the acquisition offedlissued and outstanding shares of capital stb€ncobionic, Inc. pursuant to 1
terms of a stock purchase agreement entered inactober 12, 2006. The closing of the acquisitiame as a result of the successful use of
low energy direct current ablation technology ia finst human clinical trial for the treatment ofistissue in April 2008. Under the stock
purchase agreement, we agreed to pay a total meghree of $25.4 million, including $400,000 ofased liabilities. We made a paymer
$5.0 million upon the execution of the stock pusghagreement in October 2006. We paid $10.0 midioiMay 9, 2008 upon the closing of
the acquisition, $5.0 million in November 2008, &#%d0 million in November 2009.

On June 17, 2008, we completed the acquisitioredhin U.S. assets of Diomed, Inc. and UK asseBiaied UK Limited, in separate
transactions, for an aggregate purchase pricembapnately $11.1 million in cash including capitald acquisition costs. The total of the net
tangible assets acquired was $5.5 million. Goodwitbrded as a result of these acquisitions waapately $1.9 million. Intangibles
assets acquired, other than goodwill, totaled apprately $3.7 million.

On January 12, 2009, we completed the acquisitiaeitain assets of FlowMedica, Inc. for approxiehat1.75 million in cash and a
contingent payment based on fiscal 2011 salesafMedica products. The contingent payment of $7@8\0as included in fiscal 2011
accrued liabilities and was paid in July 2011.

In July 2009, we entered into an agreement to |das@ ten year period plus two five year reneaglions, a 52,500 square foot office
building in Latham, New York to house our corporagadquarters and certain business operations.oimenced occupancy of the facility
in March 2010. The lease provides for annual ré8887,321 for the first five years and $943,05dtfe next five years, plus the payment of
customary building operating expenses. The leasemancement date was March 1, 2010.

In July 2010, we entered into an agreement to extiea lease for our Manchester facility until A@0, 2013. The agreement terms are
for an annual rent of $189,560 representing no ghdrom the previous terms.

Our contractual obligations as of May 31, 2011sateforth in the table below (in thousands). Weehaw variable interest entities or
other off-balance sheet obligations.

Cash Payments Due By Period as of May 31, 2011

Less thar After 5
Total One Yeal 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years
Contractual Obligations:
Long term debt and intere $ 8,871 58€ 1,222 1,25¢ 5,80z
Operating Leases(: 9,61¢ 1,63¢ 2,52( 1,92( 3,53¢
Purchase Obligations(. 12,07¢ 6,121 5,95¢ 0 0
$30,56¢ $ 8,347 $9,70( $3,17¢ $9,33¢

(1) The non-cancelable operating leases and inieptachase obligations are not reflected on omsobtidated balance sheet under
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates of Americi
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We believe that our current cash and investmetnoals and cash generated from operations will geostfficient liquidity to meet our
anticipated needs for capital for at least the A@nonths. However, if we seek to make signifi@aguisitions of other businesses or
technologies, we may require additional financMie cannot be assured that such financing will tzlae on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the FASB updated the revenue réttog accounting guidance relating to the accauntreatment for revenue
arrangements that involve more than one deliverablait of accounting. The updated guidance alloarspanies to allocate arrangement
considerations in multiple deliverable arrangemémes manner that better reflects the economith@transaction by revising certain
thresholds for separation and providing criteriaditocation of revenue among deliverables. Theatgd guidance is effective for
arrangements entered into in fiscal years beginamgr after June 15, 2010 (our 2012 fiscal ydar),may be adopted early. We have chosen
early adoption effective with the third quarteronir fiscal 2010 year. The adoption had no mateffaict on our consolidated financial
statements.

In October 2009, the FASB updated the accountindagee relating to certain revenue arrangementsriblude software elements. 1
updated guidance clarifies the accounting for petglthat include both tangible product and softvedeenents. This amendment is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010 @2 fiscal year), but companies are requireditpithese amendments in the same period
as the amendments relating to revenue arrangertienttivolve more than one deliverable or unit@af@unting. We have therefore adopted
the amendment effective with the third quarter wf fiscal 2010 year. The adoption had no mateffaceon our consolidated financial
statements.

In January 2010, the FASB updated the disclosupeimements for fair value measurements. The updatathnce requires companies
to disclose separately the investments that tramsfend out of Levels 1 and 2 and the reasonghfuse transfers. Additionally, in the
reconciliation for fair value measurements usirggiicant unobservable inputs (Level 3), compasiesuld present separately information
about purchases, sales, issuances and settlembkatapdated guidance was effective for annual atgdtim reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2009 (our 2011 fiscal first quartexgept for the disclosures about purchases, sasegnces and settlements in the Level 3
reconciliation, which are effective for fiscal yedreginning after December 15, 2010 (our 2012 ffigear). We have provided the additional
disclosures necessary for Levels 1 and 2 trankfmesn.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accountiidpgce relating to the annual goodwill impairmest. The updated guidance
requires companies to perform the second stepeafpairment test to measure the amount of impaitdoss, if any, when it is more likely
than not that a goodwill impairment exists whend¢heying amount of a reporting unit is zero ora@ge. In considering whether it is more
likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, antity shall evaluate whether there are adversétgtive factors. The updated guidance is
effective beginning in our fiscal 2012 year. Theptibn of this guidance is not expected to haveatenal impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accountimipgce relating to the disclosure of supplemenpaoyforma information for
business combinations. The updated guidance rexqcir@panies to provide additional comparative pron financial information along wi
the nature and amount of any material nonrecuphogorma adjustments related to the business auatibn. The updated guidance is
effective for business combinations which have @ugsition date in fiscal years beginning on oeafdbecember 15, 2010 (our 2012 fiscal
year). The adoption of this guidance is not expkttehave a material impact on our consolidatedrfamal statement:

In May 2011, the FASB updated the accounting guidaelated to fair value measurements. The updatithnce results in a consist
definition of fair value and common requirementsrfieasurement of and disclosure about fair valteden U.S. GAAP and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The
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updated guidance is effective for interim and ahpegaods beginning after December 15, 2011 (thetfoquarter of our fiscal year 2012). '
are currently evaluating the impact of adoptiorhig accounting guidance on our consolidated fir@rstatements.

In June 2011, the FASB updated the disclosure reaugnts for comprehensive income. The updated goéeequires companies to
disclose the total of comprehensive income, thepmmants of net income, and the components of atbraprehensive income either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive inconie two separate but consecutive statementsupbated guidance does not affect |
earnings per share is calculated or presenteduptiated guidance is effective for interim and ahpe&ods beginning after December 15,
2011 (the fourth quarter of our fiscal 2012). We anrrently evaluating the impact of adoption @ #thccounting guidance on our consolidi
financial statements.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk.

We are exposed to market risk from changes inésteates on investments and financing that caunjzhtt our results of operations and
financial position. Although we have entered initerest rate swaps with a bank to limit our expegarinterest rate change on our variable
interest rate financings, we do not currently emgiagany other hedging or market risk managemenisto

At May 31, 2011, we maintained variable interegt fnancing of $6.6 million in connection with ofacility expansions. We have
limited our exposure to interest rate risk by e@ngginto interest rate swap agreements with a hamer which we agreed to pay the bank
fixed annual interest rate payments of 4.45% afi@%.and the bank assumed our variable interest @atyabligations under the financing.

Nearly all of our sales have historically been damated in United States dollars. Although not gigant, in late fiscal 2007 we began
to make sales in other currencies, particularlyBbe, GB pound and Canadian dollar. Approxima#éty of our sales in fiscal 2011 were
denominated in currencies other than the US dgitamarily the Euro and GB pound. We currently haweesignificant direct foreign curren
exchange risk and such risk in the future is exqubtd be modest.

Our excess cash is invested in highly liquid, siemn, investment grade securities with maturiigmarily of less than two years.
These investments are not held for speculativeadlirtg purposes. Changes in interest rates magtdffe investment income we earn on ¢
cash equivalents and marketable securities andftreraffect our cash flows and results of openati®e hold investments in auction rate
securities (“ARS") in order to generate higher tiygrical money market investments. ARS typicallg high credit quality, generally
achieved with municipal bond insurance. Creditgiake eased by the historical track record of bosdrers, which back a majority of this
market. Sell orders for any security traded throaglauction process could exceed bids. Such insteare usually the result of a drastic
deterioration of issuer credit quality. Should thbe a failed auction, we may be unable to ligeidair position in the securities in the near
term. We have $1.85 million in investments in tweton rate securities issued by New York statelandl government authorities that have
failed auctions. The authorities are current inrtleerest payments on the securities.

We are party to legal actions that arise in thénany course of business as described in Note P.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

Financial statements and supplementary data refjhiréart 11, ltem 8 are included in Part IV ofg¢heport as indexed at Item 15 (a) 1
and 2, and are incorporated by reference intoltdis 8.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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ltem 9A. Controls and Procedure
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this repmut, management, under the supervision and witlpangcipation of our Interim Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officexaluated the effectiveness of the design and tiperaf our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) of the SiesiExchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based orevaduation, the Interim Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officemcluded that our disclosure controls and procedaseof the end of the period covered by
this report are functioning effectively to provideasonable assurance that the information reqtored disclosed by us (including our
consolidated subsidiaries) in reports filed untier $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedc@ded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commiss®niles and forms and is accumulated and commual
to management, including our Interim Chief Execait@fficer and Chief Financial Officer, as approtito allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairftial reporting in the fiscal year ended May&111 that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, our imel control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting for our company.
Internal control over financial reporting is defthia Rules 13a-15(f) and 15k5(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchangeofd934, a:
amended, as a process designed by, or under teevgipn of, our principal executive and princifiabncial officers and effected by our
board of directors, management and other persotmptovide reasonable assurance regarding trabildly of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with accounting principleegaly accepted in the United States and
includes those policies and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that in regtsle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of our
assets

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@led as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in accordar
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States, and that our receipts and experdifare being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshina@mbers of our board of directors; ¢

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Our management has assessed the effectivenessiafaraal control over financial reporting as o&i31, 2011. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfotlle Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework.

Based on its assessment and this criteria, sutojeloe foregoing, management believes that we miaied effective internal control ov
financial reporting as of May 31, 2011.
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Our independent registered public accounting fiam issued an attestation report on the effectiwoksur internal control over
financial reporting. That report appears on page 51

ltem 9B.  Other Information
None
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Part Il

Certain information required by Part Ill is omitt&dm this annual report on Form ¥0Obecause we will file a definitive proxy statem
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal yearspant to Regulation 14A (the “Proxy Statementft)dar annual meeting of Stockholders,
currently scheduled for October 17, 2011. The imfaiion included in the Proxy Statement under tBpeetive headings noted below is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

Information required in this annual report on FdriK with respect to Executive Officers is contalrie the discussion titled
“Executive Officers of the Company” in Part | ofgtannual report on Form 10-K. The balance of tiiermation required by Item 10 is
incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy 8tate under the heading “Election of Directors”.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by Item 11 is incorporakexiein by reference to our Proxy Statement urfdeheading “Executive
Compensation”.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahMbBnagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information required by this caption is incaigted herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeti¢uthe heading “Ownership of
Securities”.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this caption is incaiged herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeteuthe heading “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions”.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this caption is incaigged herein by reference to our Proxy Statemeti¢uthe headings “Audit Matters—
Principal Accounting Fees and Services and—PolityAndit Committee Pre-approval of Audit and PernbikesNon-Audit Services of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.

56



Table of Contents

Part IV

ltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a)(2) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements andplementary data of Registrant and its subsediaequired by Part Il, Item 8, are
included in Part IV of this report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm 61
Consolidated statements of operat—Years ended May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and MayGQ9 62
Consolidated balance she—May 31, 2011 and May 31, 20: 63
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity@mdprehensive income (loss)—Years ended May 311 2day 31, 2010 and

May 31, 200¢ 64
Consolidated statements of cash fl—Years ended May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and MayYGQ@9 65
Notes to consolidated financial stateme 67

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
The following consolidated financial statement stifie is included in Part IV of this report:

Schedule —Valuation and qualifying accoun 98

All other schedules are omitted because they arapmicable, or not required, or because the redunformation is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

2.1 Master Separation and Distribution Agreement, ¢iffecas of May 2004, between E-Z-EM, Inc. and Afjaamics, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thepany’s registration statement on Form S-1/Aedfilvith the Commission on
May 12, 2004)

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 12, 2@0énd between AngioDynamics, Inc., Oncobionic, bred the shareholders
of Oncobionic, Inc. (incorporated by reference hibit 2.1 of the Company’s quarterly report on fat0-Q, filed with the
Commission on January 11, 200

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of NoveraBe2006, by and among AngioDynamics, Inc., RoyalLlC and RITA
Medical Systems, Inc. (incorporated by referencAnnex A of the Company’s Registration StatemenFomm S-4, filed with the
Commission on December 8, 200

2.4 Amendment No. 1, dated December 7, 2006, to theé&gent and Plan of Merger, dated as of Novembe2@, by and among
AngioDynamics, Inc., Royal I, LLC and RITA Medic&lstems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Annex the Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-4, filed with the Commission on December 8, 20!

2.t Amendment No. 2, dated January 16, 2007, to theégent and Plan of Merger, dated as of Novembe2(@1g, by and among
AngioDynamics, Inc., Royal I, LLC and RITA Medic@ystems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ext@Hitof the Company’s
current report on Form-K, filed with the Commission on January 16, 20(

2.€ Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 9, 200&nd between Diomed Holdings, Inc. and Dionted.,, as sellers and
AngioDynamics, Inc., as Buyer (We agree to furdsthe Commission, upon request, a copy of eaclbixb this Asset Purcha
Agreement)

2.7 Sale of the Business and Assets of Diomed Limite@dministration), dated April 10, 2008, by andvieen AngioDynamics, Inc

Diomed Limited (in administration) and Steve Law @ministrator) (We agree to furnish to the Consiois, upon request, a cc
of each exhibit to this Stock Purchase Agreem
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3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatincofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the @amy’s quarterly report o
Form 1(-Q, filed with the Commission on October 7, 20(

Amended and Restated By-laws (incorporated by eefsr to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s quarterly rejpm Form 10-Q, filed
with the Commission on October 7, 20C

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 26, 2004, betwierwioDynamics, Inc. and Registrar & Transfer Compaas Rights Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of trepany’s registration statement on Form 8-A, fikdth the Commission on
October 27, 2004

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and RightSeries A Preferred Stock of AngioDynamics, Ificcorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.3 of the Compar’'s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on November 28, 20(

Trust Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2002, Redatt the Multi-Mode Variable Rate Industrial Demeinent Revenue Bonds,
Series 2002 issued by the Counties of Warren anshifigton Industrial Development Agency in the aggte principal amount
of $3,500,00 (incorporated by reference to ExHibitl2 of the Company’s registration statement omF8-1, filed with the
Commission on March 5, 200¢

Counties of Warren and Washington Industrial Depelent Agency Multi-Mode Variable Rate Industria@®pment Revenue
Bond—AngioDynamics, Inc. Project—Letter of CredécBred, Series 2002, having a maturity Date of Atudu2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of @@mpany’s registration statement on Form S-1, filétth the Commission on
March 5, 2004)

Except as set forth in Exhibits 4.3 and 4.4 abtive jnstruments defining the rights of holdersarfg-term debt securities of the
Company and its subsidiaries have been omittedaivee to furnish to the Commission, upon requesbpg of each instrument
with respect to issuances of long term debt ofGhmpany and its subsidiarie

AngioDynamics, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, as askeeinby the Board and Shareholders on February®@#4 @ncorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Comp's registration statement on Fori-1, filed on March 5, 2004

AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and Incentive AwRtdn (incorporated by reference to Appendix B ef @ompany’s
definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, fildthwhe Commission on September 9, 20!

AngioDynamics, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Placofiporated by reference to Appendix A of the Comyfmdefinitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the @assion on September 3, 201

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement puréua the AngioDynamics, Inc. Stock and Incentiweakd Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of th@v@any’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q, filed witte Commission on
October 12, 2004

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement pursigattie AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and Incenfiveard Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of th@any’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with tGemmission on May 12,
2005).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuaithé AngioDynamics, Inc. 2004 Stock and Incenfiveard Plan
(incorporated by reference to the Comy’s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on May 12, 200

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 1994 Incentive StockRlacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 ofaRMedical Systems
registration statement on Forr-1, filed with the Commission on May 3, 20(

Horizon Medical Products, Inc. 1998 Stock Incenfiten (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.fHorizon Medical
Product’ registration statement on Forr-1, filed with the Commission on February 13, 1€
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10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12.1

10.12.2

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2000 Stock Plan (incompexd by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Rita MediBgbktems registration
statement on Form-1/A, filed with the Commission on June 14, 20(

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2000 Directors’ StocarRlas amended on June 8, 2005 (incorporated éserafe to Exhibit 99.2
of Rita Medical Syste’s registration statement on Fori-8, filed with the Commission on July 8, 200

Rita Medical Systems, Inc. 2005 Stock and Incerfilan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. Raé& Medical System’s
registration statement on Forr-8, filed with the Commission on July 8, 200

Form of Indemnification Agreement of AngioDynamitss. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.thef Company’s
current report on Form-K, filed with the Commission on May 12, 200

Form of Severance Agreement of AngioDynamics, (imzorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of th@many’s current
report on form -K, filed with the Commission on October 31, 20(

Form of Severance Agreement of AngioDynamics, (mzorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of th@many’s current
report on form -K, filed with the Commission on January 8, 20(

Building Loan Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2@32and between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Keybantiddal Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of @@mpany’s registration statement on Form S-1, filéth the Commission on
March 5, 2004)

Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of Augug002, from Counties of Warren and Washingtatustrial
Development Agency, as Issuer, and AngioDynamius, tb Keybank National Association for the holdefshe Issuer’s
Multimode Variable Rate Industrial Development Reve Bonds (incorporated by reference to Exhibil 1@f the Company’s
registration statement on Forr-1, filed with the Commission on March 5, 200

Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of Augusd@22by and between Counties of Warren and Wasbinigidustrial
Development Agency and AngioDynamics, Inc. (incogbed by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Compamgyistration
statement on Form-1, filed with the Commission on March 5, 20C

Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of August 1,,200and between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Keybantdwal
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibitls of the Company’s registration statement omF8r1, filed with the
Commission on March 5, 200¢

First Amendment to the Reimbursement Agreemengddas of December 29, 2003, by and between Angiayes, Inc. and
Keybank National Association (incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s registratatement on Form §-
filed with the Commission on March 5, 200

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of Decembel0b, B§ and between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Keyl@apital Markets
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of @@mpany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed witle t@ommission on
August 14, 2008)

Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of DecemberOB, 2§ and between AngioDynamics, Inc. and Keylidatonal
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit1® of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10ikedfwith the
Commission on August 14, 200

Offer Letter for the Chief Executive Officer, datéanuary 19, 2009 (incorporated by reference tatiixh0.1 of the Company’
current report on Form-K, filed with the Commission on January 23, 20(

Form of Change in Control Agreement (incorporatgddierence to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s curmeport on Form 8-K,
filed with the Commission on May 19, 201
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10.22

10.2¢

10.24

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27
10.2¢
10.2¢
10.3C
10.31

14

21
23
311
31.2
32.1

32.2

Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, by and betweagi@dDynamics, Inc. and Jan Keltjens, dated Janli@y®009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of tt@any’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with tBemmission on
January 23, 2009

Restricted Stock Agreement, by and between Angi@yios, Inc. and Jan Keltjens, dated January 19 #i@0orporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Comp'’s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on January 23, 20(

Employment Agreement, by and between AngioDynanties,and Eamonn Hobbs, dated January 20, 2006rfincated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Comp'’s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on January 23, 20(

Consulting Agreement, by and between AngioDynaniits,and Eamonn Hobbs, dated January 20, 2006rfincated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Comp'’s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on January 23, 20(

Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, by and betweegidDynamics, Inc. and Eamonn Hobbs, dated Jar2@rg2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of th@m®any’s current report on Form 8-K, filed with tBemmission on January
23, 2009)

AngioDynamics, Inc. Fiscal Year 2011 Senior ExegutCash Incentive Progral
AngioDynamics, Inc. Fiscal Year 2011 Senior ExesutEquity Incentive Prograr
AngioDynamics, Inc. Fiscal Year 2012 Senior ExeautCash Incentive Progral
AngioDynamics, Inc. Fiscal Year 2012 Senior ExaauEquity Incentive Prograr

Separation and General Release, by and betweemBygamics, Inc. and Jan Keltjens, dated June 1B] Zidcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp'’s current report on Forn-K, filed with the Commission on June 14, 201

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Extiliof the Company’s current report on Form 8ikedfwith the Commission
on May 12, 2006)

Subsidiaries

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an indepemegistered public accounting firi
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Purstito Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursiiao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Purstito 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursua8tttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Purstido 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursua8ettion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{(g)¢(&sent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of AngioDynamics,. and its Subsidiaries at May 31, 2011 and Mby2810, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedlyears in the period ended May 31, 2011 in camifgrwith accounting principles genera
accepted in the United States of America. In addjtin our opinion, the financial statement schedisted in the index appearing under
Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material resgs, the information set forth therein when readanjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Camp maintained, in all material respects, effectiternal control over financial reporting
of May 31, 2011, based on criteria establishelhiernal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Thmpany’s management is responsible for thesadial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective imacontrol over financial reporting and for itsassment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in I1té&3A under Management’s Report on Internal Contr@rdvinancial Reporting.

Our responsibility is to express opinions on th@sencial statements, on the financial statemehéduale, and on the Companryihterna
control over financial reporting based on our inéégd audits. We conducted our audits in accordasitbethe standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Statéhpse standards require that we plan and perfoenatidits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemeatises of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audits of the financial statements includedh@ring, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fiahstatements, assessing the accounting prirscyled and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financééstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordka@r financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dgaincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectivenéggernal control based on the assessed risk.aDdits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the dtanoes. We believe that our audits provide a redse basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and(idyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Albany, New York
August 12, 2011
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales
Cost of sale:
Gross profit
Operating expenst
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy
Amortization of intangible:
Other non recurring iterr
Total operating expens
Operating incom:
Other (expenses) incon
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Other expens
Total other (expenses) income,
Income before income tax provisi
Income tax provisiol
Net income
Earnings per shal
Basic

Diluted

Basic weighted average shares outstan
Diluted weighted average shares outstan

(in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2011 2010 2009

$215,75( $216,03! $195,05:-
90,04 89,06¢ 74,98¢
125,70 126,96¢ 120,06!
21,37: 19,27¢ 17,91«
58,12 60,92: 57,797
17,82¢ 16,43; 19,12«
9,23¢ 9,46: 9,12¢

7,182 — —
113,74( 106,09¢ 103,96:
11,96: 20,87: 16,10¢
737 71% 1,55¢
(49¢) (672) (731)
(1,507 (1,297 (1,780)
(1,26%) (1,257) (952)
10,69¢ 19,61¢ 15,15
2,581 7,307 5,22(
$ 8,117 $ 12,31 $ 9,93:
$ 0.3: $ 0.5C $ 0.4]
$ 0.32 $ 0.5C $ 0.41
24,87( 24,58( 24,36:
25,13: 24,78 24,51

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securities, at fair val
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable siex
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $485$6&B, respectivel
Inventories
Deferred income taxe
Prepaid expenses and otl
Total current asse
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMEN-AT COST, ne!
OTHER ASSETS
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, ne
GOODWILL
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, long ter
PREPAID ROYALTIES
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS '’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of lon-term debt
Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM DEBT, net of current portic
Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, 5,000:B8res authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding
Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 45,00688fes authorized; issued and outstanding
24,985,657 and 24,747,145 shares, respect
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Total stockholdel' equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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May 31, 201" May 31, 201(
$ 45,98 $ 58,76:
85,55¢ 41,31
131,54; 100,07-
27,14: 29,83¢
28,12¢ 29,21¢
2,821 5,281
4,67t 6,951
194,30 171,36(
23,80« 24,19:
2,82¢ 2,557
48,03 58,35:
161,95 161,97
5,83¢ 2,521

66€ 2,96.

$ 437,42 $ 423,92!
$ 11,39 $ 12,04
13,84: 13,72:
27¢F 26C
25,507 26,02¢
6,27¢ 6,55(
31,78: 32,57¢
25C 247
371,39 365,34
35,26¢ 27,15:
(1,279 (1,394)
405,63 391,34
$ 437,42 $ 423,92!
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Balance at May 31, 2008
Net Income
Exercise of stock optior
Tax effect of exercise of stock optio
Issuance of performance shares,
Purchase of common stock under Employee Stock BeecRlar
Stocl-based compensatic
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, netxobfeb52
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap, net of f&46
Foreign Currency Translatic
Comprehensive incorr

Balance at May 31, 20(C
Net Income
Exercise of stock optior
Tax effect of exercise of stock optio
Issuance of performance shares,
Purchase of common stock under Employee Stock BeecRlar
Stoclk-based compensatic
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, netxbfe582
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap, net of f&3¢
Foreign Currency Translatic

Comprehensive inconm

Balance at May 31, 201
Net Income
Exercise of stock optior
Tax effect of exercise of stock optio
Issuance of performance shares,
Purchase of common stock under Employee Stock BeecRlar
Stocl-based compensatic
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, netxbfe515
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap, net of e
Foreign Currency Translatic

Comprehensive incomnr
Balance at May 31, 201

AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
Years ended May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010, and May 2009

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional other
Retainec comprehensive Comprehensive
paid in
Shares Amount capital earnings loss Total income
24,268,26 $ 24z $ 350,59¢ $ 4,90¢ $ (36)  $355,71!
9,93 9,932 $ 9,93:
63,50t 2 681 682
(145) (145)
3,501 4) (4)
92,931 1,091 1,091
5,792 5,79:
88 88 88
(79) (79 (79)
(87¢) (876) (87¢)
$ 9,06
24,428,20 $ 24t $ 358,01 $ 14,84( $ (905)  $372,19:
12,31: 12,31 $ 12,31:
172,37 1 1,72¢ 1,724
(366) (366)
32,08( (55) (55)
114,47¢ 1 1,15z 1,152
4,87¢ 4,87¢
(140) (140) (140)
(5 ©) (5
(344) (349 (344)
24,747,14 $ 247 $ 365,34« $ 27,15: $ (1,399 $391,34¢
8,117 8,117 $ 8,117
106,85¢ 1 97€ 977
(639) (639)
46,727 1 1
84,927 1 1,10¢ 1,10¢
4,60¢ 4,60¢
(26) (26) (26)
3 3 3
144 144 144
$ 8%
24,985,65 $  25C $ 371,39 $ 35,26¢ $ (1,279  $405,63¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfinancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $ 8,117 $ 12,31 $ 9,93C
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 12,57¢ 12,45¢ 11,81
Amortization of bond discour 52 68 247
Tax effect of exercise of stock options and isseasfqerformance shar (747) (529 (149
Deferred income tax provisic (840) 5,871 4,26
Changes in allowance for excess and obsolete iae (77) (879) 258
Stock based compensati 4,60¢ 4,87¢ 5,79:¢
Imputed interes — 152 252
Changes in AR allowanct (73 (44) 167
Litigation provisions, ne — — (6,757
Write off of building planning cosi — — 604
Unrealized loss from foreign exchan (1049 (307) —
Gain (loss) on impairment of intangible as: 6,41( — —
Other 55 57 93
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nehpact from acquisitions
Accounts receivabl 2,77(C (2,619 351
Inventories 1,49¢ 8,30z (20,537
Prepaid expenses and otl 2,05(C (1,307 (1,020
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (2,432) 1,522 5,56¢
Income taxes payab — — (939
Net cash provided by operating activit 33,87( 39,95¢ 19,94:
Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property, plant and equipmi (2,95%) (5,047) (4,367)
Acquisition of intangible assets and businessphetsh acquire (1,08¢) (5,417 (17,079
Other cash flows from investing activiti (182) — 68
Purchases of marketable securi (168,479 (42,436 (33,989
Proceeds from sale or maturity of marketable stes 124,08: 41,117 39,65¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (48,62() (11,777 (15,699
Cash flows from financing activitie
Repayment of lor-term debt (260 (265) (10,040
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and E 2,08( 2,87t 1,77¢
Tax effect of the exercise of stock options andasge of performance shal 10z 10¢ —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 1,92 2,71¢ (8,26¢)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadnts 49 (46) (109§)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi (22,779 30,85¢ (4,137
Cash and cash equivalel
Beginning of yea 58,76: 27,90¢ 32,04(
End of yeal $ 45,98/ $ 58,76: $ 27,90¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—(Continued)
(in thousands)

Years ended

May 31, May 31, May 31,
2011 2010 2009
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid during the period fc
Interest $ 47¢ $ 452 $ 612
Income taxe: 82¢ 4,56: 2,25(
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash operating, investing and financing activit
Contractual obligations in acquisition of intangibland busines $1,90¢ $ — $ 35C

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010

NOTE A—BASIS OF PRESENTATION, BUSINESS DESCRIPTIONAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

1. Basis of Presentation, Business Description éReécent Events

The consolidated financial statements include tu®ants of AngioDynamics, Inc. and its wholly owrmbsidiaries, RITA Medical
Systems, LLC, AngioDynamics UK Limited since Jurte 2008 and AngioDynamics Netherlands B. V. sinebriary 2, 2011 (collectively,
the “Company”). All intercompany balances and teantions have been eliminated. To conform to theafi2010 presentation, fiscal 2009
results include reclassifications made to inclutedosts of strategic business unit managemenéiketing costs. The reclassifications
resulted in an increase in marketing costs andceedse in general and administrative costs of 100D in fiscal 2009. We are primarily
engaged in the design, development, manufacturenamkleting of medical products used in minimallyasive, image-guided procedures to
treat peripheral vascular disease, or PVD, and lmoeology therapy options for treating cancer|udig radiofrequency ablation, or RFA,
systems, NanoKnife Ablation Systems, surgical résesystems and embolization products for trealiegign and malignant tumors.

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results oérgpions as three reportable segments: Periphasduar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20t combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldgieent and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology /Surgeryngsg continues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigried to

Our chief operating decision maker evaluates perémce based on the reportable segments and utiitesales, gross profit and
operating income as primary profitability measuiése expenses related to certain shared and coepactvities are allocated to these
segments on a percentage of total sales basieoatopy expenses basis as deemed appropriate.

We have performed an evaluation of subsequent eterdugh the date the financial statements weret

CEO Transition

Subsequent to May 31, 2011, on June 13, 2011, teeezhinto a Separation Agreement with our thesiBemt and Chief Executive
Officer that provided, among other things, for mpusum payment in the amount of $930,811 (subgeapplicable withholdings and
deductions) and continuation of health benefitsafperiod of up to 24 months. Expenses associatédivis Separation Agreement will be
accrued in our fiscal 2012 first quarter results.

FDA Warning Letter

On January 24, 2011 we received a warning letten fthe U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FD AT connection with our
marketing of the NanoKnife System. In the warnietgdr the FDA states that certain statements weemiaduding those on our company
website, promote the use of the NanoKnife Systeyoie its currently cleared indications.
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The warning letter does not restrict or prohibé #ale or marketing of our products nor does tiirequs to recall any products. We take
these matters seriously and are committed to caniplyith all applicable laws, rules and regulatiomgonnection with the marketing and
sale of our products. While we believe we have babyresponsive to the matters raised by the FB&e warning letter, there can be no
assurance that the FDA will be satisfied with asponse. Therefore, we may be subject to additiegailatory action by the FDA, and any
such actions could significantly disrupt our busmand operations and have a material adverse iropar financial position and results of
operations. It is also possible that other fedatake or foreign enforcement authorities mighetaktion if they consider promotional or
training materials to constitute promotion of ampproved use, which could result in significanefror penalties under other statutory
authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claforseimbursement. The warning letter is postednenFDA’s website at www.fda.g@and is
available for viewing.

Establishment of AngioDynamics Netherlands BV

In February 2011, we entered into an agreementouittdistributor in the Netherlands to terminate ioternational distribution
agreement, to purchase relevant business assets a@ecure their assistance in transferring custoelationships to AngioDynamics. As a
result, we have established a direct sales operatid a business office in the Netherlands in atzsare with our international growth
strategy.

Expiration of our Distribution Agreement AmendmimtLC Bead

We sell the embolization product, LC Bead, purstart Supply and Distribution Agreement with Bioqmatibles UK Limited, now
BTG PLC, which grants us exclusive distributiorhtigto the product in the United States. The ages¢nvas entered into in 2006 and has
been amended four times, most recently in Marct®20k xtend distribution rights until December 2Q11. We do not expect the agreement
to be amended again and, accordingly, we will nstridute LC Beads in the U.S. after December 31,12

Acquisition of FlowMedica, Inc.

On January 12, 2009 we completed the acquisitiaedhin assets of FlowMedica, Inc. for approxirtya$d..75 million in cash and a
contingent payment based on fiscal 2011 salesavfledica products. The contingent payment of $7@80as included in accrued
liabilities and intangible assets on the balaneesht May 31, 2011 and was paid in July 2011 nlyitde assets acquired totaled
approximately $2.1 million and inventory acquiretbted approximately $400,000. (See Note C.)

2. Fiscal Year

Beginning with fiscal 2008, we report on a fiscahy ending May 31. Prior to fiscal 2008, we repibda a fiscal year that concluded on
the Saturday nearest to May 31.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all unrestricted highly liquid investiteepurchased with an initial maturity of less thlaree months to be cash equivalents.
We maintain cash and cash equivalent balancesfiwihcial institutions in the United States in ese®f amounts insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation.

4. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities, which are principally gowvaemt agency bonds, auction rate investments anmbe commercial paper, are
classified as “available-for-sale securities” it@alance with authoritative
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guidance issued by FASB and are reported at faieyavith unrealized gains and losses excluded foperations and reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoss), net of the related tax effects, in stod#trs’ equity. Cost is determined using
the specific identification method. We hold investits in auction rate securities in order to geednaher than typical money market rate
investment returns. Auction rate securities typjcate high credit quality, generally achieved witlinicipal bond insurance. Credit risks are
eased by the historical track record of bond insunghich back a majority of this market. Sell agdfor any security traded through an
auction process could exceed bids and, in suclsctseauction fails and we may be unable to ligigdur position in the securities in the
near term. During fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 20@9had $1.85 million in investments in two auctrate securities issued by New York
state and local government authorities that fedlections. The authorities are current in theirregepayments on the securities.

5. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, principally trade, are gergidilie within 30 to 90 days and are stated at arsodue from customers, net of an
allowance for sales returns and doubtful accoWies perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custsrand adjust credit limits based upon
payment history and the customer’s current credifwoess, as determined by a review of their curceadit information. We continuously
monitor aging reports, collections and paymentsfoustomers, and a provision for estimated cregids is maintained based upon our
historical experience and any specific customedectibn issues that have been identified. Whilehseredit losses have historically been
within our expectations and the provisions establis we cannot guarantee that the same creditdtss will be experienced in the future.
write off accounts receivable when they are deteeahito be uncollectible.

6. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (atdated cost, which approximates the first-in, fiost-method) or market. Appropriate
consideration is given to deterioration, obsoleseeand other factors in evaluating net realizablae:.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cast,dccumulated depreciation. Depreciation is ceadpusing the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Vdkiate these assets for impairment annually ehasges in circumstances or the occurre
of events suggest the remaining value is not raete. Expenditures for repairs and maintenancelzeged to expense as incurred.
Renewals and betterments are capitalized.

8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortest their estimated useful lives, which rangenveenn three and nineteen years, on
either a straight-line basis over the expectedopesf benefit or as revenues are earned from tles sathe related products. We periodically
review the estimated useful lives of our intangidsets and review such assets for impairment wieegents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the assets n@ybe recoverable. Our determination of impairnigiiased on estimates of future cash
flows. If an intangible asset is considered torbpdired, the amount of the impairment will equ& é&xcess of the carrying value over the fair
value of the asset.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are not amortized, but rather, aséet for impairment annually or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise. Noneooif intangible assets have an
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indefinite life. Goodwill represents the excesshaf purchase price over the fair value of the aegible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired in each business combination. Goodwilliatahgible assets have been recorded at eitherraa or allocated cost. Allocated costs
were based on respective fair market values afdke of acquisition.

For goodwill, the impairment test requires a corigear of the estimated fair value of the reportimd to which the goodwill is assignt
to the sum of the carrying value of the assetsliabdities of that unit. If the sum of the carrgivalue of the assets and liabilities of a
reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the repgrunit, the carrying value of the reporting usigioodwill is reduced to its implied fair value
through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, Itegpin an impairment charge. Our determinationngpairment is based on estimates of
future cash flows. We test goodwill for impairmeloiring the third quarter of every fiscal year, armfrequently if impairment indicators
arise. Events that could, in the future, resultipairment include, but are not limited to, shargéclining sales for a significant product or in
a significant geographic region.

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofm@pions as three reportable segments: Periphasdar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20t combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldplment and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology/Surgery segicontinues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigried to

As a result of the decision to terminate the LCd&edistribution contract in December 2011, we pened a goodwill impairment test
on the Oncology/Surgery segment as of April 30,1284sed on our revised expectations of the seg@emtassessment of goodwill
impairment indicated that the fair value of theawimg unit exceeded its carrying value and therefpodwill was not impaired. (See Note
G)

During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011, we ntadalecision to not continue development of the tded.ightport technology
resulting in an impairment charge, included in otten-recurring items, of $4.2 million which affedtour Vascular intangible balance.

9. Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with generatig@ted accounting principles as outlined in th€'SEuthoritative guidance on
revenue recognition which requires that four basiteria be met before revenue can be recognizepge(suasive evidence that an
arrangement exists; (ii) the price is fixed or deti@able; (iii) collectibility is reasonably assdreand (iv) product delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered. Decisions relatigatarion (iii) regarding collectibility are basegbon our judgments, as discussed under
“Accounts Receivable” above, and should conditicimange in the future and cause us to determinetitésion is not met, our results of
operations may be affected. We recognize revereifrsales taxes assessed by any governmentalrigyitlas products are shipped, based
on F.O.B. shipping point terms when title and @$koss passes to customers. We negotiate shigpidgredit terms on a customer-by-
customer basis and products are shipped at ancagpes price. All product returns must be ppproved by us and customers may be su
to a 20% restocking charge. To be accepted, anedysroduct must be unadulterated, undamaged amdabdeast 12 months remaining prior
to its expiration date.

We have chosen to early adopt, effective with tieltquarter of fiscal 2010, updated authoritatjugdance for revenue recognition
relating to the accounting treatment for revenuarggements that involve more
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than one deliverable or unit of accounting. At ¢slame time, we also adopted the updated guidaretingeto certain revenue arrangements
that include software elements. Neither of theskamaterial effect on our consolidated finandiatesments.

10. Research and Development

Research and development costs, including salaesulting fees, building costs, utilities, adratritive expenses, patent application
costs, and an allocation of corporate costs asewlto developing new products, enhancing exigiiegucts, validating new and enhanced
products and managing clinical, regulatory and iwediffairs and our intellectual property and argemsed as incurred.

11. Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs, associated with thgildution of finished products to customers, @®orded in costs of goods sold and
are recognized when the related finished produstiisped to the customer. Amounts charged to cuat®for shipping are recorded in net
sales.

12. Advertising

All costs associated with advertisement are exgkasencurred. Advertising expense, included iesaind marketing expense was
$1,191,000, $1,281,000 and $909,000 for fiscal 28010 and 2009, respectively.

13. Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempatdfgrences between financial statement and inctaméases of assets and liabilit
and loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwdodsvhich income tax benefits are expected todadized in future years. A valuation
allowance has been established to reduce defexxeabstets, if it is more likely than not that alsome portion, of such deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The effect on deferred tagea change in tax rates is recognized in incomaerperiod which includes the enactment
date. The deferred tax asset includes net operiatasgs acquired as part of the RITA acquisitidrese losses could be significantly limited
under Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 382.ahalysis of RITA's ownership changes as defineldlRi@ Section 382 shows that
approximately $15.8 million (of which $7.1 millidrad expired as of May 31, 2011) of net operatirsgés will not be utilized due to
limitations. In addition, it is estimated that $8 illion of state net operating losses will exgarér to utilization. The gross deferred tax
asset related to the net operating losses refilees® limitations.

We intend to reinvest indefinitely any of our uraefated foreign earnings as of May 31, 2011. Weshw#ot provided for U.S. income
taxes on these undistributed earnings of our farsighsidiaries because we consider such earnirgs teinvested indefinitely outside the
United States. If these earnings were distributedmay be subject to both foreign withholding tazed U.S. income taxes. Determination of
the amount of this unrecognized deferred incomdiaity is not practical.

14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash and caslivatgnts, accounts receivable, marketable secsyidiecounts payable, short-term and
long-term debt and two interest rate swap agreesn&he carrying amount of these instruments appratés fair value due to the immediate
or shortterm maturities or, with respect to our debt ardtegl interest rate swaps, variable interest r@esciated with these instruments.
interest rate swap agreements have been recordeeirafiair value based on a valuation receivedifem independent third party (see Note
Marketable securities are carried at their faiueads determined by quoted market prices.
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Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted an accountifigypregarding fair value. Under this policy, faalue is defined as the exchange
price that would be received for an asset or pattdansfer a liability (an exit price) in the pripal or most advantageous market for the asset
or liability in an orderly transaction between matrparticipants on the measurement date. Thisypebtablishes a fair value hierarchy which
requires an entity to maximize the use of observatguts and minimize the use of unobservable sypiiten measuring fair value. The pol
describes three levels of inputs that may be usedeasure fair value which are provided in thegdtdlow. The adoption of this policy had
no impact on our financial statements other thandibclosures presented herein.

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities. Level 1 assets include bank tideposits, money market
funds, mutual funds and U.S. Treasury securitiasdhe traded in an active exchange ma

Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices suduated prices for similar assets or liabilitiesptpd prices in markets that
are not active; or other inputs that are observabt=an be corroborated by observable market datsubstantially the full
term of the assets or liabilities. Level 2 assetdude US government securities and corporate balttien quoted market
prices are unobservable, we obtain pricing inforomafrom an independent pricing vendor. The prickegdor uses various
pricing models for each asset class that are densiwith what other market participants would uglee inputs and
assumptions to the model of the pricing vendordanéved from market observable sources includirgrdhmark yields,
reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer dprbanchmark securities, bids, offers, and otharket-related data. Since
many fixed income securities do not trade on aydaakis, the methodology of the pricing vendor wseaslable information as
applicable such as benchmark curves, benchmarkiligecsecurities, sector groupings, and matrixiog. The pricing vendc
considers all available market observable inputieitermining the evaluation for a security. Thestan securities may not
priced using quoted prices, but rather determinech fmarket observable information. These investmarg included in Lew
2 and primarily comprise our portfolio of corporated government fixed income securities. Additibnadcluded in Level 2
are interest rate swap agreements which are vaisiad a mi-market valuation mode

Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and are significant to the faatue of the assets or
liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities inclufileancial instruments whose value is determinadgipricing models,
discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar téghes, as well as instruments for which the deirgaition of fair value
requires significant management judgment or estamaf his category currently only includes auctiate securities where
independent pricing information was not able t@b&ined. Our investments in auctitate securities were classified as Le
3 as quoted prices were unavailable since theg®auate securities issued by New York state aedllgovernment
authorities failed auction. Due to limited marka&fiormation, we utilized a discounted cash flow (‘B¢ model to derive an
estimate of fair value for all periods presentede Bssumptions used in preparing the DCF modaldied estimates with
respect to the amount and timing of future inteaest principal payments, forward projections ofititerest rate benchmarks,
the probability of full repayment of the principainsidering the credit quality and guaranteesacgl and the rate of return
required by investors to own such securities gibencurrent liquidity risk associated with auc-rate securities
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The following tables provide information by levekfassets and liabilities that are measured avéire on a recurring basis (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements using Fair Value at
inputs considered as:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 May 31, 201:
Financial Asset
Cash equivalent
Money market fund $11,71¢ $ — $ — $ 11,71¢
Corporate bond securitit — 20,99t — 20,99t
U.S. government agency obligatic — — — —
Total $11,71¢ $ 20,99¢ $ — $ 32,71«
Marketable securitie
Corporate bond securitis $ — $ 46,15t $ — 46,15t
U.S. government agency obligatic — 37,55: 1,85( 39,40:
Total — 83,70¢ 1,85( 85,55¢
Total Financial Asset $11,71¢ $104,70: $1,85( $ 118,27.
Financial Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreeme $ — $ 1,02¢ $ — $ 1,02¢
Total Financial Liabilities $ — $ 1,02¢ $ — $  1,02¢
Fair Value Measurements using Fair Value at
inputs considered as:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 May 31, 201(
Financial Asset
Cash equivalent
Money market fund $ 9,31¢ $ — $ — $ 9,31
Corporate bond securitit — 17,99¢ — 17,99¢
U.S. government agency obligatic — 18,99¢ — 18,99¢
Total $ 9,31¢ $ 36,99¢ $ — $ 46,30¢
Marketable securitie
Corporate bond securitis $ — $ 24,17 $ — 24,17:
U.S. government agency obligatic — 15,28¢ 1,85( 17,13¢
Total — 39,46 1,85( 41,31:
Total Financial Asset $ 9,31¢ $ 76,45t $1,85( $ 87,62(
Financial Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreeme $ — $ 99t $ — $ 99t
Total Financial Liabilities $ — $ 99t $ — $ 99t

There were no changes in the level 3 fair valugrumsents during fiscal 2011.
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15. Derivative Financial Instruments

In March 2008, FASB issued authoritative guidantgctv is intended to improve financial reporting abderivative instruments and
hedging activities by requiring companies to enleagisclosure about how these instruments and tesiaffect their financial position,
performance and cash flows. This guidance alsodngs the transparency about the location and amaimterivative instruments in a
company'’s financial statements and how they arewtted for. The guidance was effective for botkrimh and annual reporting periods
beginning after November 15, 2008 (our 2009 fiskaltl quarter). We have provided the required disgtes herein.

We are exposed to market risk due to changesendst rates. To reduce this risk, we periodicatigeinto certain derivative financial
instruments to hedge the underlying economic exgostle use derivative instruments as part of ol@r@st rate risk management strategy.
The derivative instruments used are floating-t@dixate interest rate swaps, which are subjeagb fiow hedge accounting treatment. We
recognized interest expense of $37,000, $70,00%ard,000 for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 periods esgely, on the cash flow hedge (See
Note K).

In accordance with authoritative guidance on Actimgnfor Derivatives and Hedging Activities, as arded, our 2002 interest rate s\
agreement (see Note K) qualifies for hedge accognthnder GAAP and the 2006 interest rate swap aggeedoes not. Both are presented in
the consolidated financial statements at theinfaiue. Changes in the fair value of derivativafinial instruments are either recognized
periodically in income or in stockholders’ equity @ component of accumulated other comprehensieeria (loss) depending on whether the
derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedgecounting and, if so, whether it qualifies asiav¥alue or cash flow hedge. Generally, the
changes in the fair value of derivatives accouffve@s fair value hedges are recorded in incomegalaith the portions of the changes in the
fair value of hedged items that relate to the hddigks. Changes in the fair value of derivativesoainted for as cash flow hedges, to the
extent they are effective as hedges, are recordadaumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

16. Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for all sharedgasyment awards made to our employees and disantduding employee stock
options and employee stock purchases related t8tmek Purchase Plan based on estimated fair vatubgs grant date. We recognize
compensation expense for our stock awards on iglstiitne basis over the requisite service periofithe awards, which is generally the
vesting period.

The amount of stock-based compensation recognizkdsed on the value of the portion of awardsatatltimately expected to vest.
Guidance requires forfeitures to be estimatedetithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in sylsset periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. The term “forfeitures” ididist from “cancellations” or “expirations” and megsents only the unvested portion of the
surrendered option. We currently expect, basedchaamalysis of our historical forfeitures, that appmately 90.2% of our options will vest
annually, and we have therefore applied a 9.8% arforfeiture rate in determining the stock-based
compensation charge recorded. We will re-evaluasedastimate periodically and adjust the forfeittate on a prospective basis as necessary.
Ultimately, the actual expense recognized ovendsting period will only be for those shares ttatally vest.

For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2011, May 31028hd May 31, 2009, we used the Black-Scholeswogiricing model (“Black-
Scholes”) as our method of valuation and a sinpte®a award approach. This fair
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value is then amortized on a straight-line baser dlve requisite service periods of the awardschvis generally the vesting period. The fair
value of share based payment awards on the d#te girant as determined by the Black-Scholes misddfected by our stock price as well
as other assumptions. These assumptions inclutlayduot limited to the expected stock price \lifatover the term of the awards, actual
and projected employee stock option exercise behavaind a risk-free interest rate. The risk-freereest rate is based on factual data derived
from public sources. The expected stock-price udiaand option life assumptions require signifitgudgment which makes them critical
accounting estimates.

Prior to fiscal 2009, due to our limited publictois/, we considered historical volatility and trendithin our industry/peer group when
estimating expected stock price volatility. Begmmiwvith fiscal 2009, we began to utilize our higtal volatility when estimating expected
stock price volatility. We use yield rates on UT®asury securities for a period approximatingekpected term of the award to estimate the
risk-free interest rate. The expected term is basediohistorical forfeiture rates. The dividend yiégdbased on the history and expectatic
dividend payments. We have not paid dividends égast nor do we expect to pay dividends in thesieeable future. Our historical data
includes information from May 27, 2004, the dateof initial public offering.

17. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share are based on the weightzdge number of common shares outstanding wittangideration of potential
common stock. Diluted earnings per share furtheugtes the dilutive effect of potential common &toonsisting of stock options, warrants,
restricted stock units and shares issuable upowecsion of convertible debt into shares of commioils provided that the inclusion of such
securities is not antidilutive.

We account for convertible debt (see Note K) usinthoritative guidance which indicates that corgimty convertible debt should be
included in diluted earnings per share computatiegardless of whether the market price triggertdgen met. The Convertible debt was |
at maturity in fiscal 2009.

Excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings pommon share are options and restricted stotk issued to employees and non-
employees to purchase 1,991,023 shares of comraok at May 31, 2011 as their inclusion would notdiiative. The exercise prices of the
excluded securities were between $0 and $53.92a5t34, 2011. For the period ending May 31, 201@ipap and restricted stock units iss
to employees and non-employees to purchase 2,&5l#ires of common stock were excluded from theutation of diluted earnings per
common share as their inclusion would not be dititiThe exercise prices of the excluded secunitiE® between $0 and $53.92 at May 31,
2010. For the period ending May 31, 2009, optiamswarrants issued to employees and non-emploggasrthase 1,389,571 shares of
common stock were excluded from the calculatiodilited earnings per common share as their inafusiould not be dilutive. The exercise
prices of the excluded securities were betweendBland $93.52 at May 31, 2009.

The following table sets forth the reconciliatiointloe weighted-average number of common shares:

2011 2010 2009

Basic 24,870,00 24,580,48 24,363,23
Effect of dilutive securitie 262,75¢ 206,35¢ 149,43¢
Diluted 25,132,76 24,786,84 24,512,67
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18. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the constifinancial statements. Estimates also affeaited amounts of sales and expenses durir
reporting period. Actual results could differ frahose estimates.

19. Supplier Concentrations

We are dependent on a third party supplier foresabolization product, LC Bead, which accountedafmproximately 13% of our sales
in fiscal 2011. The agreement to distribute thizdoict ends December 31, 2011. We are dependenthirdl gparty manufacturer for a
substantial portion of our dialysis catheters.isedl 2011, products purchased from this supptieoanted for approximately 10% of total
product purchases and sales of these products ratecbior approximately 7% of our sales. We are ddpat upon the ability of our suppliers
to provide products on a timely basis and on fawararicing terms. The loss of our principal supgior a significant reduction in product
availability from these suppliers could have a matadverse effect on us. We believe that outti@iahips with these suppliers are
satisfactory.

20. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the FASB updated the revenue rétiog accounting guidance relating to the accantreatment for revenue
arrangements that involve more than one deliverablait of accounting. The updated guidance alloarspanies to allocate arrangement
considerations in multiple deliverable arrangemémes manner that better reflects the economith@transaction by revising certain
thresholds for separation and providing criteriadibocation of revenue among deliverables. Theatgd guidance is effective for
arrangements entered into in fiscal years beginamgr after June 15, 2010 (our 2012 fiscal ydar),may be adopted early. We have chosen
early adoption effective with the third quarteronir fiscal 2010 year. The adoption had no mateffaict on our consolidated financial
statements.

In October 2009, the FASB updated the accountindamee relating to certain revenue arrangementdriblude software elements. 1
updated guidance clarifies the accounting for petglthat include both tangible product and softwedeenents. This amendment is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010 @2 fiscal year), but companies are requireditpithese amendments in the same period
as the amendments relating to revenue arrangertmentisvolve more than one deliverable or unitat@unting. We have therefore adopted
the amendment effective with the third quarter wf fiscal 2010 year. The adoption had no mateffaceon our consolidated financial
statements.

In January 2010, the FASB updated the disclosupeimements for fair value measurements. The updatathnce requires companies
to disclose separately the investments that tramstend out of Levels 1 and 2 and the reasonthfuse transfers. Additionally, in the
reconciliation for fair value measurements usirggiicant unobservable inputs (Level 3), compasiesuld present separately information
about purchases, sales, issuances and settlembkatapdated guidance was effective for annual atedtim reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2009 (our 2011 fiscal first quartexgept for the disclosures about purchases, safemnces and settlements in the Level 3
reconciliation, which are effective for fiscal yedreginning after December 15, 2010 (our 2012 figear). We have provided the additional
disclosures necessary for Levels 1 and 2 trankfmesn.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accountiidpgce relating to the annual goodwill impairmest. The updated guidance
requires companies to perform the second stepedfitpairment test to measure the
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amount of impairment loss, if any, when it is mbkely than not that a goodwill impairment existhewn the carrying amount of a reporting
unit is zero or negative. In considering whethés inore likely than not that a goodwill impairmexists, an entity shall evaluate whether
there are adverse qualitative factors. The updgtidhance is effective beginning in our fiscal 2@&ar. The adoption of this guidance is not
expected to have a material impact on our congelitiinancial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accountiidpgce relating to the disclosure of supplemenpaoyforma information for
business combinations. The updated guidance regoir@panies to provide additional comparative prmf financial information along wi
the nature and amount of any material nonrecuphagforma adjustments related to the business amatibn. The updated guidance is
effective for business combinations which have @uaition date in fiscal years beginning on oeafbecember 15, 2010 (our 2012 fiscal
year). The adoption of this guidance is not expktehave a material impact on our consolidatearfaial statement:

In May 2011, the FASB updated the accounting guidaelated to fair value measurements. The updatithnce results in a consist
definition of fair value and common requirementsrfeasurement of and disclosure about fair valteden U.S. GAAP and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The updatedagce is effective for interim and annual peribdginning after December 15, 2011
(the fourth quarter of our fiscal year 2012). We anrrently evaluating the impact of adoption @$ #ccounting guidance on our consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB updated the disclosure reaugnts for comprehensive income. The updated go@eeequires companies to
disclose the total of comprehensive income, thepmomants of net income, and the components of athraprehensive income either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive inconie two separate but consecutive statementsupbated guidance does not affect |
earnings per share is calculated or presenteduptiated guidance is effective for interim and ahpesods beginning after December 15,
2011 (the fourth quarter of our fiscal 2012). We aurrently evaluating the impact of adoption @ #thccounting guidance on our consolidi
financial statements.

NOTE B—COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

We record comprehensive income in accordance withositative guidance which requires unrealizedihng gains or losses on
available-for-sale securities and certain derivathstruments, net of tax, and foreign currencydiaion to be included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss, as a separate component @&hstiders’ equity. The components of accumulatedprefmensive loss, which include
unrealized gains and losses on available for salergies, changes in the fair value of the 20@2r&st rate swap (see Note K), and foreign
currency translation losses, are detailed in ooompanying consolidated statements of stockholdsysity and comprehensive income. At
May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, the components afraclated other comprehensive loss, net of rel@edare as follows:

May 31, 201 May 31, 201(
(in thousands)
Cumulative loss on interest rate sv $ (209 $  (207)
Unrealized holding gain on marketable securi 9 35
Foreign Currency Translatic (1,079 (1,227
Accumulated other comprehensive | $ (1,279 $ (1,399
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NOTE C—ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition of FlowMedica, Inc.

On January 12, 2009, we completed the acquisitiaeidain assets of FlowMedica, Inc. for approxiehat1.75 million in cash and a
contingent payment based on fiscal 2011 salesavfledica products. The contingent payment of $7@8)0as included in accrued
liabilities and intangibles on the balance she®ay 31, 2011 and was paid in July 2011. With #dguisition, we purchased the Benephit
product line, a therapeutic approach to delivegdrdirectly to the kidneys in order to prevent &edt acute kidney injury, in the emerging
field of Targeted Renal Therapy. Intangible asaetpiired totaled approximately $2.1 million whichvl been identified as product
technologies (10-year weighted average useful lifejentory acquired totaled approximately $400,00te acquisition has been accounted
for as a purchase and, accordingly, we have inditidle results of operations in the financial staets effective January 12, 2009. The pro-
forma effects of the acquisition were not matetidabur income statement and balance sheet. Terogags of FlowMedica, Inc. became
employees upon completion of the acquisition.

Acquisition of certain assets of Diomed

On June 17, 2008, we completed the acquisitioredhmn U.S. assets of Diomed, Inc. and UK asseBiahed UK Limited., in separa
transactions, for an aggregate purchase pricembapnately $11.1 million in cash including capit&ld acquisition costs. With this
acquisition, we substantially strengthened ourtmmsin the market for the treatment of varicosaseThe combination of Diomed
endovenous laser products with our existing vemwaduct line provides us with a comprehensive vermmoduct offering. The total of the
net tangible assets acquired was $5.5 million.

Goodwill recorded as a result of these acquisitiwas approximately $1.9 million. Intangible assstquired, other than goodwill,
totaled approximately $3.7 million of which $3.6llion has been identified as customer relationsl@sgear estimated weighted average
useful life) and $100,000 has been identified as product teobied (10-year estimated weighted average usél li

The acquisition has been accounted for as a puraras, accordingly, we have included the resultspefations in the financial
statements effective June 17, 2008. The pro-forfiegts of the Diomed acquisition on our incomeesta¢nt and balance sheet were not
material. Thirty five employees of Diomed becamekayees of ours upon completion of the acquisition.

NOTE D—MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS
Marketable securities as of May 31, 2011 consiefate following:

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
cost Gains Losses \}:aé:::’e
(in thousands)
Available-for-sales securitie
U.S. government agency obligatic $39,44: $ 36 $ (77 $39,40:
Corporate bond securit: 46,19¢ 33 (75) 46,15¢
$85,64: $ 69 $ (152) $85,55¢

78



Table of Contents

AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010

Marketable securities as of May 31, 2010 consiefate following:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

cost Gains Losses

(in thousands)
Available-for-sales securitie

U.S. government agency obligatic $17,17- $ 14 $ (49
Corporate bond securit: 24,17 46 (53
$41,35: $ 60 $ (102)

Fair
Value

$17,13¢
24,17:
$41,31:

The amortized cost and fair value of marketableistes at May 31, 2011, by contractual maturityg shown below. Expected
maturities will differ from contractual maturitiégecause borrowers may have the right to call gugyre@bligations with or without call or

prepayment penalties.

As of May 31, 2011

Amortized

cost

Fair
Value

(in thousands)

Due in one year or le: $35,90:
Due after one through five yee 44,02¢
Due after five through twenty yee 5,71(
$85,64:
NOTE E—INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:
May 31, May 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Raw material $11,46¢ $11,81"

Work in proces: 2,922 3,657

Finished good 15,86: 15,94

Gross Inventorie 30,25( 31,417
Less: Reserve (2,129 (2,207

Net Inventories $28,12¢ $29,21¢
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NOTE F—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AT COST
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifsi

Estimated May 31, May 31,
useful lives 2011 2010
(in thousands’
Building and building improvemen 39 years $ 14,92 $ 14,65
Machinery and equipme 3to 8 year 17,31¢ 15,61¢
Computer software and equipm 3to 5 year 10,31¢ 9,101
Construction in progres 84¢ 1,165
43,41( 40,53¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (20,050 (16,709
23,36( 23,83¢
Land and land improvemer 444 35¢

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 209 $3,345,000, $2,996,000 and $2,687,000, resphct

NOTE G—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

To determine fair value, we considered two marlatenl approaches and an income approach. Undemttietabased approaches, we
utilized information regarding our own as well asbficly available industry information to determiearnings multiples and sales multiples.
Under the income approach, we determined fair vaaged on estimated future cash flows of each tiegaunit, discounted by an estimated
weighted-average cost of capital, which reflecesdlierall level of inherent risk of a reporting tuaind the rate of return an outside investor
would expect to earn. We determined the discoucasti flow as the best indicator to determine falug.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitisigmental in nature and requires the use of sigmifi estimates and assumptions,
including revenue growth rates, operating margis;ount rates and future market conditions, anathgrs. Solely for purposes of
establishing inputs for the fair value calculations assumed that the current economic conditianddvcontinue through fiscal year 2012,
followed by a recovery thereafter. In addition, agplied gross margin assumptions consistent witthtorical trends at various revenue
levels and used an EBITDA exit multiple of 6.0 ah@ to calculate the terminal value of the Vascalzdl Oncology/Surgery reporting units,
respectively, which was also consistent with therpyear. In addition, we used a discount rate8foland 20% to calculate the fair value of
our Vascular and Oncology/Surgery reporting uméspectively. Discount rates of 21%, 15% and 18%ewsed in the prior year for the
Peripheral Vascular, Access and Oncology/Surgespectively.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment testédyyorting unit as of December 31, 2010. At Decanie 2010, our reporting
units were the same as our reportable segmentsléféemined our reporting units in accordance wAISB accounting guidance. Our
assessment of goodwill impairment indicated thatfttir value of each of our reporting units excekitie carrying value and therefore
goodwill in each of the reporting units was not airpd. The fair value of Vascular and Oncology/®uygexceeded its carrying value
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by 4% and 13%, respectively. The sum of the fain@s of the reporting units was reconciled to aurent market capitalization (based upon
our stock price) plus an estimated control premairapproximately 9% as of December 31, 2010.

In addition, as a result of the decision to terrtérthe LC Beads distribution contract in Decemt#ri2and our revised expectations of
the segment, we performed an interim goodwill impaint test on the Oncology/Surgery segment as af 3@, 2011. Significant
assumptions included an EBITDA exit multiple of To0calculate the terminal value of the Oncologyg®uy reporting unit, which was
consistent with previous valuations. In additior, wsed a discount rate 22.5% to calculate thevédire compared to 20% in the December
valuation. Our assessment of goodwill impairmedtdated that the fair value of the reporting uniceeded its carrying value by 14% and
therefore goodwill was not impaired.

Since early November 2008, our stock market capéttibn has at times been lower than our sharehsildguity or book value.
However, our reporting units have continued to gateesignificant cash flow from their operationsdave expect that they will continue to
so in fiscal 2012 and beyond. Furthermore, givenréhatively small difference between our stock@i@nd our book value per share, we
believe that a reasonable potential buyer wouldradfcontrol premium for our business that wouldcahtely cover the difference between
our trading prices and our book value.

We test goodwill for impairment during the thirdagter of every fiscal year, and when an event acoucircumstances change such
that it is reasonably possible that impairmenttexi&ven though we determined that there was ndwitlampairment as of December 31,
2010, the future occurrence of a potential indicafdmpairment, such as a significant adverse gkan legal factors or business climate, an
adverse action or assessment by a regulator, giaied competition, a material negative changeletionships with significant customers,
strategic decisions made in response to econongoropetitive conditions, loss of key personnel anae-likely-than-not expectation that a
reporting unit or a significant portion of a repog unit will be sold or disposed of, would requéme interim assessment for some or all of the
reporting units prior to the next required annwsdessment as of December 31, 2011.

It is not possible at this time to determine if augeh future impairment charge would result ott, dfoes, whether such charge would be
material. Events that could, in the future, reguitnpairment include, but are not limited to, ghlgrdeclining sales for a significant product
in a significant geographic region.

Goodwill by segment is as follows:

May 31,
2011
Vascular 107,96¢
Oncology/Surgen 53,98¢
$161,95:

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for tiseal year ended May 31, 2011 are as followshousands):

Oncology:
Vascular Surgery Total
Balance, May 31, 2010 $107,98: $53,99: $161,97-
Adjustments to purchase price allocat (16) (7) (23
Balance, May 31, 201 $107,96¢ $53,98¢ $161,95:
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During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011, optiassumed in connection with the acquisition of RIW&dical Systems, Inc. were

exercised causing an adjustment to the purchase alibcation as noted above. The exercises véllltén a tax benefit when the annual tax
return is filed. There were no changes in the @agramount of goodwill for the fiscal year endedyVad, 2010.

The balances of intangible assets are as follows:

May 31, 2011
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying Weighted av¢
value amortization value useful life
(in thousands) (years)

Licenses $ 6,252 $ (3,005 $ 3,247 9.1
Customer relationshif 32,98: (17,509 15,47¢ 7.5
Distributor relationship 90C (900) — 3.C
Trademarks 67t (275) 40C 9.2
Product technologie 49,45! (20,549 28,91. 13.2

$ 90,26 $ (42,229 $ 48,03;

May 31, 2010
Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying Weighted av¢
value amortization value useful life
(in thousands) (years)

Licenses $ 6,04( $ (2,379 $ 3,661 9.2
Customer relationshiy 31,12¢ (13,216 17,90¢ 7.5
Distributor relationship 90C (900) — 3.C
Trademarks 675 (200 475 9.2
Product technologie 48,64¢ (12,34) 36,30: 13.t

$ 87,38¢ $ (29,030 $ 58,35:

Amortization expense was $9,234,000, $9,463,000ant26,000, for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, retbpely.

During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011, we ntadedecision to not continue development of the tded.ightport technology
resulting in an impairment charge in other non-reng items of $4.2 million which affected our Vasar intangible balance.

Annual amortization of these intangible assetxpeeted to approximate the following amounts farheaf the next five fiscal years (in
thousands):

2012 $9,121
2013 8,20z
2014 7,19(
2015 4,78:
2016 3,622
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NOTE H—INCOME TAXES
The components of income (loss) before income taxigion for the years ended May 31 are as follows:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Income (loss) before tax provisic

us $10,07¢ $20,33( $13,75(
Non-Us 622 (717) 1,402
$10,69¢ $19,61¢ $15,15:

Income tax provision analyzed by category and biestent of income classification for the years dniday 31 is summarized as
follows:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Current
Federal $ 3,03( $ 91¢ $ 42¢
State and locz 32z 45¢€ 137
Non U.S. 14z 91 272
3,49¢ 1,46¢ 83¢€
Deferred (919 5,84. 4,38¢
$ 2,581 $ 7,307 $5,22(

The significant components of deferred income b@ngfit) expense from operations for the years @mndigy 31 consist of the
following:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Deferred tax (benefit) expen $(4,097) $(1,602) $(2,315)

Net operating loss carryforwa 3,17¢ 7,444 6,69¢

$ (919 $ 5,847 $ 4,38¢
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Temporary differences that give rise to deferredatssets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

May 31, 201: May 31, 201(
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asse

Net operating loss carryforwa $ 12,29: $ 15,56:
Stocl-based compensatic 4,83¢ 4,42:
Federal and state R&D tax credit carryforw 775 1,28(
Inventories 734 761
AMT credit carryforwarc — 597
State tax credit 791 491
Expenses incurred not currently deduct 364 472
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 97€ 184
Capital loss carryforwarc 162 13€
Unrealized loss on interest rate sv 121 122
Other 371 35¢
Gross deferred tax as¢ 21,42¢ 24,39:

Deferred tax liabilitie:
Excess tax over book depreciation and amortize 11,63¢ 15,42
Valuation Allowance (1,139 (1,162
Net deferred tax ass $  8,65€ $ 7,80¢

At May 31, 2011, we had approximately $42.4 millafremaining Federal net operating loss carryfodsand $25.9 million of state
net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL") which weyenerated by an acquired company. These net opgelasses are subject to Internal
Revenue Code (“IRC") Section 382 limitations whistexpected to significantly limit our ability tdilize these net operating losses on an
annual basis. As a result of our IRC Section 38#yais, it is estimated that approximately $8.7lionl of remaining Federal net operating
losses and $11.8 million of state net operatingdeswill expire prior to utilization. The gross detd income tax asset (“DTA”") related to the
NOL reflects these limitation:

We need to generate approximately $2.8 millioreghble income in each year over the next twelvesyaensure the realizability of
our deferred tax assets. We have determined thatwe sufficient existing levels of pre-tax earming generate sufficient taxable income to
realize the net deferred tax assets recorded ohalance sheets.

In order to support the realizability of our nefateed tax asset, we projected our peincome utilizing a combination of historicalc
projected results. Utilizing this projected pre-tagome, we have projected taxable income takibgdonsideration existing levels of
permanent differences including stock option exsercieductions and non-deductible expenses anéikesal of significant temporary
differences.

Our Federal net operating loss carryforwards adapf 31, 2011 after considering IRC Section 382titions are $33.7 million. The
expiration of the Federal net operating loss camyérds are as follows: $23.9 million between 28hd 2021 and $9.8 million between 2022
and 2026.

Our state net operating loss carryforwards as of Blg 2011 after considering remaining IRC Sec88@ limitations are $14.1 million
which expire in various years from 2012 to 2026.
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At May 31, 2011, we had $2.4 million of state ctedof which $0.3 million expire at various datesough 2013 and $2.1 million which
have an unlimited carryforward period.

At May 31, 2011, we had a net deferred income tmetof $8.7 million, after recording a valuatidlowance of $1.1 million. The net
change in the valuation allowance was a decrea$28000 in 2011 and a decrease of $9,000 in ZBdih years’ decreases relate to the use
of fully reserved state tax credits due to a terapochange in state tax law partially offset byitaposses incurred in each year which were
fully reserved. The valuation allowance recordediast the deferred tax assets relates to stateréaits and state NOLs that management has
estimated will more likely than not expire befoney are expected to be utilized.

Our consolidated income tax provision has différedh the amount that would be provided by applying U.S. Federal statutory
income tax rate to our income before income tageshie following reasons:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Income tax provisiol $2,581 $7,307 $5,22(
Effect of Graduated tax rat 107 19¢€ 152
State income taxes, net of Federal tax be 99 (157) (90
State income tax credits, net of Federal tax be 30C — —
Impact of Non US operatior 65 (239 204
Tax-exempt interes 5 15 97
Research and development tax cr 54¢ 22¢ 45¢
Domestic Production Activities deducti 471 13¢ —
Nondeductible sto-based compensatic (119 (239 (277)
Other nondeductible expens (323 (40¢) (532)
Overaccrual (underaccrual) of prior year Federdl state taxe 49 41 —
Other (40) (26) 65

Income tax provision at statutory tax rate of 3 $3,74¢ $6,867 $5,30¢

During the twelve months ended May 31, 2011, wengdidrecognize any tax liabilities related to unaigr tax positions. Due to our
unrecognized tax benefit being zero upon adoptidtin no change since adoption, no “tabular recdettadin” of the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning andadrtide period is being presented.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocagréized tax benefits within our global operatiassa component of income tax
expense. This accounting policy did not change@sualt of the guidance issued with respect to dairetax positions. There were no accr
interest and penalties recognized in the cons@dibalance sheet as of May 31, 2011 and May 310.201

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdittion and various state and foreign jurisdiciom the normal course of business we
are subject to examination by taxing authoritiesdlghout the world. The Internal Revenue ServitR$”) completed an examination of our
federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2006 2007 in February 2009 which did not result inaenial impact on our results of
operations or financial position. New York Stateusrently conducting an examination of our New K 8tate Franchise Tax returns for fis
years 2005 to 2009. Fiscal years 2008 through 28thin open to examination by the various tax aities. We analyzed our filin
positions in all of the federal and state jurisidies where we are required to file income
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taxes, as well as all open tax years in thesedigtisns and believe that our income tax filingsition and deductions will be sustained on
audit and do not anticipate any adjustments wdlllein a material adverse effect on our financ@idition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Income tax expense in fiscal 2011 includes an fyteoiod benefit of $300,000 recorded in the fougttarter to correct an error that
originated in prior years related to certain statecredits. We assessed the impact of this adgraton the current year and all prior periods
and determined that the cumulative effect of thesithents was not material to the full year 203sutls and did not result in a material
misstatement to any previously issued annual orteuig financial statements.

We do not anticipate that the amount of unrecoghiag benefits will significantly change in the nhéwxelve months.

NOTE I—PREPAID ROYALTIES

On August 13, 2007, we entered into a Distributdanufacturing and Purchase Option Agreement (Ageeement”) with a company
to acquire the exclusive worldwide rights to matiise and distribute a split tip catheter for thedydis market we have named Centros™.
We also have the option to purchase certain imtieiéd property associated with these productserfukure. We will pay royalties on net sales
of the products covered in the Agreement. In acoed with the Agreement, we prepaid $3.0 milliomayfalties based upon the achievement
of certain milestones. At May 31, 2011, based evelothan anticipated sales results, we reducegréqgaid royalties to net realizable value
which resulted in an impairment loss of $2.3 milli@corded in other non-recurring items on theafi011 income statement. The remaining
balance of $383,000 has been included in the aafficepaid Royalties” on the balance sheet as of 813 2011 and will be credited against
quarterly royalties due.

NOTE J—ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

May 31, May 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Payroll and related expens $ 6,427 $ 8,44¢
Sales and franchise tax 93C 1,01%
Royalties 1,562 1,50¢
Fair value of interest rate sw 1,02¢ 99t
Other 3,89/ 1,75¢
Total $13,84: $13,72:

NOTE K—LONG-TERM DEBT
Industrial Revenue Bonds

In September 2002, we closed on the financingHerexpansion of our headquarters and manufacttagility in Queensbury, New
York. The expansion was financed principally witldlistrial Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds”) issued byteren and Washington Counties
Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) aggagg $3,500,000. The Bonds are issued under & Agreement by and between the
Agency and a bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”). dfbeeeds of the Bonds were advanced, as constumticurred, pursuant to a
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Building Loan Agreement by and among the Agencg,Tifustee, a second bank (the “Bank”) and us. TdmB reprice every seven days and
are resold by a Remarketing Agent. The Bonds ligardst based on the market rate on the date thésBare repriced and require quarterly
interest payments and quarterly principal paymearging from $25,000 to $65,000 through May 202Zdnnection with the issuance of the
Bonds, we entered into a Letter of Credit and Reirsbment Agreement with the Bank which requiresthétenance of a letter of credit for
an initial amount of $3,575,000 to support printigmad certain interest payments of the Bonds aqdires payment of an annual fee on the
outstanding balance ranging from 1% to 1.9%, deipgnoh financial results achieved. The currentisek. 75% and is in effect until

August 24, 2011. We also entered into a Remarké&grgement, pursuant to which the Remarketing Aggerequired to use its best efforts
arrange for sales of such bonds in the secondarkem@ he Remarketing Agreement provides for thgnyent of an annual fee of 0.1% of the
remaining balance.

The Reimbursement Agreement contains certain fiahnovenants relating to fixed charge coverageiatatest coverage, as defined,
with which we were in compliance. Amounts borrowetler the Agreement are collateralized by the afiergioned letter of credit and a fi
mortgage on the land, building and equipment nedptod the facility.

We entered into an interest rate swap agreementZ002 Swap Agreement”) with the Bank, effectivepmber 2002, with an initial
notional amount of $3,500,000 to limit the effetvariability due to interest rates on the rolloeétthe Bonds. The Swap Agreement, which
qualifies for hedge accounting under authoritagjuélance, is a contract to exchange floating irstar@e payments for fixed interest paym
periodically over the life of the agreement withthet exchange of the underlying notional amourite $wap Agreement requires us to pay a
fixed rate of 4.45% and receive payments basedeta$ LIBOR repriced every seven days through Ma322 As of May 31, 2011, May 31,
2010 and May 31, 2009, since the Swap Agreemariassified as a cash flow hedge, the fair valu$324,000, $327,000 and $319,000,
respectively, has been recorded as a componestnofed liabilities, and accumulated other comprshenloss related to the swap agreement
is $205,000, $207,000 and $201,000, respectivelyohtax.

We capitalized certain legal and administrativesascurred in connection with the issuance oflbbads and are amortizing these ct
using the effective interest method over the tefithe Bonds. As of May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 anayM1, 2009, net capitalized bond
issuance costs amounted to $63,000 $69,000 an@CkY 4espectively, and are recorded as a compaf@ther assets.

Amounts to be paid or received under the Swap Agese are accrued as interest rates change andcagnized over the life of the
Swap Agreement as an adjustment to interest expense

Taxable Adjustable Rate Notes

In December 2006, we closed on the financing ferekpansion of our warehouse and manufacturingitfeici Queensbury, New York.
The expansion is being financed principally withxalle Adjustable Rate Notes (the “Notes”) issuedidyggregating $5,000,000, maturing
in December 2026. The Notes were issued under st Agreement by and between us and a bank, asér(tbie “Trustee”). The Notes
reprice every seven days and are resold by a RetiragkAgent. The Notes bear interest based on dr&ehrate on the date the Notes are
repriced and require quarterly interest paymendscararterly principal payments ranging from $25,68$55,000. In connection with the
issuance of the Notes, we entered into a Lett€@reflit and Reimbursement Agreement with the Baakrbquires the maintenance of a letter
of credit for an initial amount of $5,134,000 tgport principal and certain interest payments @Nbtes and requires payment of an annual
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fee on the outstanding balance. The current f&ée/B8% and is in effect until December 2011. We reténto a Remarketing Agreement,
pursuant to which the Remarketing Agent is requicedse its best efforts to arrange for sales @fNbtes in the secondary market. The
Remarketing Agreement provides for the paymennddranual fee of 0.1% of the remaining balance.

The Reimbursement Agreement contains certain fiahnovenants relating to fixed charge coveragerést coverage, and a debt to
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amattization (“EBITDA”) ratio, as defined, with whicwe were in compliance. Amounts
borrowed under the Reimbursement Agreement arateddllized by the aforementioned letter of credd all our assets.

We entered into an interest rate swap agreementZ006 Swap Agreement”) with the Bank, effectivecBmber 2006, with an initial
notional amount of $5,000,000, to limit the effetariability due to interest rates on the rollpeéthe Notes. The 2006 Swap Agreement is
a contract to exchange floating interest rate paysior fixed interest payments of 5.06% of thestariding balance of the Notes over the life
of the agreement without the exchange of the ugiherinotional amounts. Changes to the fair valuthef2006 Swap Agreement are recol
as increases or decreases to interest expensedid n& elect to apply hedge accounting. As of Bay2011, May 31, 2010 and May 31,
2009, the fair value of $704,000, $668,000 and $B¥Y respectively has been recorded as a compohantrued liabilities with a
corresponding credit to other income in the conlsdéd statement of operations.

We capitalized certain legal and bank fees incuimembnnection with the issuance of the Notes ardchanortizing these costs on a
straight-line basis over the term of the NotesoAMay 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009,aagitalized issuance costs related to
these Notes amounted to $ 149,000, $159,000 argl@1® respectively, and are recorded as a compohether assets.

Convertible Notes

In connection with the acquisition of RITA on Janua9, 2007, we assumed subordinated Senior CdbleeNotes of RITA (the
“Convertible Notes”) with an aggregate principalamt of $9.7 million. The fair value of the conversfeature of the Convertible Notes of
$1.8 million was calculated using the intrinsicu@imethod and recorded in goodwill and stockholdersity as part of the purchase price.
During the year ended May 31, 2009, the Convertimées matured and were paid in cash.

Following is a summary of long-term debt at May 3@11 (in thousands):

Industrial Revenue Bonds/ Taxable Adjustable Raites $ 6,55(
Less: current maturitie (275
Long-term debt $6,27¢

At May 31, 2011, future minimum principal paymeatslong-term debt were as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 27E
2013 30C
2014 32t
2015 35t
Thereatftel 5,29t

$6,55(
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NOTE L—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS

During 2009, we received professional sales trgiservices from an organization in which the ppatiowner was the spouse of our
then President and CEO. Fees and expenses pditefa services totaled $63,000.

NOTE M—RETIREMENT PLANS

We have a 401(k) plan under which eligible emplayesn defer a portion of their compensation, plwthich is matched by us.
Matching contributions were $1,795,000, $706,100 $507,800, in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivehyil December 31, 2009, we had a
profit-sharing plan under which we made discretigr@ntributions to eligible employees. Profit-shgrcontributions were $1,087,900 and
$1,009,000 in fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectivehe Profit sharing plan was not in effect duringéis2011 and therefore there were no profit
sharing contributions during this year.

NOTE N—STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
1. Capitalization

On February 27, 2004, our Board of Directors amdRbrmer Parent, as sole stockholder, approvedm@nded and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Amended Certifte”). Under the Amended Certificate, the authatieapital stock is 50,000,000 shares,
consisting of 45,000,000 shares of common stoakyglae $.01 per share and 5,000,000 shares afnpeelf stock, par value $.01 per share.
Pursuant to the Amended Certificate, (i) each shiwdting common stock, $1 par value and (ii) eslshre of non-voting common stock, $1
par value was reclassified and exchanged into %B@€es of issued, fully paid, nassessable common stock for a total of 9,200,0afesh
be then outstanding.

The holders of common stock are entitled to one Yot each share held. Subject to preferencescaiydi to any outstanding shares of
preferred stock, the holders of common stock atidleshto receive ratably dividends, if any, as nieydeclared by the Board of Directors out
of funds legally available for dividend paymenfswe liquidate, dissolve, or wind up, the holdef€ommon stock are entitled to share rat
in all assets remaining after payment of liabisitend liquidation preferences of any outstandirageshof preferred stock. Holders of common
stock have no pre-emptive rights or rights to contheeir common stock into any other securitiesefBhare no redemption or sinking fund
provisions applicable to the common stock. Thetsgpreferences and privileges of the holders ofroon stock are subject to, and may be
adversely affected by, the rights of the holdershafres of any series of preferred stock that wedeaignate in the future.

Our board of directors has the authority to (iuesshe undesignated preferred stock in one or senies, (ii) determine the powers,
preferences and rights and the qualifications tétions or restrictions granted to or imposed ugaoy wholly unissued series of undesigna
preferred stock and (iii) fix the number of shagesstituting any series and the designation of#rees, without any further vote or action by
our stockholders.

2. Stock Options

We have two stock-based compensation plans, exeladithe stock option plans assumed in connegtitinthe acquisition of RITA.
These plans provide for the issuance of up to aqmattely 4.5 million shares of common stock.

1997 Stock Option Plan

In 1997, we adopted a Stock Option Plan (the “1BRA"). The 1997 Plan provides for the grant to &mployees of both nonqualified
stock options and incentive stock options and tonbers of the Board of
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Directors and consultants of nonqualified stockaps. A total of 1,497,674 shares of our commouglstoay be issued under the 1997 Plan
pursuant to the exercise of options. All stock @psi must have an exercise price of not less trafathmarket value of the shares on the date
of grant. Options will be exercisable over a pebdme to be designated by the administratorthefl997 Plan (but not more than 10 years
from the date of grant) and will be subject to satter terms and conditions as the administrat@g determine. The vesting schedule is
subject to the discretion of our Board of Direct@ptions are exercisable immediately upon vestimgddition, all options, whether vested

or not, become exercisable in full immediately upathange of control, as defined under the 1997. Hlae 1997 Plan terminated in March
2007 and as such, no further options will be gidnteder this plan.

2004 Stock and Incentive Award Plan

The 2004 Stock and Incentive Award Plan (the “2BGh”) provides for the grant of incentive optigosour employees and for the
grant of non-statutory stock options, restrictextkt stock appreciation rights, performance upigsformance shares and other incentive
awards to our employees, directors and other sepigviders. A total of 3,000,000 shares of our cam stock have been reserved for
issuance under the 2004 Plan, of which up to 8@0sb@ares may be issued upon the exercise of ineesitick options. The compensation
committee of the Board of Directors administers2084 Plan. The committee determines vesting tamdsthe exercise price of options
granted under the 2004 Plan, but for all incensitwek options the exercise price must at leasgbaldo the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant. The term of an incengtock option may not exceed ten years.

Stock Option Activity:

The following schedule summarizes our stock opéotivity as of and for the years ended May 31, 204dy 31, 2010 and May 31,
2009:

2011 2010 2009
Weighted
Weighted- average Weighted- Weighted-
remaining Aggregate
average contractual intrinsic average average
exercise value (in exercise exercise
Shares price life thousands Shares price Shares price
Outstanding at beginning of year 2,624,11. $ 16.2Z 2,809,170 $ 16.5( 2,039,18 $ 17.8Z
Granted 503,000 $ 15.3d 272,90 $ 13.8¢ 1,011,05¢ $ 13.7¢
Exercisec (106,85) $ 15.8¢ (172,37) $ 11.41 (63,505 $ 12.5¢
Forfeited (335,30) $ 17.9¢ (284,899 $ 19.7: (176,629 $ 19.8¢
Expired (4,566 $ 48.51 (693 $ 30.7¢ (922) $ 19.97
Outstanding at end of ye 2,680,390 $ 15.9¢ 4.3 $22,42( 2,624,11. $ 16.2: 2,809,17¢ $ 16.5(
Options exercisable at yeend 1,637,94 $ 16.7¢ 4.01 $15,21< 1,497,000 $ 17.2¢ 1,222,95. $ 17.6(
Options expected to vest in future
periods 830,55. $ 15.2¢ 5.3C $ 5,88 1,046,040 $ 15.3. 1,480,52. $ 16.5Z
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Weighted average fair value of options grantedrduthe fiscal years ended May 31, is as follows:

2011 2010 2009
Weighted-average fair value of options grantedriuthe year $6.85 $6.77 $6.6%

On May 31, 2011, there remained 751,624 sharefablaifor granting of options under the 2004 Plaptions are exercisable into
common stock.

All of our options were granted at exercise priegaal to the quoted market price of our commonks&tthe date of the grants. Options
under these grants vest 25% per year over fousyfeaemployees and 100% after one year for comstdt Initial grants to directors vest
25% per year over four years and subsequent gi@nisectors vest 33 1/3 % per year over threesygaptions granted prior to May 1, 2007
expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant dafgions granted on or after May 1, 2007, expirghenseventh anniversary of the grant date.
The total intrinsic value of options exercised $as301,994, $862,117 and $839,022 for the yearsd:hhy 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and
May 31, 2009, respectively. We generally issue @igkd but unissued shares upon stock option eses@nd the settlement of performance
share awards and restricted stock units.

The fair value of the options granted under the71®9d 2004 Plans was estimated at the date of gsamd the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model assuming no expected dividends aaddhowing weighted-average assumptions:

2011 2010 2009
Expected stock price volatility 52.3% 57.3% 59.4%%
Risk-free interest rat 1.3% 2.08% 2.3%
Expected life of option 4.63 year 4.64 year 4.26 year

The following information applies to options outsding at May 31, 2011:

Weighted-
average Weighted Weighted-

remaining
-average average
Number life in exercise Number exercise

Range of exercise prices outstanding years price Exercisable price

$2.99 - $ 6.52 30,54 1.57 $ 5.9¢ 30,54 $ 5.9¢
$6.70- $9.61 16,89¢ 1.31 7.8¢€ 16,89¢ 7.8¢€
$10.59- $12.72 436,94¢ 4.2z 11.5: 252,14¢ 11.58
$13.18- $14.97 458,63 4.84 13.7¢ 193,90° 13.7¢
$15.01- $15.94 680,22: 5.11 15.52 227,99¢ 15.52
$16.11- $17.56 285,13! 4.4z 16.52 198,77¢ 16.52
$17.68- $18.96 394,27 3.34 18.0i 355,09¢ 18.0%
$19.07- $22.32 160,82: 3.81 20.1¢ 145,66¢ 20.1¢
$23.03- $29.18 211,17: 3.84 24.71 211,17: 24.71
$30.40- $53.92 5,74( 1.1¢ 43.9] 5,74( 43.91]
2,680,39I 4.33 $ 15.9¢ 1,637,94! $ 16.7¢
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3. Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Adsir

We grant restricted stock units and performanceeshaards to certain employees under the 2004 Plenperformance criteria is
established by the compensation committee for vgstf the performance share awards and may indéaglers such as the achievement of
certain sales, operating income and earnings peePEPS”) goals. Performance share awards ajedub additional conditions, including
the recipient’s continued employment with us. Téstricted stock unit awards vest in equal annwsdhliments over the term of the grants.
Unvested restricted stock unit awards will be fibef@ if the recipient ceases to be employed byosipetes with our business or otherwise
engages in activities detrimental to our businedere such date. The performance share awardsatritted stock units settle in shares of
our common stock on a one-for-one basis.

We value performance share and restricted stodkawdards based on the closing trading value ofbares on the date of grant. We
recognize the compensation cost related to ourviested stock awards ratably over the requisiteiceperiod, or over the performance
period when performance award metrics are expéotbd achieved, which is consistent with the treathprior to the adoption of
authoritative guidance on share based payment award

Non-Vested Stocl Weighted Average
Award Units Grant-Date Fair Value
Balance as of May 31, 2010 289,80( $ 12.7¢
Granted 173,04( 15.7¢
Cancellec (70,497 13.7¢
Vested (68,080 12.6¢
Balance as of May 31, 20: 324,26 14.1¢

The total fair value of restricted stock awardstivgswas $1,071,000, $733,000 and $64,900, foydzes ended May 31, 2011, May
2010 and May 31, 2009, respectively.

4. Unrecognized Compensation Cost:
Under the provisions of authoritative guidance loare based payment awards, we expect to recodrézeltowing future expense for
awards outstanding as of May 31, 2011:

Weighted Average
Unrecognized

Compensatior Remaining Vesting

Cost Period (in years)

Stock Options $5,101,08! 2.11
Non-vested stock awart 3,545,48| 2.6t
$8,646,561 2.2€

Unrecognized compensation cost for stock optiomsasented net of 9.8% assumed annual forfeitures.

5. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock PaecR&an”) provides a means by which our employies“participants”) are given
an opportunity to purchase our common stock thrqaagholl deductions. The
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maximum number of shares to be offered under tbek3eurchase Plan is 700,000 shares of our comtook, subject to any increase
authorized by the Board of Directors. Shares dfered through two purchase periods, each with shradf approximately 6 months,
commencing on the first business day of the finst third fiscal quarters. An employee is eligildeparticipate in an offering period if, on the
first day of an offering period, he or she has bemployed in a full-time capacity for at least signths, with a customary working schedule
of 20 or more hours per week and more than fivethoim a calendar year. Employees who own stockgsssng 5% or more of the total
combined voting power or value of all classes afsiack are not eligible to participate in the &®&wurchase Plan. The purchase price of the
shares of common stock acquired on each purchasevilabe the lower of (i) 85% of the fair marketlue of a share of common stock on
first day of the offering period or (ii) 85% of tlfi@ir market value of a share of common stock @nlalst day of the purchase period, subject to
adjustments made by the Board of Directors. ThekSRurchase Plan is intended to qualify as an “eyg# stock purchase plan” within the
meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model touwdate the purchase date fair value of the shiaseed under the Stock Purchase
Plan and recognize expense related to shares pathatably over the offering period.

For the years ended May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010Mend 31, 2009, 84,927, 114,479 and 92,937 sharspectively, were issued at an
average price of $13.01, $10.09 and $11.75, relspéctunder the Stock Purchase Plan. As of May2B1,1, 285,078 shares remained
available for future purchases under the Stock s Plan.

NOTE O—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

For 2011, stock based compensation was $4.6 miifertax ($2.9 million after tax, or $0.12 per ¢id share). For 2010, stock based
compensation was $4.9 million pre-tax ($3.1 millafter tax, or $0.13 per diluted share). For 2G08¢ck based compensation was $5.8
million pre-tax ($3.7 million after tax, or $0.1®pdiluted share).

The following table summarizes stock-based comp@rsm accordance with authoritative guidance loare based payment awards for
the years ended May 31, 2011, May 31, 2010 and 34ap009, which was allocated as follows:

May 31, 201 May 31, 201( May 31, 200¢
(In thousands)

Cost of sale: $ 227 $ 465 $ 582

Research and developmt 702 80¢ 79€

Sales and marketir 1,43¢ 1,82¢ 1,601

General and administrati\ 2,22¢ 1,81: 2,812
Stock based compensation expense included in

operating expenst 4,37( 4,44¢ 5,20¢

Total stock based compensat 4,59 4,91z 5,791

Tax benefit 1,67 1,78¢ 2,12¢

Stock based compensation expense, net c $ 2,92 $ 3,12« $ 3,662
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NOTE P—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

We are committed under non-cancelable operatirgeketor facilities and equipment. During fiscal 202010 and 2009, aggregate
rental costs under all operating leases were appedgly $3,074,000, $2,583,000 and $2,367,000 getsely. Future annual payments under
non-cancelable operating leases in the aggregate, ichvame includes an escalation clause, with inigahaining terms of more than one y
at May 31, 2011, are summarized as follows (in samals):

2012 $1,63¢
2013 1,44¢
2014 1,07¢
2015 931
2016 + 4,52¢

$9,614

Litigation Matters
AngioDynamics v. Vascular Solutions

On July 29, 2009, we filed a complaint in the Udit&tates District Court for the District of Delawaxgainst Vascular Solutions, Inc.
(NASDAQ: VASC). The complaint alleged that Vasculalutions’ Vari-Lase Bright-Tip fiber product linefringed on claims of two of our
patents, US 7,273,478 and US 7,559,329. Thesetpatdate to methods of treating varicose veinsgishdovenous laser
treatments. Vascular Solutions filed with the WP&tent & Trademark Offices, or PTO, requests ftaripartes reexamination of the ‘478 and
‘329 patents. The PTO initiated reexamination esthpatents. Vascular Solutions denied the altegatf infringement and counterclaimed
for a declaratory judgment that it does not infanthat the patents are invalid and that the panet unenforceable as a result of alleged
inequitable conduct. The case was transferredet@tiited States District Court for the DistrictMinnesota. On December 21, 2010 the
parties entered into a confidential settlementegent and filed with the Court a stipulation fotrgrof consent judgment pursuant to which
Vascular Solutions has agreed that the assertedsct# the ‘478 and ‘329 patents are valid and sergable. We granted Vascular Solutions a
non-exclusive, royalty bearing license under th&‘4nd 329 patents. The parties have filed with the PT&Dipulated motion to terminate t
inter partesreexamination proceedings which has been grantedebip TO.

AngioDynamics v. biolitec

On January 2, 2008, we commenced an action in tited)States District Court for the Northern Disttrof New York entitled
AngioDynamics, Inc. v. biolitec, Incln this action, we are seeking judgment agaifgditeéc for defense and indemnification in two laits
which have been settled by us. Our claims aris@batSupply and Distribution Agreement (“SDA”) ergd into between us and biolitec on
April 1, 2002. Biolitec has filed counter-claimsadgst us in this action, seeking reimbursemenppfaximately $1.6 million in alleged past
defense costs paid by biolitec in one of the sttleses. In October 2009, we commenced an actithe ibnited States District Court for the
District of Massachusetts entitied AngioDynamics. lv. biolitec AG and Wolfgang Neubergerhe Complaint in this action was amende
March 2010. This action seeks to recover agaimitéd, Inc.’s parent entities and CEO for tortilyusterfering with biolitec, Inc.’s
contractual obligation to
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defend and indemnify us, and also seeks to pi&eedrporate veil of biolitec, Inc. and to invaliel@ertain alleged fraudulent transfers in
order to hold biolitec, Inc.’s parent entities jiynand severally liable for the alleged breacthaf SDA.

We will continue to vigorously enforce our rightsder the supply agreement with biolitec. Howevethie event it is ultimately
determined that the claims asserted in the Dionsédraand the VNUS action are not within biolite@islemnification obligations under the
biolitec supply agreement, we may be required itolvarse biolitec for the costs and expenses ofrdiifig) the Diomed action.

We are party to other legal actions that ariséédrdinary course of business. We believe thatiahility resulting from any currently
pending litigation will not, individually or in thaggregate, have a material adverse effect onwminéss or financial condition, results of
operations or cash flow.

Future Purchase Obligations

On October 17, 2005, we entered into a Supply asttibution Rights Agreement (the “Agreement”) wBliioniche Pharma Group
Limited (“Bioniche”). We were appointed the exchssidistributor in the Field, as defined in the Agreent, in the United States of Bioniche’
sodium tetradecyl sulfate product in concentratioins% and 3%, brand name “Sotradecol™” (“Producsdtradecol is indicated in the
treatment of small uncomplicated varicose veintheflower extremities that show simple dilationmdiompetent valves. The Agreement was
amended and restated during fiscal 2010 and expirdsine 30, 2012. Future obligations under theaagent are as follows:

* We agreed to purchase a minimum of 120,000 uniBrodluct for fiscal year 2012 and 10,000 unitsrafdRct for fiscal year 2013
when the contract expires (June 30, 2012). We mneporchase commitment for the year ended Jun2@(d,. Failure to
make certain minimum annual purchases in any tvng@coutive contract years, unless cured as provwidée Agreement, may
result in a loss of exclusive rights under the Agnent.

We have also entered into other commitments faréuminimum inventory purchases related to sevead products. Total future
purchase obligations for fiscal years ending MayBd as follows: $6.1 million in 2012, $2.8 milliaom2013 and $3.2 million in 2014.

NOTE Q—SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Segment informatior

Prior to fiscal 2011, we reported our results ofm@pions as three reportable segments: Periphasdar, Access and
Oncology/Surgery. At the beginning of fiscal 20t combined our Peripheral Vascular and Accessrtaiple segments into a single
reportable segment that was named the VasculaialiviThe Vascular segment is responsible for prtsdiargeting the venous intervention,
dialysis access, thrombus management and periptiseglse markets and has dedicated research agldgieent and sales and marketing
personnel assigned to it. The Oncology /Surgerynseg continues to be responsible for RF Ablationbelization, Habib and NanoKnife
product lines and has dedicated research and geweltt and sales and marketing personnel assigried to
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Selected information by reportable segment is prteskin the following tables (in thousands):

As a Percentage of Net Sales

Year Ended Year Ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Net sales
Vascular $149,52: $159,15: $150,26¢
Oncology/Surgen 66,22¢ 56,88 44,78¢
Total $215,75( $216,03! $195,05-
Gross profit
Vascular $ 82,37( $ 90,67¢ $ 89,13¢ 55.1% 57.(% 59.2%
Oncology/Surgen 43,33: 36,29 30,92¢ 65.4% 63.6% 69.1%
Total $125,70: $126,96¢ $120,06! 58.2% 58.£% 61.€%
Operating income(expens
Vascular $ 8,04¢ $ 20,59: $ 20,86¢ 5.4% 12.9% 13.9%
Oncology/Surgen 3,91¢ 27¢ (4,769 5.8% 0.5% (10.€%)
Total $ 11,96: $ 20,87 $ 16,10¢ 5.5% 9.7% 8.2%
Total asset
Vascular $294,41° $281,60: $263,42!
Oncology/Surgen 143,00« 142,32: 145,27¢
Total $437,42: $423,92! $408,70:

In accordance with authoritative guidance on dsates about segments, the internal organizatidrighesed by management for
making operating decisions and assessing perforenangsed as the source of our reportable segn@uatxhief operating decision maker
evaluates performance based on the reportable segjaned utilizes net sales, gross profit and opgrancome as primary profitability
measures. The expenses related to certain shadezbgrorate activities are allocated to these setgran a percentage of total sales basis or
operating expense basis as deemed appropriate.

Geographic information
Total sales for geographic areas are summarizexhvi@ thousands):

Year ended
May 31, May 31, May 31,
2011 2010 2009
Net Sales by Geograpl
United State: $188,87¢ $192,93! $173,40¢
International 26,87 23,10: 21,64¢
Total $215,75( $216,03! $195,05-

We market our products internationally throughracti sales force and independent distributors.ifiteenational distributors may also
distribute competitive products under certain ainstances. The international distributors also playmportant role in our clinical testing
outside of the United States. The loss of any
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international distributor would not have a mateadlerse effect on our business if a new distrihs@les representative or other suitable :
organization could not be found on a timely bass. fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, Internatisalds as a percentage of total net sales

were 12%, 11% and 11% respectively. Sales to amycountry outside the U.S., as determined by shipihestination, did not comprise a
material portion of our net sales in any of the theee fiscal years.

NOTE R—QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)
Quarterly results of operations during 2011 andd2&k as follows:

2011
First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter guarter guarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $51,507 $53,37: $54,64¢ $56,22:
Gross profit 30,02( 31,53¢ 31,72: 32,42¢
Net income (loss 1,88¢ 3,27¢ 3,811 (8617)
Earnings per common she
Basic 0.0¢ 0.1< 0.1t (0.03)
Diluted 0.0¢ 0.1< 0.1t (0.09)
2010
First Second Third Fourth
quarter quarter guarter guarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $50,09: $53,45¢ $52,201 $60,27"
Gross profit 30,13: 31,60" 30,27: 34,957
Net income 2,111 3,12¢ 3,33: 3,73¢
Earnings per common she

Basic 0.0¢ 0.1< 0.14 0.1t
Diluted 0.0¢ 0.1< 0.1< 0.1t

The data in the schedules above has been inteltyiooanded to the nearest thousand and therehagtarterly amounts may not sum
to the fiscal year to date amounts.

The fourth quarter results for fiscal 2011 includiedother non-recurring items, $6.4 million in iaipnent charges related to our
decision to not continue development of the Medrigitport technology and the write down of Centpospaid royalties due to lower than
anticipated sales.

Income tax expense recorded in the fourth quaftBseal 2011 includes an out-of-period benefitsd00,000 to correct an error that
originated in prior years related to certain statecredits. We assessed the impact of this adgrgton the current year and all prior periods
and determined that the cumulative effect of thesithents was not material to the full year 203suls and did not result in a material
misstatement to any previously issued annual orteg financial statements.
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AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiaries

SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D
Additions
Balance a Charged tc
Charged to
Beginning Other Deductions-
o costs and Accounts-

Description of Period expenses describe describe
Year Ended May 31, 200¢
Allowance for inventory obsolescen $ 3,69« $ 25% $ — $ (873 (b)
Allowance for deferred tax ass 1,15¢ 17 — —
Allowance for doubtful accoun 683 167 — (24¢) @
Totals $ 5,531 $ 437 $ — $ (1,12)
Year Ended May 31, 2010
Allowance for inventory obsolescen $ 3,07« $ 93C $ — $ (1,809 (b)
Allowance for deferred tax ass 1,171 25 — (34
Allowance for sales returns and doubtful accol 602 1,35¢ — (1,399¢) (c)
Totals $ 4,847 $ 2,30¢ $ — $ (3,235
Year Ended May 31, 2011
Allowance for inventory obsolescen $ 2,201 $ 79¢ $ — $ (879 (b)
Allowance for deferred tax ass 1,162 27 — (55)
Allowance for sales returns and doubtful accol 55¢ 4,202 — (4,275 (c)
Totals $ 3,921 $ 5,02% $ — $ (5,209

(a) Previously reserved accounts written off as unctliée.
(b) Writeoffs of obsolete or expired invento
(c) Previously reserved sales returns and allowanagsi@rounts receivable written off as uncollecti
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

ANGIODYNAMICS, INC.

Date: August 12, 201: By: s/ VINCENT B uccl
Vincent Bucci,
Chairman of the Board, Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Date: August 12, 201 /sl VINCENTB uccl
Vincent Bucci,
Chairman of the Board, Director

Date: August 12, 201 /s| ScoTTJ. SOLANO
Scott J. Solano,
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 12, 201 /sl D. JOSEPHG ERSUK
D. Joseph Gersuk,
Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer (Principal Financial and Chief Accounting Officer)

Date: August 12, 201 /sl WEsLEYE. JOHNSON, JR.

Wesley E. Johnson, Jr.,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /sl HowaRDW. D ONNELLY

Howard W. Donnelly,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /s/ JEFFREYG. GoLD
Jeffrey G. Gold,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /s/ DENNISS. METENY

Dennis S. Meteny,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /s STEVEL A PORTE
Steve LaPorte,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /s/  CHARLES O RSATI
Charles Orsati,
Director

Date: August 12, 201 /sl KEvIN G ouLD
Kevin Gould,
Director
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Exhibit 10.27

ANGIODYNAMICS'

FY2011 Sr. Executive Incentive Compensation Program

PURPOSE
AngioDynamics is committed to providing competitic@sh compensation and benefit programs to alldefeemployees. For those in
leadership positions, a performance-based Sr. ExecQash Incentive Compensation Program (SEICP)asided in addition to competitive
base salaries. Under the SEICP, AngioDynamics payiacentive annually based on the achievementiplozate and individual financial
objectives as well as non-financial objectivesdome participants.
Objectives for the SEICP at AngioDynamics include:

» Build a strong relationship between incentive pagt eompany performant

» Align leadership behavior and results to goals thiate organization succe

» Attract, reward and retain leadership talent, whikeouraging a sense “entitlemen”

« Offer “upsid¢’ reward potential when AngioDynam’ targeted results are exceec

» Inspire investor confidence by ensuring that payegoeance processes are measured, transparenigmetalvith AngioDynamics
financial succes

ELIGIBILITY

Only members of the AngioDynamics Global Leaderdiéam are eligible to participate in the SEICPtiBigiation in the SEICP must be
approved by the CEO and the Compensation Comnuftthee Board of Directors.

TARGET INCENTIVE LEVELS

The target cash incentive bonus will typically begeted to the following schedule, while considgr@nperson’s job title, overall scope of
responsibility, and current compensation package.

Title/Position Standard Incentive Levels
President/CEC( 80% of base salai
Executive Vice President/CF 60% of base salal
Sr. Vice President/GN) 55% of base salal
Sr. Vice President/GM International, C1 45% of base salal
Sr. Vice Preside’s NBD, Ops 40% of base salai
Vice President QA/RA/CI 30% of base salal

These target incentives levels are reviewed annbglthe Compensation Committee and changes aerggneffective June 1, the beginn
of the fiscal year. Any change to a participantt®t annual SEICP target requires the approvah@QEQO and the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors.

PROGRAM COMPONENTS

This is an annuahcentive compensation program, such that any atsaarned under the program are paid following detigm of the
annual financial audit of the Corporation and ugmnapproval of the Compensation Committee or thar® of Directors, as may be requir




There are two components to the AngioDynamics SHifogram:

Corporate Financial Objectives

80% of the participant’s total target incentimegportunity is based on the achievement of thelTadanpany Sales and Operating Income
Targets or, in the case of executives with prinragponsibility for a Division or Segment, the asieiment of the Divisional or Segment Sales
and Operating Income Targets. (The Financial Objes}. Each Financial Objective represents one{oalfi0%) of the target incentive

opportunity.

Payouts for the achievement of the Financial Objestare governed by the following:

1. Noincentive for either Financial Objective is eadrunless at least 93% of the Total Company Opey&ticome Target has be
achieved

2. Upon the achievement of 95% of the Net Sales Taigetntive is earned and the payout is 50% ofrtbentive opportunity. Upc
the achievement of 93% of the Operating Income &taigcentive is earned and the payout is 50% @irtbentive opportunity

The payout is prorated such that at 100% achieveofahe Financial Objective, the payout is 100%haf incentive opportunit
For achievement of the Net Sales Target above 1€@84ayout is prorated such that 150% is paid &% achievemen
For achievement of the Operating Income Target ald®0%, the payout is prorated such that 150%iésfpa120% achievemer

o o M w

The maximum possible payout for the achievernéatFinancial Objective (Sales or Operating Incpimd 50% of the incentive
opportunity.

The Financial Objectives (Sales and Operating Irediargets) on which incentive compensation is daterd are those approved by the
Board of Directors in the Company’s Annual Businetmning Process. Possible exceptions can beegtéigtthe Compensation Committee
at any point during the fiscal year. Exceptions bamecommended by the CEO as well as the Compemsadmmittee. The approved fiscal
2011 Financial Objectives for AngioDynamics anddtS. and International Divisions are shown indttached schedules.

Individual Objective:

Also known as MBO’s (Management by Objectives)s tomponent will constitute the remaining 20% &f #mployees’ totahrget incentivt
each year. The MBO segment of the incentive wilthkeulated and any earned payment is made follpie completion of fiscal year-end
audit.

1) Each SEICP participant shall complete the appaitggMBO form, incorporating the appropriate gaoatsl objectives such that the
weight of all objectives totals 100%. The guidelis¢o have a total of 3-4 MBO’s. Certain MBO’s das shared between all leadership
team member:



When developing objectives, the following critemast be followed:

All objectives need to have the following elements:
Specific | Measurable | Actionable | Relevant |&'bound

Well-formulated objectives should:
e be supportive of overall company go
» benefit the company and stakeholc
» include target dates for beginning and comple
* be within the individué s ability achieve/influenc

Overachievement of MBQO's is generally not possibldess a specific metric for over-/under achievenhas been approved by the
Compensation Committee.

MBO's should be reviewed and approved by the CH@ TEO’s MBQO'’s are approved by the chairman of@bepensation Committee and
the chairman of the Board of Directors. The MBOnfsrare administered by the HR department.

At the end of the fiscal year, each participamegponsible for summarizing in specific, measuegths the completion status of each obje:
on the MBO form. This form will be reviewed and apyped during the annual performance review of thigipant. All final forms must be
approved by and then forwarded to HR.

Payment for any earned MBO incentive will occutte end of the fiscal year, after completion offinancial audit, and the release of our
results to the general public and upon the approfie Compensation Committee.

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

This plan is not intended and shall not be consttoecreate or imply a guarantee of employmenafor specified period of time. Nothing in
this Plan should modify, limit or restrict the stiand terms and conditions governing the employmalationship between AngioDynamics
and the Plan Participant.

The administration of the Plan and the respongjtfitir carrying out and interpreting its provisiosizall be the responsibility of the Human
Resources management. In the case of disputesinegainis Plan or the interpretation of this Pldng decisions of the VP—Human
Resources and CEO will be final.

AngioDynamics, at its sole discretion, retainstight to amend the Plan in whole or in part at ame. Amendments must be stated in wri
and are binding. Normally, amendments are interiddx prospective in nature; however, AngioDynamiserves the right to make
retroactive changes.

The following criteria will apply to participatioand payments:
1. Participation in the plan commences on the fistdl quarter following hire dat

2.  Employees who change roles within the periodtmasse non-financial objectives and obtain appeip approvals within 30
days of the change in position or responsibilit

3. During an approved leave of absence the SEICP maydrated



4. If a participant dies or becomes totally disdlfl@s defined in the Company’s disability Plang Harticipant will be eligible to
receive a pro-rated payment for the non-finanaiaitipn based on the individual’'s accomplishmendfahe termination or
disability date

5. Employees must be in good standing (as defigatido AngioDynamics employee handbook) for therentear for which the
incentive is being paid. Receipt of a written wajia performance plan of action, or other disoguly action may nullify an
employee’ incentive opportunity

6. To be eligible for payment of any incentive eatunder this program, employees must be considéitive” at the time the
incentive payment is actually made and not havigmes or given notice of resignation prior to tlayment date

7. Inthe event of a restatement of the Comparngantial results for any year in the 3 prior fisgahrs following the payment of
incentive compensation, the Company reserves @i 1o claim back from the Participant any inceatbompensation paid for
Financial Objectives that would otherwise not hagen earned as a result of the restated finaresalts.

After the completion of a fiscal year the compeimsatommittee will meet and approve the actual pajevels of the executive cash bonus.
This will only be after closing of the financial iks of the company, as well as after completiothefannual performance appraisal for
individual executives as performed by the CEO. TE® will recommend an actual individual payout lthse attainment of financial
objectives as well as individual MBO's.



Exhibit 10.28

ANGIODYNAMICS

FY11 ANGIODYNAMICS SENIOR EXECUTIVE EQUITY INCENTIV E PROGRAM

1. Introduction

Broad-based employee stock ownership, combinedaniteffective communications program that is desilgio create an employee
ownership culture, can be a very dynamic tool fioprioving employee productivity, morale, and alignincentives with shareholder interest
and thereby increasing profitability and shareholaggue. Specifically, the purpose of the AngioDgmies Senior Executive Equity Incentive
Program (SEEIP) is to:

« Attract, motivate and retain hi-performing senior executive
» Encourage lor-term commitment to AngioDynamit

» Retain key talent in a competitive labor mat

* Motivate employees through financial rewa

» Align employees with shareholder inter

AngioDynamics uses a combination of Stock Optiamd Restricted Share Units (RSU’s) to achieve tlyesds.

2. RSU and Option Grant Eligibility

Only members of the AngioDynamics Global Leader§iépam (GLT) are eligible to participate in the SEEs described in this document.
Participation in the SEEIP must be approved byGE©® and the Compensation Committee of the Boamirefctors. Participants must have
commenced employment with AngioDynamics at leasiodiths prior to the end of the previous fiscal yedve eligible. Grants for those
individuals who have less than a full year of seewivill be prorated.

To be eligible for a Restricted Stock grant an ekige must:

* Have their most recent performance evaluation atdien overall performance rating of meeting oeexiing expectations or in
exceptional cases if the rating was “needs devedmprhBoth individual and overall business unitfpemance will be considered
in the development of the recommendatior

* Be considered a high potential employee or holdirgitical positior

3. Recommendations for RSU and Stock Option Grants

The Compensation Committee will be responsibledfiermining the RSU and Option grant size for tB#®CThe CEO will make
recommendations for RSU and Option grants for eaember of the GLT and the Compensation Committdeeview and approve these
grants.
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4. Stock Options

Stock Options granted under the SEEIP will be nafitjed stock options, granted with an exercise@iat the market value of
AngioDynamics Common Stock on the date of granigte?7 year term, and vest in equal parts oveyea# period at the rate of 25% per
beginning on the first anniversary date followihg tlate of grant. Stock Options are granted unaigaverned by to the terms of the 2004
Stock And Incentive Award Plan (As Amended).

5. Restricted Stock Units

Restricted Stock Units (RSU’s) granted under th&IBEentitle the recipient to receive shares of camistock on a time-based vesting
schedule subject to continued employment, suchttiegtvest over 4 years at a rate of 25% per yeginbing on the first anniversary date
following the grant. RSU'’s are granted under andegoed by to the terms of the 2004 Stock And Ingermward Plan (As Amended).

6. Establishing the RSU and Option Pool Size

The RSU pool size available each year will be reb@mded by the CEO and approved by the Compendatommittee of the Board of
Directors at the end of every fiscal year.

The initial pool size for the fiscal year will bstablished using the sum of the midpoint recommegmias for the eligible executives. Based on
the most recent fiscal year performance, that nummay be adjusted up or down to reflect under @rashievement of key financial metric
(s). The core metric, but not necessarily the amlg, will be Operational EPS versus business [ieits recommendation for the pool size
management will outline any variance between opmrak and reported EPS for consideration of the @emsation Committee.

In the case of the underachievement of the keyéizh metric(s), the overall pool size may be resdtlby up to 25%. In the case of the
overachievement of key financial metric(s), therallgpool size may be increased by up to 25%. @dawte the +/- 25% is only a guideline.
The Compensation Committee and/or Board can defriate the range if extraordinary performance (pesibr negative) warrants such
action).

Fiscal Year Performance Metric Attainment Range of Pool Siz
Underachievement 80%- 95% 75%- 100%
Achievemen 95%- 105% 100%

Overachievemer 105% + 100%- 125%

Every year before the end of a fiscal year the Gamsption Committee will review the size of the gégpbol based on benchmarking of peer
group companies and actual movement in share @iter factors weighing in on this determinatioa #ire number of equity units available
under our various equity plans as well as the gduitn rate as calculated and recommended by tsleManagement Group (RMG)
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7. Annual Option and RSU Grant Guidelines

Using the data provided in the table below, the @#IDmake a recommendation for grants for eachviiddial member of the GLT. The
Compensation Committee will review and approveitigévidual grants.

In making these recommendations the total size@pbol, calculated as the sum of all options aBJR at mid-point, adjusted for the pool-
size adjustment as described in section 6, willh@oéxceeded.

The Compensation Committee will also be responddrleletermining the options grant size for the CEO

Option Grant Ranges:

Title/Position Low Mid High
President / CEO —

Executive Vice President / CF 12,50( 25,00( 37,50(
Senior Vice President / Gl 10,00( 20,00( 30,00(
Senior Vice President / CT 7,50( 15,00( 22,50(
Senior VFs NBD, Int., Ops 6,00( 12,00( 18,00(
Vice President QA/RC/CR 3,25( 6,50( 9,75(

RSU Grant Ranges:

Title/Position Low Mid High
President / CEO —

Executive Vice President / CF 5,00( 10,00( 15,00(
Senior Vice President / Gl 5,00( 10,00( 15,00(
Senior Vice President / CT 4,00( 8,00( 12,00¢(
Senior VFs NBD, Int., Ops 3,00( 6,00( 9,00(
Vice President QA/RC/CI 2,50( 5,00( 7,50(

8. Plan Administration

This program is not intended and shall not be caestto create or imply a guarantee of employmanafiy specified period of time. Nothi
in this Program should modify, limit or restricetktandard terms and conditions governing the gmpdat relationship between
AngioDynamics and the Program Participant.

This program is governed by the Compensation Cotamif the Board of Directors. All modificationsttos program must be approved
proactively by the Committee. The Committee hasstile discretion as to the terms and conditiorth@fprogram.
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The administration of the Program and the respditgifor carrying out its provisions shall be thesponsibility of the CEO, CFO, and VP—
Human Resources. In the case of disputes regatigim@rogram or the interpretation of this Progréme, decisions of the VP—Human
Resources, CFO and CEO will be final.

AngioDynamics, at its sole discretion, retainstiigat to amend the Program in whole or in partrgt tme. Amendments must be stated in
writing and are binding. Normally, amendments atended to be prospective in nature; however, Abgiamics reserves the right to make
retroactive changes.
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Exhibit 10.29

ANGIODYNAMICS | . |
FY12 Sr. Executive Cash Incentive Compsation Program

PURPOSE
AngioDynamics is committed to providing competitik@sh compensation and benefit programs to alldefeemployees. For those in
leadership positions, a performance-based Sr. ExecQash Incentive Compensation Program (SEICP)asided in addition to competitive
base salaries. Under the SEICP, AngioDynamics payiacentive annually based on the achievementmpfocate and individual financial
objectives as well as non-financial objectivessfome participants.
Objectives for the SEICP at AngioDynamics include:

» Build a strong relationship between incentive pagt eompany performant

» Align leadership behavior and results to goals thiate organization succe

» Attract, reward and retain leadership talent, whikecouraging a sense “entitlemen”

» Offer “upsid¢’ reward potential when AngioDynam’ targeted results are exceec

» Inspire investor confidence by ensuring that payegoeance processes are measured, transparenigmetalvith AngioDynamics
financial succes

ELIGIBILITY

Only members of the AngioDynamics Senior Execulieam are eligible to participate in the SEICP. iigdtion in the SEICP must be
approved by the CEO and the Compensation Comnuftdee Board of Directors.

TARGET INCENTIVE LEVELS

The target cash incentive bonus will typically begeted to the following schedule, while considgr@nperson’s job title, overall scope of
responsibility, and current compensation package.

Title/Position Standard Incentive Levels
President/CEC(

Executive Vice President/CF 60% of base salal
Sr. Vice President/GN 55% of base salai
Sr. Vice President/GM International, C1 55% of base salai
Sr. Vice Preside’s NBD, Ops 40% of base salal

These target incentives levels are reviewed annbglthe Compensation Committee and changes aerggneffective June 1, the beginn
of the fiscal year. Any change to a participantt®t annual SEICP target requires the approvah@QEO and the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Director:



PROGRAM COMPONENTS

This is an annuahcentive compensation program, such that any atsaarned under the program are paid following detigm of the
annual financial audit of the Corporation and ugmnapproval of the Compensation Committee or thar@& of Directors, as may be requir

There are two components to the AngioDynamics SHifoigram:

Corporate Financial Objectives

80% of the participant’s total target incentiwgportunity is based on the achievement of thelT&anpany Sales and Operating Income
Targets or, in the case of executives with prinragponsibility for a Division or Segment, the asieiment of the Divisional or Segment Sales
and Operating Income Targets. (The Financial Objes}. Each Financial Objective represents one{oalfi0%) of the target incentive
opportunity.

CEO target incentive opportunity to be determingeimployment agreement.

Payouts for the achievement of the Financial Ohjestare governed by the following:

1. No incentive for either Financial Objective is ezgrunless at least 90% (for US participants) or &@¥OUS participants) of th
Total Company Operating Income Target has beereaedi

2. Upon the achievement of 95% (US) / (90 %(OUShefNet Sales Target, incentive is earned angdlieut is 50% of the
incentive opportunity. Upon the achievement of 9W8) / 80% (OUS) of the Operating Income Targeteirtive is earned and
the payout is 50% of the incentive opportun

3. The payout is prorated such that at 100% achieveoféhe Financial Objective, the payout is 100%haf incentive opportunity
For achievement of the Net Sales Target above 10@8ayout is prorated such that 150% is paid @&% achievemen

5.  For achievement of the Operating Income Targeva 100%, the payout is prorated such that 1508&itsfor 120% (US) / 120%
(OUS) achievemen

6. The maximum possible payout for the achievernéatFinancial Objective (Sales or Operating Incpime.50% of the incentive
opportunity.
*See the attached matrix for a more detailed oattihpotential payouts.

The Financial Objectives (Sales and Operating Irediargets) on which incentive compensation is daterd are those approved by the
Board of Directors in the Company’s Annual Busineimning Process. Possible exceptions can beegtéigtthe Compensation Committee
at any point during the fiscal year. Exceptions banecommended by the CEO as well as the Compensadmmittee. The approved fiscal
2012 Financial Objectives for AngioDynamics andutS. and International Divisions are shown indttached schedules.

Individual Objective:

Also known as MBQO’s (Management by Objectives)s tomponent will constitute the remaining 20% @& émployees’ totghrget incentiv
each year. The MBO segment of the incentive wilthkeulated and any earned payment is made follpivie completion of fiscal year-end
audit.



1) Each SEICP participant shall complete the appaitggMBO form, incorporating the appropriate gaoatel objectives such that the
weight of all objectives totals 100%. The guidelis¢o have a total of 3-4 MBO’s. Certain MBO’s das shared between all leadership
team members.

When developing objectives, the following critemast be followed:

All objectives need to have the following elements:
Specific | Measurable | Actionable | Relevant |€lbound

Well-formulated objectives should:
e be supportive of overall company go
» benefit the company and stakeholc
» include target dates for beginning and comple
* be within the individué s ability achieve/influenc

Overachievement of MBQO's is generally not possibldess a specific metric for over-/under achievenhas been approved by the
Compensation Committee.

MBO's should be reviewed and approved by the CH@ TEO’s MBQO'’s are approved by the chairman of@bepensation Committee and
the chairman of the Board of Directors. The MBOnfsrare administered by the HR department.

At the end of the fiscal year, each participameiponsible for summarizing in specific, measuegths the completion status of each obje:
on the MBO form. This form will be reviewed and apyed during the annual performance review of taigipant. All final forms must be
approved by and then forwarded to HR.

Payment for any earned MBO incentive will occuttet end of the fiscal year, after completion offinancial audit, and the release of our
results to the general public and upon the approfie Compensation Committee.

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

This plan is not intended and shall not be consttoecreate or imply a guarantee of employmenafor specified period of time. Nothing in
this Plan should modify, limit or restrict the stiand terms and conditions governing the employmalationship between AngioDynamics
and the Plan Participant.

The administration of the Plan and the respongjtfitir carrying out and interpreting its provisiosizall be the responsibility of the Human
Resources management. In the case of disputesinegainis Plan or the interpretation of this Pldng decisions of the VP—Human
Resources and CEO will be final.

AngioDynamics, at its sole discretion, retainstight to amend the Plan in whole or in part at ime. Amendments must be stated in wri
and are binding. Normally, amendments are interiddx prospective in nature; however, AngioDynamiserves the right to make
retroactive change



The following criteria will apply to participatioand payments:

1.
2.

Participation in the plan commences on the fistdl quarter following hire date and subject tc-ration.

Employees who change roles within the periodtmaisse non-financial objectives and obtain appeip approvals within 30
days of the change in position or responsibilit

During an approved leave of absence the SEICP maydrated

If a participant dies or becomes totally disdl{les defined in the Company’s disability Plang Earticipant will be eligible to
receive a pro-rated payment for the non-finanootipn based on the individual’'s accomplishmendfathe termination or
disability date

Employees must be in good standing (as defigatido AngioDynamics employee handbook) for therentear for which the
incentive is being paid. Receipt of a written wampia performance plan of action, or other disogoly action may nullify an
employee’ incentive opportunity

To be eligible for payment of any incentive eatrunder this program, employees must be consid@tle” at the time the
incentive payment is actually made and not havigmes or given notice of resignation prior to tlayment date

In the event of a restatement of the Comparigantial results for any year in the 3 prior fisgahrs following the payment of
incentive compensation, the Company reserves g 10 claim back from the Participant any inceattompensation paid for
Financial Objectives that would otherwise not hagen earned as a result of the restated finaresalts.

After the completion of a fiscal year the compeimsatommittee will meet and approve the actual payevels of the executive cash bonus.
This will only be after closing of the financial dks of the company, as well as after completiothefannual performance appraisal for
individual executives as performed by the CEO. TE® will recommend an actual individual payout liage attainment of financial
objectives as well as individual MBO's.
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ANGIODYNAMICS

FY12 SR. EXECUTIVE EQUITY INCENTIVE PROGRAM

1. Introduction

Broad-based employee stock ownership, combinedaniteffective communications program that is desigio create an employee
ownership culture, can be a very dynamic tool faprioving employee productivity, morale, and alignincentives with shareholder interest
and thereby increasing profitability and shareholdgue. Specifically, the purpose of the AngioDymies Senior Executive Equity Incentive
Program (SEEIP) is to:

» Attract, motivate and retain hi-performing senior executive
» Encourage lor-term commitment to AngioDynamit

» Retain key talent in a competitive labor mat

* Motivate employees through financial rewa

» Align employees with shareholder inter

AngioDynamics uses a combination of Stock Optiams$ Restricted Share Units (RS) to achieve these goals.

2. RSU and Option Grant Eligibility

Only members of the AngioDynamics Global Sr. Exaeuteam are eligible to participate in the SEE$RIascribed in this document.
Participation in the SEEIP must be approved byGE® and the Compensation Committee of the Boamirefctors. Participants must have
commenced employment with AngioDynamics at leastoBiths prior to the end of the previous fiscal ytedve eligible. Grants for those
individuals who have less than a full year of seewvill be prorated.

To be eligible for a Restricted Stock grant an exige must:

* Have their most recent performance evaluation atdien overall performance rating of meeting oeexiing expectations or in
exceptional cases if the rating was “needs devedmprhBoth individual and overall business unitfpemance will be considered
in the development of the recommendatior

* Be considered a high potential employee or holdimgitical positior

3. Recommendations for RSU and Stock Option Grants

The Compensation Committee will be responsibledfstiermining the RSU and Option grant size for tB®CThe CEO will make
recommendations for RSU and Option grants for eaember of the GLT and the Compensation Committdeeview and approve these
grants.

4. Stock Options

Stock Options granted under the SEEIP will be nafitjed stock options, granted with an exercise@iat the market value of
AngioDynamics Common Stock on the date of granigtea?7 year term, and vest in equal parts oveyea# period at the rate of 25% per
beginning on the first anniversary date followihg tlate of grant. Stock Options are granted unagigaverned by to the terms of the 2004
Stock And Incentive Award Plan (As Amende



5. Restricted Stock Units

Restricted Stock Units (RSU’s) granted under th&IBEentitle the recipient to receive shares of camistock on a time-based vesting
schedule subject to continued employment, suchtliegtvest over 4 years at a rate of 25% per yeginning on the first anniversary date
following the grant. RSU’s are granted under andegoed by to the terms of the 2004 Stock And Ingemward Plan (As Amended).

6. Establishing the RSU and Option Pool Size

The RSU pool size available each year will be reb@mded by the CEO and approved by the Compendatommittee of the Board of
Directors at the end of every fiscal year.

The initial pool size for the fiscal year will betablished using the sum of the midpoint recommgmcks for the eligible executives. Based on
the most recent fiscal year performance, that nummay be adjusted up or down to reflect under @rashievement of key financial metric
(s)- The core metric, but not necessarily the amlg, will be Operational EPS versus business [aits recommendation for the pool size
management will outline any variance between ojmrat and reported EPS for consideration of the @amsation Committee.

In the case of the underachievement of the keyéizh metric(s), the overall pool size may be resdtlby up to 25%. In the case of the
overachievement of key financial metric(s), therallgpool size may be increased by up to 25%. @dawte the +/- 25% is only a guideline.
The Compensation Committee and/or Board can defriate the range if extraordinary performance (pesior negative) warrants such
action).

Fiscal Year Performance Metric Attainment Range of Pool Siz(
Underachievemer 80%- 95% 75%- 100%
Achievemen 95%- 105% 100%
Overachievemer 105% + 100%- 125%

Every year before the end of a fiscal year the Gamsption Committee will review the size of the gégpbol based on benchmarking of peer
group companies and actual movement in share @itter factors weighing in on this determinatioa #ire number of equity units available
under our various equity plans as well as the gduitn rate as calculated and recommended by tileManagement Group (RMG)

7. Annual Option and RSU Grant Guidelines

Using the data provided in the table below, the G&EIDmake a recommendation for grants for eachviiddial member of the GLT. The
Compensation Committee will review and approveitigévidual grants.

In making these recommendations the total size@pbol, calculated as the sum of all options aBJR at mid-point, adjusted for the pool-
size adjustment as described in section 6, willh@oéxceeded.

The Compensation Committee will also be respondidsleletermining the options grant size for the C



Option Grant Ranges:

Title/Position Low Mid High
President / CEO —

Executive Vice President / CF 12,50( 25,00¢( 37,50(
Senior Vice President / Gl 10,00( 20,00¢( 30,00(
Senior Vice President / CT 7,50( 15,00( 22,50(
Senior VFs NBD, Int., Ops 6,00( 12,00( 18,00(

RSU Grant Ranges:

Title/Position Low Mid High
President / CEO —

Executive Vice President / CF 5,00( 10,00( 15,00(
Senior Vice President / Gl 5,00( 10,00( 15,00(
Senior Vice President / CT 4,00( 8,00( 12,00¢(
Senior VFs NBD, Int., Ops 3,00( 6,00( 9,00(

8. Plan Administration

This program is not intended and shall not be coestto create or imply a guarantee of employmenafy specified period of time. Nothi
in this Program should modify, limit or restricetktandard terms and conditions governing the gmpdat relationship between
AngioDynamics and the Program Participant.

This program is governed by the Compensation Cotamif the Board of Directors. All modificationsttos program must be approved
proactively by the Committee. The Committee hasstile discretion as to the terms and conditiorth@fprogram.

The administration of the Program and the respditgifor carrying out its provisions shall be thesponsibility of the CEO, CFO, and VP—
Human Resources. In the case of disputes regatigim@rogram or the interpretation of this Progréme, decisions of the VP—Human
Resources, CFO and CEO will be final.

AngioDynamics, at its sole discretion, retainstight to amend the Program in whole or in partrgt tme. Amendments must be stated in
writing and are binding. Normally, amendments atended to be prospective in nature; however, Abgiamics reserves the right to make
retroactive changes.



Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of AngioDynamics, Inc.

Subsidiary State of Incorporation or Organization
AngioDynamics UK Limitec United Kingdom
AngioDynamics Netherlands B." Netherland

RITA Medical Systems, LL( Delaware

RITA Medical Systems, France, SAF France



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B30057, No. 333-138456, No. 333-
140627, No. 333-161355, No. 333-162844 and No.BBB19) of AngioDynamics, Inc. and Subsidiarieswf report dated August 12, 2011
relating to the financial statements, financiatet@gent schedule and the effectiveness of intearal over financial reporting, which appear
in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Albany, New York
August 12, 2011



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Scott J. Solano, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fldngioDynamics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragiisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the igant’s internal control over financial reportiremd

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 12, 2011 /sl ScoTTJ. SOLANO

Scott J. Solano
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, D. Joseph Gersuk, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fldngioDynamics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragiisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the igant’s internal control over financial reportiremd

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 12, 2011 /sl D. JoSEPHG ERSUK

D. Joseph Gersuk,
Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer ad Treasurer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O TITLE 18,
UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUAT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Scott J. Solano, Chief Executive Officer of ANDYNAMICS, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuattt Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 18%l, to the best of my knowledge:

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the CompamytHe fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 (the “Repdtiily complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78p(ahd

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations
the Company.

Date: August 12, 2011 /sl ScoTTJ. SOLANO

Scott J. Solano,
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O TITLE 18,
UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUAT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, D. Joseph Gersuk, Executive Vice President, fiigancial Officer of ANGIODYNAMICS, Inc. (the “Cmpany”), certify, pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2U1S.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my Kedge:

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the CompamytHe fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 (the “Repdtiily complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78p(ahd

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations
the Company.

Date: August 12, 2011 /sl D. JoSEPHG ERSUK

D. Joseph Gersuk,
Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer ad Treasurer




